
 
 

BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 1777 Broadway 

Tuesday, June 3, 2014 
6 p.m. 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

A. Science Tuesday Presentation: Professor Molnar, recipient of the Crafoord Prize, 
“The Rockies: How and when they formed and why they are not like other 
mountain ranges” 

 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) Public may 

address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in the meeting (this 
includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public hearings have taken place; any 
remaining speakers will be allowed to address council.  All speakers are limited to three minutes. 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 
motion at this time. (Roll call vote required) 

 
A. Consideration of a motion to approve the City Council Meeting Minutes from May 6, 

2014 
 
B. Consideration of a motion to accept the April 22, 2014 study session summary on the 

budget and financial update, and potential ballot issues 
 

C. Consideration of a motion to accept the April 22, 2014 study session summary on a 
University Hill Reinvestment Strategy 
 

D. Consideration of a motion to accept the summary of the April 29, 2014 study session 
on Boulder’s Energy Future 
 

E. Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7968 amending 
Chapter 13-2, “Campaign Financing Disclosure,” B.R.C. 1981, including modifying 
the financial reporting requirements, adding additional reporting requirements for city 
council members, setting forth reporting periods and setting forth related details 

 
F. Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7970 amending 

Chapter 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981, and Chapter 6-16, “Recreational 
Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981, and setting forth related details 

 
G. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7977 vacating 

and authorizing the City Manager to execute two deeds of vacation to vacate an 
emergency access easement and a sidewalk easement in association with an approved site 

Packet Page     1



 
 

review for the Landmark Lofts Phase II multi-family residential development located at 
970 28th St. 

 
Applicant: Kris Gardner, Drexel, Barrell & Co. 
Property Owner: 970 28th Street – Phase II, LLC 
 

H. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only, 
an ordinance designating the building and property at 2104 Bluff St., to be known as the 
Kelso House, as an individual landmark under the city’s Historic Preservation Ordinance 

 
Owner/Applicant: Chad and Kristen Watson 

 
I. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7972 approving 

supplemental appropriations to the 2014 Budget 
 

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene as the 
Central Area General Improvement District (CAGID) Board of Directors 

 
J. Consideration of a resolution amending the 2014 Downtown Commercial District 

Fund (formerly CAGID Fund) Budget 
 

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Central Area General Improvement 
District (CAGID) Board of Directors and convene as the University Hill General 
Improvement District (UHGID) Board of Directors 

 
K. Consideration of a resolution amending the 2014 University Hill Commercial District 

Fund (formerly UHGID) Budget 
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the University Hill General Improvement 
District (UHGID) and convene as the Boulder Municipal Property Authority 

 
L. Consideration of a motion to adopt a resolution amending the 2014 Budget for the 

Boulder Municipal Property Authority 
 

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder Municipal Property Authority 
Board of Directors and reconvene as Boulder City Council 
 

M. Consideration of a motion to authorize the city manager to issue a request for 
proposals to award the remainder of the city’s education excise tax revenue 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN  

Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call- up of an item listed under agenda 
Item 8-A1.   
 
 

Packet Page     2



 
 

 
 

ORDER OF BUSINESS   
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS   
 

A. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7973 amending 
Chapter 5-3, “Offenses Against the Person,” B.R.C. 1981, by adding a new Section 5-
3-15, “Solicitation Limited,” prohibiting solicitation at designated places and setting 
forth related details 
 

B. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7978 to modify 
the allowable number of units and floor area of the BT-2, Transitional Business 
zoning district for Trinity Commons project, located at 2200 Broadway. The project 
is proposed as a mixed-use development on an existing surface parking lot with a new 
fellowship hall for Trinity Lutheran Church; office space for the Trinity Lutheran Church 
and other non-profit organizations; 24 (100 percent) permanently affordable attached 
senior housing units; and partially below grade parking to be shared with other off-site 
users 

 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   
 

A. City Office Space Update 
 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY   
  

None 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

 
A. Potential Call-Ups 

 
None 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.) Public comment on any motions made 

under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters. 
 

11. DEBRIEF (5 Min.) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted. 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 

Packet Page     3



 
 

 
 

This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast at 6 
p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council meeting.  
DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.  Anyone requiring special 
packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded versions may contact the City 
Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday through Friday.  48 hours notification 
prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials IS REQUIRED.  If you need Spanish 
interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, please call (303) 441-1905 at 
least three days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con 
relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 
días antes de la junta. Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at 
the time of sign up and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  
Electronic media must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical 
support is provided by staff. 
 
 
 

Packet Page     4



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

May 6, 2014 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL – 6:00 PM 

 
Mayor Appelbaum called the regular May 6, 2014 City Council meeting to order at 6:02 PM 
in Council Chambers. 

 
Those present were: Mayor Appelbaum and Council Members Cowles, Jones, Karakehian,    
Morzel, Shoemaker, Weaver and Young. Council Member Plass was absent. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel to amend the agenda by the 
addition of item 1E and 6A, both relating to Public Arts. The motion carried 7:0, with 
Council Members Plass and Shoemaker absent. Vote taken at 6:04 PM. 
 
A. DECLARATION: NATIONAL KIDS TO PARKS DAY, MAY 17, 2014 
 
Mayor Appelbaum read the declaration for National Kids to Parks Day. 
 
B. PARKS AND RECREATION CELEBRATES 30 YEARS OF EXCELLENCE IN GYMNASTICS 

PROGRAMMING 
 
Mayor Appelbaum recognized staff that helped make the gymnastics program in Boulder 
successful over the last thirty years. 
 
C. RECOGNITION OF FAIRVIEW HIGH SCHOOL SCIENCE BOWL TEAM 
 
Mayor Appelbaum recognized the Fairview High School Science Bowl Team that placed first 
in the state of Colorado and in the top ten nationally. 
 
D. BRIEFING ON FLOOD RECOVERY STATUS 

 
City Manager Jane Brautigam and Executive Director of Public Works Maureen Rait 
provided a status update and overview of the key objectives for ongoing recovery from the 
September, 2013 flood event. 
 
Planner Chris Meschuk and Director of Public Works for Utilities Jeff Arthur were available 
to answer questions. 

 
E. DISCUSSION OF PUBLIC ART SELECTION PROCESS 
 
City Manager Jane Brautigam gave a brief overview of the selection process for the Yes! art 
project proposed at the main library branch. She also made a recommendation that Council 
support her decision to not sign the contract for the project and allow time for the council and 
Arts Commission to improve the public process around the selection of public art in Boulder. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page     5



 
 

2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE – 6:48 PM 
 

1. Noah Westby – Spoke as a bookstore and café owner impacted by construction on 
Pearl Street between 9th and 11th; he was specifically concerned about the noise. 

 
2. Anna Salim – Spoke as a proponent of the Yes! art project that had been proposed at 

the main library branch. She expressed frustration about the misinformation regarding 
funding that had been included in comments made in the newspaper and other public 
forums. 

 
3. Leslie Glustrom – Gave Council an update regarding Xcel Energy’s residential, 

commercial and industrial rates. 
 
4. Sara-Jane Cohen – Spoke out of concern for the homeless; she offered solutions for 

Council to consider that were also outlined in a letter. 
 
5. Tim Petty – Spoke in opposition to FEMA funds being used to repair Flatiron’s Golf 

Course. 
 
6. Mary Kirk – Spoke in opposition to the occupancy limits in place and supported the 

idea of co-op housing as a solution. 
 
7. Ged Thompson – Spoke in opposition to the occupancy limits in place and supported 

community-based housing, specifically for the elderly. 
 
8. Steve Keenan – Spoke about solutions that the city of Telluride was exploring in 

relation to bear resistant trash containers. 
 
9. John Russell – Spoke about the importance of pedestrians being put first before vehicle 

transportation. 
 
10. Ana Maria Hernando – Spoke as a local artist and proponent of the Yes! art project 

that had been proposed at the library’s main branch. 
 
11. Leigh Collings – Spoke as a proponent of co-op housing and in opposition to the 

occupancy limits that were in place. She spoke to the importance of meeting the 
diverse needs of Boulder’s citizens. 

 
12. Ellen Knapp – Spoke about the importance of affordable housing options for the 

elderly. 
 
13. Neshama Abraham – Spoke about the importance of updating co-op housing 

regulations in Boulder. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page     6



 
 

 
14. Mark Gelband – Spoke about the importance of public art and the conversations that 

controversial art can create. He also spoke in favor of updating occupancy limits and 
encouraged Council to consider all options associated with affordable housing. 

 
15. Todd Stork – Spoke about successful models for cooperative housing and in favor of 

updating the occupancy limits in Boulder. 
 
16. Jesse Kadel – Spoke about a personal experience involving a physical altercation that 

ended in his arrest for a charge involving fighting words. 
 
17. Alana Wilson – Spoke as an advocate for co-op housing and a citizen living in an 

illegal housing co-op in Boulder. She spoke in favor of changing the occupancy limits 
that were in place. 

 
18. Darren O’Connor – Spoke in opposition to changes in panhandling regulations in 

Boulder. 
 
3. CONSENT AGENDA – 7:31 PM 

 
A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

FROM MARCH 18, 2014 
 
As amended by the Council Agenda Committee on May 5, 2014. 
 
B. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

FROM APRIL 1, 2014 
 
As amended by the Council Agenda Committee on May 5, 2014. 
 
C. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

FROM APRIL 16, 2014 
 
D. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY, AN ORDINANCE APPROVING SUPPLEMENTAL 
APPROPRIATIONS TO THE 2014 BUDGET 

 
E. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 5-3, “OFFENSES 
AGAINST THE PERSON,” B.R.C. 1981, BY ADDING A NEW SECTION 5-3-15 
“SOLICITATION LIMITED,” PROHIBITING SOLICITATION AT DESIGNATED PLACES AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 
 

F. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 7967 AMENDING SECTIONS 4-
20-60, “VOICE AND SIGHT CONTROL EVIDENCE TAG FEES,” 6-13-2, “VOICE AND SIGHT 
CONTROL EVIDENCE TAG REQUIRED,” AND 6-13-4, “VOICE AND SIGHT CONTROL 
EVIDENCE TAG REQUIREMENTS;” REPEALING SECTION 6-13-5, “REVOCATION AND 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page     7



 
 

REINSTATEMENT OF VOICE AND SIGHT CONTROL EVIDENCE TAGS UPON VIOLATIONS,” 
AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW SECTION 6-13-5, “TERMS OF VOICE AND SIGHT 
CONTROL EVIDENCE TAG,” B.R.C. 1981; AMENDING SECTION 6-1-16, “DOGS RUNNING 
AT LARGE PROHIBITED,” SECTION 6-1-20, “AGGRESSIVE DOGS PROHIBITED,” AND 
SECTION 8-3-5, “WILDLIFE PROTECTION,” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS 

 
G. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE PURCHASE OF 44 ACRES OF LAND, THE 

MINERAL ESTATE AND 44 SHARES OF LEFT HAND WATER LOCATED AT 7204 N. 45TH 
STREET FROM THE BERMAN BROTHERS FOR $1,375,000 FOR OPEN SPACE AND 
MOUNTAIN PARKS PURPOSES 
 

H. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A 
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT REGARDING A PROPERTY LOCATED AT 3069 BROADWAY 
 

Council Member Morzel moved, seconded by Council Member Young to approve Consent 
Agenda items 3A through 3H with items A and B amended by the Council Agenda 
Committee on May 5, 2014. The motion carried 8:0, with Council Member Plass absent. 
Vote taken at 7:34 PM. 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN – 7:35 PM 

 
No interest was expressed in calling-up item 8A-1.   

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS – 7:35 PM 
 

A. CONTINUATION OF SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT 
ORDINANCE NO. 7968 AMENDING CHAPTER 13-2, “CAMPAIGN FINANCING 
DISCLOSURE,” B.R.C. 1981 INCLUDING MODIFYING THE FINANCIAL REPORTING 
REQUIREMENTS, ADDING ADDITIONAL REPORTING REQUIREMENTS FOR CITY COUNCIL 
MEMBERS, AND SETTING FORTH REPORTING PERIODS AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS 
 

City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item and reviewed changes that had been made as 
directed by Council on April 16, 2014. 
 
No public hearing was held; the public hearing on this item was closed on April 16, 2014. 

 
Council Member Weaver moved, seconded by Council Member Shoemaker, to approve as 
amended Ordinance No. 7968 amending Chapter 13-2, “Campaign Financing Disclosure,” 
B.R.C. 1981 including modifying the financial reporting requirements, adding additional 
reporting requirements for City Council members, and setting forth reporting periods and 
setting forth related. The motion carried 8:0, with Council Member Plass absent. Vote taken 
at 7:47 PM. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page     8



 
 

Mayor Appelbaum noted that the ordinance would have a third reading on the Consent 
Agenda for final adoption. 

 
B. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 7969 

AMENDING TITLE 11, “UTILITIES AND AIRPORT,” B.R.C. 1981, BY THE ADDITION OF A 
NEW CHAPTER 7, “LIGHT AND POWER UTILITY,” AMENDING CHAPTER 2-3, “BOARDS 
AND COMMISSIONS,” B.R.C. 1981, BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION RELATED TO 
THE CREATION OF AN ELECTRIC UTILITY BOARD AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS 

 
Deputy City Attorney David Gehr presented on this item. 
 
Council Member Weaver disclosed that in 2010 a company he had an interest in, had a 
transaction with Xcel Energy but that he had no further dealings with the company afterward. 
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:55 PM: 
 

1. Dan Williams – Spoke as a representative from Public Service Company of Colorado 
opposed to the proposed ordinance. 

 
2. Angelique Espinoza – Spoke as a representative from the Boulder Chamber in favor of 

the proposed ordinance. 
 
3. Karey Christ-Janer – Spoke as an advocate for renewable energy supporting the 

municipalization effort.  
 
4. John Russell – Spoke in support of municipalization and in favor of the proposed 

ordinance.  
 
5. Mark Gelband – Spoke about the acquisition costs associated with municipalization, he 

expressed concerns about costs and reliability. He spoke in favor of municipalization 
in general. 

 
6. Leslie Glustrom – Spoke about the continued community support for municipalization 

that was reaffirmed in the last election and in support of the proposed ordinance. 
 
7. Chris Hoffman – Spoke in support of the proposed ordinance and spoke about 

continued misinformation that was being spread in the community. 
 

There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed. 
 
Council Member Cowles moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to adopt Ordinance 
No. 7969. amending Title 11, “Utilities and Airport,” B.R.C. 1981, by the addition of a new 
Chapter 7, “Light and Power Utility,” amending Chapter 2-3, “Boards and Commissions,” 
B.R.C. 1981, by the addition of a new section related to the creation of an electric utility 
board and setting forth related details.  
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page     9



 
 

Council Members Cowles and Morzel reviewed the historical voting in Boulder that had 
approved steps in the municipalization process several times. Both expressed enthusiasm for 
the proposed ordinance as a logical next step. 
 
Council Member Karakehian expressed support for the motion and noted that if Xcel Energy 
had any intent to partner with the city of Boulder, the company should bring the plan forward 
sooner rather than later.  
 
Council Member Weaver agreed with Council Member Karakehian’s comments. 
 
The motion carried  8:0, with Council Member Plass absent. Vote taken at 8:35 PM. 
 
C. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY AND ADOPT EMERGENCY ORDINANCE NO. 7974 AMENDING 
SECTION 5-3-6 “USE OF FIGHTING WORDS” B.R.C. 1981, TO REQUIRE AN INTENT TO 
HARASS, ANNOY OR ALARM AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 

 
City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item. 
 
Assistant City Attorney Janet Michels was available to answer questions. 
 
The public hearing was opened at 8:44 PM. 
 

1. Tim Petty – Spoke in support of the proposed ordinance and the rights of the homeless 
that rely on panhandling. 

 
2. Camille Lafont – Spoke in support of the proposed ordinance and offered slightly 

different language that she thought would be more effective. 
 
3. Gordon Gamm – Spoke in opposition to the proposed ordinance, accusing it of 

continuing to be unconstitutionally vague. 
 

There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed. 
 
City Attorney Tom Carr responded to comments made in the public hearing that suggested 
alternative language and expressed concerns that those recommendations would make the 
charge more difficult to prosecute. 
 

Council Member Cowles moved, seconded by Council Member Shoemaker, to adopt Ordinance 
No.7974 by emergency amending Section 5-3-6 “Use of Fighting Words” B.R.C. 1981, to 
require an intent to harass, annoy or alarm and setting forth related details. The motion carried 
8:0, with Council Member Plass absent. Vote taken at 9:02 PM. 
 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER – 9:03 PM 
 

A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO RECOGNIZE THE HARD WORK OF THE SELECTION 
COMMITTEE AND ARTS COMMISSION IN DEVELOPING PUBLIC ART FOR THE MAIN 
PUBLIC LIBRARY, TO HONOR THE WISHES OF THOSE IN THE COMMUNITY WHO SEEK 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page     10



 
 

FURTHER INPUT INTO THE DECISION-MAKING PROCESS AND TO SUPPORT THE CITY 
MANAGER’S DECISION TO DEFER AWARDING A CONTRACT FOR PUBLIC ART AT THE 
MAIN PUBLIC LIBRARY WHILE DEVELOPING A MORE INCLUSIVE AND DIVERSE PROCESS 
FOR FUTURE PUBLIC ART DECISIONS 

 
City Manager Jane Brautigam presented on this item under Item 1E at the beginning of the 
meeting. 
 
Council Member Young moved, seconded by Council Member Weaver, to recognize the hard 
work of the public art selection committee and Arts Commission in developing public art for 
the main public library, to honor the wishes of those in the community who seek further input 
into the decision-making process and to support the city manager’s decision to defer 
awarding a contract for public art at the main public library while developing a more 
inclusive and diverse process for future public art decisions. 
 
B. UPDATE ON DONATED FLOOD RELIEF FUNDS FROM SISTER CITY OF YAMAGATA, JAPAN 
 
Director of Human Services Karen Rahn presented on this item and brought with her a 
scrapbook that children and daycares in the community had put together thanking the city of 
Yamagata for the generous donation of flood relief funds. She explained that the book would 
be presented to the mayor of Yamagata, Japan at the welcome ceremony receiving the 
upcoming delegation. 
 

7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY – 9:15 PM 
  

None 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL – 9:15 PM 

 
A. POTENTIAL CALL-UPS 

 
1. VACATION OF A 500 SQUARE FOOT PORTION OF A FIVE-FOOT UTILITY EASEMENT 

RUNNING ALONG THE SOUTH PROPERTY LINE AT 3584 KIRKWOOD PLACE 
(ADR2014-00047)  
 

No interest was expressed in calling-up this item. 
 

B. BOARD AND COMMISSION APPOINTMENTS 
 

Boulder Junction Access District – Travel Demand Management and Parking 
Commission 
 
Nominations were opened: 
 
Council Member Jones nominated Susan Osborne. 
 
There being no further nominations, Susan Osborne was appointed to a five-year term by 
acclamation. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 7Packet Page     11



 
 

 
 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority 
 
This board is a mayoral appointment. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum appointed Eric Hutchens to a five-year term and directed staff to reopen 
the vacancy for a three-year term. 
 
Landmark’s Board 
 
Nominations were opened: 
 
Council Member Morzel nominated Michael Schreiner. 
 
There being no further nominations, Michael Schreiner was appointed to a five-year term by 
acclamation. 
 
University Hill Commercial Area Management Commission 
 
Nominations were opened: 
 
Council Member Jones nominated Dakota Soifer. 
 
Council Member Weaver nominated Amanda Rubino. 
 
Council Member Young nominated Cheryl Liguori. 
 
Council discussed which nominees would be appointed to each of the vacancies. 
 
There being no further nominations, Dakota Soifer was appointed to a five-year term, 
Amanda Rubino was appointed to an unexpired term ending March 31, 2018, and Cheryl 
Liguori was appointed to an unexpired term ending March 31, 2017 by acclamation. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Weaver, to ratify the Board and 
Commission appointments and to reopen recruitment for BURA for the three-year term. 

 
C. SISTER CITY UPDATE 

 
Council Member Morzel presented on this item and asked Council if there was interest in 
exploring alternatives for the annual dinner that would better facilitate discussion. She 
suggested holding the dinner on an alternative night so there was not such a tight time 
constraint with a meeting immediately following the dinner. 
 
Council Member Young agreed with the recommendation to hold the dinner on another night 
and suggested holding it off-site rather than in the Municipal Building lobby. 

 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 8Packet Page     12



 
 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS  
 
The public hearing was opened at 9:33 PM, there being no speakers present, the public 
hearing was closed. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS  
 

Vote was taken on the motion to recognize the hard work of the public art selection 
committee and Arts Commission in developing public art for the main public library, to 
honor the wishes of those in the community who seek further input into the decision-making 
process and to support the city manager’s decision to defer awarding a contract for public art 
at the main public library while developing a more inclusive and diverse process for future 
public art decisions. The motion carried 8-0 with Council Member Plass absent. Vote was 
taken at  9:34 PM. 
 
Vote was taken on the motion to ratify the Board and Commission appointments and to 
reopen recruitment for BURA for the three-year term. The motion carried 8:0, with Council 
Member Plass absent. Vote taken at 9:34 PM. 

 
11. DEBRIEF  

 
Council Member Jones announced that the city of Boulder, in partnership with Eco-Cycle, 
would be holding an event on May 10, 2014 opening Recycle Row. 
 
Council Member Cowles expressed excitement regarding the ordinance moving 
municipalization forward. 
 
Council Member Weaver agreed with Council Member Cowles comments. 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION 
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on May 6, 2014 at 9:37 
PM. 

 
Approved this ___ day of ___________, 2014. 

        APPROVED BY: 
            
ATTEST:      ______________________ 

      Matthew Appelbaum 
________________________   Mayor  
Alisa D. Lewis 
City Clerk 

 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 9Packet Page     13



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 10Packet Page     14



 
 

 
 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 
 

 
AGENDA TITLE  
Consideration of a motion to accept the April 22, 2014 study session summary on the 
budget and financial update, and potential ballot issues. 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item provides a summary of the April 22, 2014 City Council study session 
on the budget and financial update, and potential ballot issues (Attachment A). The 
purpose of the study session was to provide an update to council regarding 2013 financial 
results, local economic conditions, the 2015 budget development process and potential 
ballot items. Staff response providing additional information on construction use tax is 
included in Attachment B. Additional staff response to council questions related to the 
Pay As You Go potential ballot item, asked during the April 22, 2014 study session, will 
be provided under Matters at the June 17, 2014 City Council meeting. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to accept the study session summary from April 22nd, 2014 included in this 
agenda item as Attachment A. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page     15



 
 
NEXT STEPS 
Staff will bring forward additional information related to the Pay As You Go potential 
ballot item, and ballot options on June 17, 2014  
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A. Summary of the April 22, 2014 Study Session on the budget and financial update, 

and potential ballot issues. 
B. Additional Information on Construction Use Tax Collections. 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page     16



ATTACHMENT A 
April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary 

 
 
 

 April 22, 2014 
City Council Study Session Summary 

Budget and Financial Update, and Potential Ballot Measures 
 
PRESENT: 
City Council: Council Members Appelbaum, Karakehian, Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker, 
Weaver, and Young. 
 
Staff Members: Jane Brautigam, City Manager; Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer; 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer; Alisa Lewis, City Clerk; Jeff Arthur, Director of Public 
works for Utilities; Don Ingle, Director of Information Technology  
 
PURPOSE: 
The objective of this study session was to provide City Council with an update on 2013 
financial results, local economic conditions, the 2015 budget development process and 
potential ballot items.  
 
PRESENTATION OVERVIEW: 
Jane Brautigam, City Manager, introduced the topics of the study session: 

• A financial update for 2014 and current economic conditions that affect the city 
• An update on 2015 budget development 
• Potential ballot items including Pay As You Go financing for capital projects 
• Charter items for consideration  

 
Financial Update 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer, updated council on the 2013 Financial Results. The 2013 
unaudited financial results for the city of Boulder are in line with projections, revenues 
and expenditures came in within expectations, and reserve goals were met. Due to a 
major flood event, some reserves were used to cover emergency response and damage 
repair in 2013, in accordance with reserve policies. 
 
Total sales and use tax revenue for 2013 came in at 7.56 percent above 2012 collections. 
Retail sales tax makes up approximately 80 percent of total sales and use tax collections 
for the City of Boulder and, while not robust, ongoing retail sales tax remained stable 
throughout 2013 and so far in 2014. Construction use tax collections, which are one time 
in nature, were the highest the city has seen, in 2013, and can be attributed to a few very 
large projects that occurred within the city. Additional one time revenue came from a 
portion of the 2013 retail sales tax collections that resulted from business to business 
sales, which are not expected to recur monthly. Consequently, much of the sales and use 
tax collections over projection in 2013 were due to one time revenue and are not expected 
to occur again in 2014 or 2015.  
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page     17



ATTACHMENT A 
April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary 

2015 Budget Development 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer, updated council on the 2015 budget process. The city 
continues to use Priority Based Budgeting (PBB) as one of its primary tools in budget 
development. PBB is the iterative process of prioritizing city programs in terms of their 
influence on achieving defined objectives, called results, and aligning resources to 
achieve those results. The results reflect council and community priorities and were 
developed with input from council, the community and the organization.  
 
The city’s PBB results are: 

• Accessible and Connected Community 
• Economically Vital Community 
• Environmentally Sustainable Community 
• Healthy and Socially Thriving Community 
• Safe Community 
• Good Governance. 

 
In addition, the City of Boulder continues to refine its Sustainability Framework. The 
2015 budget process will work within this framework, which serves as an overarching 
guide to the work of the city organization and how the City of Boulder serves the 
community. 
 
Finally, along with a focus on council’s goals, developed at the January 2014 council 
retreat, the 2015 budget development process will also focus on the following key areas: 

• Public Safety 
• Boulder’s Energy Future 
• Flood Recovery and Resilience, including Utility rates 
• The Civic Area. 

 
Utility Rates 
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities, presented potential utility rates 
increases, in response to the flood. In the development of the 2014 budget and 2014-2019 
CIP, the anticipated rate increases for 2015 were 4 percent in the Water Fund, 5 percent 
in Wastewater and 3 percent in Stormwater/Flood Management. As a result of the 
September 2013 floods, these rate increases are being re-evaluated. Most significantly, in 
the Stormwater/Flood Fund some community members have expressed the desire for 
more investment into flood and stormwater infrastructure and enhanced maintenance of 
the system. In working with the Water Resources Advisory Board, discussions have 
focused on an option that would increase the single-family dwelling (up to 15,000 sq. ft.) 
monthly stormwater charge from $7.69 per month to around $13 per month. This $5.31 
per month increase equates to an almost 70 percent rate increase. This would result in 
approximately $3.8 Million in additional ongoing funding which could be used for pay-
as-you-go capital projects, or bonding may be considered. The details of the how this 
additional funding would be prioritized will be refined through the budget process. For 
reference, this rate increase would put the stormwater rate similar to Ft. Collins and 
Longmont and may be appropriate, given the relative flood risk in Boulder 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page     18



ATTACHMENT A 
April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary 

Council Questions Related to the Utility Rates 
Council asked what Longmont plans on doing with their stormwater rates in response to 
the flood. Ken Baird, the Utilities Financial Manager, stated that Longmont, which 
increased its stormwater rates immediately after the flood, will keep $13.05/month per 
residential and look toward outside funding sources. 
 
Council asked about the reaction to rate increases in Longmont and Fort Collins. Mr. 
Baird stated that there was little negative reaction in the wake of the floods, and that the 
rate increase was not controversial. Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer, related his 
experience in Fort Collins, and noted that the citizens realized major improvements were 
needed. 
 
Council asked about screening the wastewater treatment plant for large rock fragments in 
the wake of the flood. Mr. Arthur responded that wastewater is heavily regulated, with 
common upgrades. Investment will be need on the collection system. 
 
Council asked about any discoveries from autonomous underwater vehicle (AUV). Mr. 
Arthur stated that no major problems were found in the larger pipes, but some pipes are 
deteriorating faster than expected, and may not be fixed immediately. 
 
Council asked for an update regarding Wonderland Creek and South Boulder Creek 
projects. Mr. Arthur noted that Wonderland was going to be addressed with cash 
financing, but those funds were used to address the flood. As a result, bonding will need 
to be done. He also mentioned that South Boulder Creek is a bond project that is still a 
couple years away. 
 
Council asked about duplicate water treatment facilities. Mt. Arthur noted that 63rd street 
facility’s capacity has been increased, but it is not a gravity facility so it is harder to jump 
up production. 
 
Council asked about any plans that will mitigate wastewater backups resulting from a 
flood. Mr. Arthur noted that implementing a system that can handle 17 inches of rain in a 
week is really not feasible, but improvements will be made as needed. 
 
Ms. Bunzli then presented the 2015 budget development calendar, showing the steps 
from council developing its vision and goals at the January retreat, PBB implementation, 
cost and revenue projections, citywide budget development, and the submission of the 
City Manager’s Recommended budget to council in August. The Capital Improvement 
Program study session will take place in August, (an) overall budget study session(s) will 
take place in September, and public hearings and additional council discussion will take 
place in October, where council will be able to adjust and adopt the 2015 budget. 
 
Council Questions Related to the Financial Update and Budget Development 
Council asked about the amount of reserve used on flood recovery. Ms. Bunzli noted that 
approximately $8.5 million was used, across various funds. She also noted that timing 
and amount of FEMA reimbursement is uncertain. Bob Eichem, the Chief Financial 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5Packet Page     19



ATTACHMENT A 
April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary 

Officer, added that last year sales and use tax collections were up 4.1%.over projections 
and that these additional collections will help replenish some of the reserves. Due to 
funding restrictions of enterprise funds,  Utilities has greater challenge related to covering 
flood costs and replenishing reserves. 
 
Council member Karakehian requested additional information on construction use tax 
trends and what might be considered base, ongoing collections versus one-time 
collections. Mr. Eichem indicated that staff would provide additional information. 
Additional information is included in Attachment B. 
 
Long Range Fiscal Planning 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer, presented an overview of the long term structural 
gap. Currently, the city projects a gap between ongoing revenues and costs of $55 million 
by 2030. This gap, which was originally identified by the Blue Ribbon Commission, has 
been reduced from the original projection of $135 million, with various initiatives, 
including recent renewal of taxes. Additionally, the city still faces significant loss of 
buying power. The city is going to update the Blue Ribbon Commission work, starting 
this year and into next year. 
 
Mr. Eichem discussed the long range fiscal planning from 2015 to 2039. The 
Intermediate Term (2015-2019) category includes taxes that will sunset by the end of 
2019, or that have previously been discussed as potential ballot issues. There are no sales 
and use taxes that sunset during this time spectrum. The taxes that do sunset during this 
time are:  

• The Utility Occupation taxes:  
o The occupation tax that sunsets on December 31, 2017 is a General Fund 

revenue that took the place of the franchise tax for electricity (app. $4.1M 
annually)  

o The occupation tax that pays for the study of whether to create an electric 
utility sunsets the earlier of December 31, 2017, when the city decides not to 
create a municipal utility, or when the city commences delivery of municipal 
electric utility services (app. $1.9M annually)  

• The Climate Action Tax that sunsets March 31, 2018 (app. $1.8M annually).  
  
Within this time spectrum staff has also included information regarding competing 
citywide capital and operating needs that may require additional revenue, currently and in 
the future. 
 
Mr. Eichem then went into detail on the Long Term (2020-2039) items for consideration. 
This category addressed city revenue ballot issues from 2020 through 2039 when the last  
time limited sales and use tax expires:  

• The non-dedicated .15% General Fund sales and use tax that will sunset on  
December 31, 2024 

• The Parks and Recreation dedicated tax that expires at the end of 2035  
• The .15% sales and use tax that will expire at the end of 2039.  

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 6Packet Page     20



ATTACHMENT A 
April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary 

 
Potential Ballot Items 
As introduction to the consideration of potential ballot items, Mr. Eichem presented 
council with a schedule of expiring taxes and discussed potential revenue issues related to 
long term fiscal sustainability and citywide initiatives. Potential tax issues in 2014 
include: 

• Pay As You Go (PAYG) capital short term sales and use tax 
• Vacation Rental By Owner (VRBO) tax 
• Exemption from state law restricting telecommunication networks and related 

services such as offering broadband 
 
Mr. Eichem noted that due to a lack of solid data and timelines for reimbursements, the 
replacement of reserves has not been included as a 2014 ballot item for the tax supported 
funds. 
 
Pay As You Go(PAYG) 
Mr. Eichem highlighted items staff has brought forward for consideration for PAYG 
financing: 

• University Hill revitalization projects 
• Civic Area catalytic projects 
• Flatirons Event Center 
• Funding for non-profits that have requested capital contribution 

 
Council Questions and Discussion Related to PAYG 
Council asked why the current proposal for catalytic projects in the Civic Area has a cost 
of $8.7M, when in a February study session, these projects were only expected to cost 
$4.8M. Paul Leef, Senior Architect/Planner with Community Planning and Sustainability 
and Jody Tableporter, Project Manager for the redevelopment of the Boulder Civic Area, 
with Parks and Recreation, explained how with further information and understanding 
related to creating an area for cultural activities, scope had changed. This would cover 
funding for both physical infrastructure and events. 
 
Council asked what the process is for going forward with the PAYG ballot item. Ms. 
Brautigam answered that staff would come back to council before their break with 
additional information, based on the feedback from the April 22 discussion, and then 
back again in August with ballot language for consideration. 
 
Council asked for clarification on which option for the Flatirons Event Center was being 
proposed. Staff provided the clarification including that PRAB and public process would 
be needed for this. 
 
Council asked where people were going now, with the event center out of commission. 
Ms. Brautigam answered that many were using Avalon. 
 
Council Member Plass expressed interest in the full option for Flatirons but wondered 
whether the public process could be achieved in time. Ms. Brautigam answered that it 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 7Packet Page     21



ATTACHMENT A 
April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary 

could be done but would have to be done more quickly than normal. This would increase 
staff’s workload and that it may mean revising staff’s work plan in order to accomplish it. 
 
Council Member Appelbaum indicated that he would rather see the $6.7M proposed for 
Flatirons used in the Civic Area. 
 
Council Member Weaver indicated an interest in some level of funding for Flatirons but 
not necessarily the highest amount. He also asked about Emergency Preparedness items 
that had been removed from the PAYG list. Although he was sure they could be handled 
through the operating budget, he wondered about the time it would take to do so and if 
not using PAYG was a missed opportunity to get some important items purchased. 
 
Council Members Young, Morzel, and Karakehian all expressed interest in the spectrum 
for Flatirons Events Center. George expressed concern that the $6.7M would create a 
center that would be too expensive for the non profits and other organizations that have 
traditionally used the center. 
 
Council Member Weaver asked what occupation taxes were in surrounding cities or head 
taxes. Ms. Brautigam noted that she did not believe any head tax had passed since 
TABOR began in 1992. 
 
Council Member Young stated support for funding non profits and thought that an 
additional .1% (to the .2% proposed) could be used for this, including a potential fund for 
public art. 
 
Council Member Morzel noted that a group called “Decade of the Arts” would be 
interested in public art funding. She asked if funding some non profits set a precedent for 
others to ask for funding and asked what process the city would have to address this. Ms. 
Brautigam replied that no city process was envisioned at the time. In this case, the city is 
responding to specific requests from specific non profits. It is not in the current work plan 
or general scope of the CFS to solicit non profits for funding requests. Ms. Brautigam 
also mentioned that she had heard that a request might be coming forward from the 
Bridge House. Staff will bring anything received forward to council. 
 
Council Members Shoemaker and Karakehian indicated support of further exploration 
regarding PAYG capital funding for non profits. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum stated that PAYG projects should be smaller projects that would not 
normally be included in a bond. He noted that he thought funding to get the Civic Area 
started fit into that category. He stated concern of the potential for additional costs in the 
Chautauqua undergrounding project (unintended consequences) and gave his support for 
the .2% or .3% level of tax rate. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum asked about funding for Fire station #3. Jane replied that we currently 
don’t have space, though the development of Valmont South could allow for the 
Mapleton ball fields to move and thus free up the Mapleton space for the Fire station.  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 8Packet Page     22



ATTACHMENT A 
April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary 

Timing is the issue, so that would make this a longer-term project, not ready for near term 
funding. 
 
Council Member Plass also noted his support of funding to the non profits, and expressed 
the desire to have equity amongst them. Ms. Brautigam noted that the city will be 
undergoing a community cultural plan and that staff recommendation is to wait for the 
outcome of that plan before providing funding to nonprofits. The plan would not, 
however, be done in time for the PAYG ballot item. 
 
Council Member Shoemaker indicated the need for lighting on the Hill as a high priority. 
Ms. Brautigam acknowledged this and suggested that this item would fit better into a 
larger bond item, such as municipalization. 
 
Council Member Weaver supported funding nonprofits. He was undecided on what rate 
of tax was best, indicating that it depended on the projects being proposed. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum expressed concern that if the city supported the capital campaign of a 
nonprofit, and that nonprofit was not as successful in raising capital dollars as needed, the 
city could be on the hook for covering the gap. He noted that this would put the city into 
the position of having to fund a potentially lower priority than other city needs. He 
indicated that the Chautauqua project could be the exception to this. 
 
Council Member Young asked if the County was planning to put a safety net tax on the 
ballot. Matt Appelbaum replied that they were and that it would be a property tax. 
 
Council Member Shoemaker asked for more information on Bridge House. Ms. 
Brautigam replied that we had not yet received a request so did not have additional 
information. She also mentioned that funding for Bridge House might be available from 
Housing funds. Mr. Shoemaker expressed his interest in this. 
 
Council Member Karakehian asked if there was a list of Civic Area items that council 
could choose from. Ms. Brautigam replied that all proposed items were supported by the 
Civic Area Master Plan. Mr. Eichem indicated that there may be reasons why some 
projects would benefit from being done together. 
 
Vacation Rental By Owner (VRBO) 
Mr. Eichem briefly explained VRBOs, their increasing presence, and the compliance 
issues they pose. He outlined two options for taxing VRBOs: 

• A new VRBO tax set at the lodging tax rate to maintain equity in the type of 
service being provided 

• Expansion of the current lodging tax by expanding the definition of the tax to 
include VRBO 

 
Council Questions and Discussion Related to VRBO 
Council Member Morzel indicated support for a lodging tax rate, and asked under what 
conditions this would be allowed. She noted that it might be helpful to have a study 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 9Packet Page     23



ATTACHMENT A 
April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary 

session on VRBO. Ms. Brautigam stated that there is not staff capacity to do a study 
session at this time, and that the background research would be challenging.  
  
Council Member Morzel also supported voluntary compliance and expressed concern for 
unregulated safety issues. City Attorney Carr suggested the option of considering review 
of VRBO in next year’s work plan.  
 
Council Member Karakehian supported this.  
 
Council Member Shoemaker noted concern in creating an environment of non-
compliance and suggested the possibility of an increase to fines to pay for increased 
staffing needed to enforce compliance. 
 
There was a consensus among council that VRBO would not be considered in 2014 and 
that it could be brought forward at council’s next retreat for potential inclusion in the 
2015 council work plan.. 
 
City Investment in Telecommunication Services 
Director of Information Technology, Don Ingle briefly described the state law that bars 
governments from competing with private providers to provide broadband (the law has 
opt outs). He proposed that the City consider putting forward a ballot item that would 
allow voters to exempt the city from this law, with one of two options: 

• Complete exemption (e.g. City of Longmont) 
• Partial exemption, with public/private partnerships (e.g. City of Centennial) 

 
Council Questions and Discussion Related to Telecommunications 
Council Member Shoemaker asked if pursuing the first option would give the flexibility 
to engage in the second action at a later period of time. Mr. Ingle stated that it could be 
done that way. 
 
Council Member Plass recommended putting the first option on the ballot. Council 
Member Appelbaum noted that the ballot option failed the first time in Longmont, but 
succeeded the second time.  
 
Council supported bringing forward a ballot item for complete exemption. 
 
Charter Items 
Staff asked council if there were charter items that they would be interested in bringing 
forward.  
 
Council Member Morzel asked about allowing the Transportation Advisory Board (TAB) 
to be able to consider land use. City Attorney Carr indicated that this would not be a 
charter issue. 
 
Council Member Appelbaum suggested changing the Open Space Board of trustees to 
seven members. There was not consensus on this item. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 10Packet Page     24



ATTACHMENT A 
April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary 

 
Council proposed allowing for executive sessions for specific kinds of discussions, 
including real estate transactions, employment matters and municipalization. There was 
consensus on proposing executive sessions for municipalization. City Attorney Carr 
indicated that he would draft language for council consideration. 
 
Council discussed revisiting the Blue Line, in light of a letter that the City Manager 
received from a homeowner whose house sits partially within the Blue Line. Ms. 
Brautigam indicated that staff had looked at the possibility of addressing only part of the 
Blue Line but, after further consideration, staff recommends addressing the Blue Line as 
a whole. Council supported this and agreed that this could not be done at this time.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
Based on the input, staff will: 
• Continue to monitor economic indicators and city revenue receipts  
• Continue to align the budget process with the priorities of the City Council and the 

community 
• Provide additional information regarding Utilities rates during the ongoing budget 

process 
• Provide council with the City Manager’s 2015 Recommended Budget in the early fall  
• Provide council with an update on phase II (operating) of the Comprehensive 

Financial Strategy in early 2015 
• Come back to Council with additional information on the potential PAYG ballot item 

at the June 17th Council meeting. 
• Bring forward a potential 2014 ballot item on Telecommunications 
•  Bring back charter items requested by council. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 11Packet Page     25



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 12Packet Page     26



  ATTACHMENT B: Construction Use Tax 

Construction Use Taxes 

Construction use taxes collected in the City of Boulder in 2013 were at the highest level ever 
seen in the city. With significant construction projects slated to take place in 2014 and 2015, it is 
anticipated that 2014 and 2015 collections will also be high, though not at the level seen in 
2013.These taxes, collected on construction projects, are not tied to ongoing, regular commercial 
activity, but are based on discrete construction activity. 
 
The number and size of construction projects can vary significantly from one year to the next. As 
such, only a base amount is considered as ongoing revenue that will occur each year, and can 
fund ongoing services and programs. The ongoing amount is monitored closely and reviewed 
each year to determine if the base has increased. For 2015, the base amount is estimated at $5 
million. The amounts above this base are considered to be one time in nature, since the levels are 
not considered sustainable in the long run.  These one time revenues are used to fund one time 
costs.  If the city used the total amount as the base and funded ongoing services and programs 
with the full amount, and construction use tax collections reverted to the norm, then ongoing 
services and programs would have to be cut or eliminated.  By following this best practice in 
finance the City of Boulder was able to avoid deep cuts in service levels during 2008 to 2010 
while going through the worst recession since the great depression.   
 
The table below shows the construction use tax collections in the City of Boulder for the last ten 
years. The table also shows 2014, 2015 and 2016 current construction use tax revenue 
projections.  
 

Table 1: City of Boulder Construction Use Tax Collections 2004 - 2013 
 

 

Actual Collections
year amount % change
2004 3,048,978        -6.4%
2005 5,597,684        83.6%
2006 5,302,000        -5.3%
2007 4,814,755        -9.2%
2008 4,048,982        -15.9%
2009 7,449,176        84.0%
2010 6,550,964        -12.1%
2011 6,172,383        -5.8%
2012 5,602,825        -9.2%
2013 9,508,900        69.7%

Projected Collections
year amount % change
2014 9,033,055        -5.0%
2015 8,130,110        -10.0%
2016 7,601,652        -6.5%

Agenda Item 3B     Page 13Packet Page     27



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 14Packet Page     28



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the April 22, 2014 study session 
summary on a University Hill Reinvestment Strategy. 
 
 
 

PRESENTERS  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Molly Winter, Director, Downtown & University Hill Management Division 
Eric M. Ameigh, Senior Project Manager  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This agenda item provides a summary of the April 22, 2014 study session on a University 
Hill Reinvestment Strategy (HRS). The purpose of the study session was to update 
council on the proposed HRS and to seek feedback on the overall approach as well as 
some specific components of the effort. Council was supportive of the proposed strategy 
with the following potential modifications and/or caveats: 
 
1. In addition to creating an event street on Pennsylvania, 13th Street between 
Pennsylvania Avenue and College Avenue should be reimagined and possibly 
reconstructed as a shared street which could be closed for events. Also consider a 
residential lighting pilot that would be “off the grid.” 
 
2. Strong consideration should be given to greater diversity of uses in addition to non-
student housing when the 14th Street parking lot is redeveloped into a parking garage and 
mixed use project. 
 
3. There is concern that the proposed Residential Service District (RSD) pilot may not be 
financially sustainable and, while council is supportive, it will need to be addressed. 
Coordination with enforcement is important.  
 
Staff, in consultation with community partners, will begin implementation immediately. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page     29



 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff recommends Council consideration of this summary and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 

Motion to accept the April 22, 2014 study session summary on a University Hill 
Reinvestment Strategy. 
 

NEXT STEPS 

Staff is working on preliminary scoping for a shared street on 13th Street between 
Pennsylvania Avenue and College Avenue in addition to an event street on Pennsylvania 
as well as a residential street lighting pilot that would be “off the grid” and enhancements 
to the alleys. More information will be shared with council at the June 17, 2014 meeting 
and the projects may be considered for inclusion in a potential “Pay as You Go” funding 
ballot item in the fall or for the Capital Improvement Program. 
 
The Hill Revitalization Coordinator position will be posted in May. It is expected the 
successful candidate will begin by August 1, 2014. 

 
The following activities will take place before October 1, 2014: 
 

 A comprehensive work plan for the HRS will be created. 
 The Innisfree mural will be completed.  
 Implementation of 2.5 year RSD pilot will begin. 
 Council will be updated on the public/private partnership for the 14th Street lot. 
 Council will be updated on the implementation status of the HRS. 
 Pilot Parklet will be completed by May 19th. 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS  
 Attachment A – April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary on a University Hill 

Reinvestment Strategy 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page     30



 

April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary  

on a University Hill Reinvestment Strategy 
 

PRESENT 

 

City Council:  Mayor Matt Appelbaum, Mayor Pro Tem George Karakehian, Council 
Members Lisa Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver, and Mary Young.  
 
Staff members:  City Manager Jane S. Brautigam, Director of Downtown and University 
Hill Management Division and Parking Services Molly Winter. 
 
PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of the study session was to update council on the proposed University Hill 
Reinvestment Strategy (HRS) and to seek feedback on the overall approach as well as 
some specific components of the effort. 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE PRESENTATION AND DISCUSSION 

 
Ms. Winter presented the background for the proposed HRS, including the formation of 
the Hill Ownership Group and the group’s two big ideas: the residential service district 
(RSD) and the innovation and creative arts district. The RSD was envisioned as a special 
taxing district in the high density residential area that would have removed graffiti and 
litter from public and private property. The innovation or creative arts district would have 
leveraged the neighborhood’s youthful and creative identity to promote public art and 
new ways of thinking about city government involvement and private enterprise on the 
Hill. Ms. Winter described the ways in which these two ideas are still alive and well on 
the Hill and the manner in which they will influence the HRS. 
 
The HRS contains three areas of focus: Quality of Life, Organizational Structure, and 
Catalyst sites.  
 
Quality of life encompasses public safety efforts like the Police Department’s 
Neighborhood Impact Team, a proposed pilot for the RSD to be funded by the city for 2.5 
years, ongoing code enforcement work, beautification efforts like the Pennsylvania 
Avenue parklet and multiple murals, and proposed capital investments such as street tree 
irrigation and the Pennsylvania Avenue event street. 
 
Organizational structure refers to the need for organizational and management capacity, 
in some form yet to be determined, for the Hill. Leadership and responsibility for 
management of the Hill’s issues are currently dispersed between private business 
interests, various city departments, neighborhood organizations and the University Hill 
Commercial Area Management Commission (UHCAMC). Regardless of the form it 
eventually takes, an organization must emerge that can play a similar role for the Hill that 
the Business Improvement District plays for downtown and integrate the interests of the 
diverse stakeholders.  

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page     31



 

 
Catalyst sites are those sites that offer an opportunity to alter the character of the 
neighborhood in a positive way. Some examples include the 14th Street parking lot, which 
is proposed to be redeveloped as a parking lot and mixed use building, the Pleasant Street 
parking lot, and the gas station at 13th Street and Pleasant. 
 
Ms. Winter concluded the presentation by explaining the next steps, which include hiring 
a fixed term position to coordinate the HRS workplan and moving forward the initiatives 
listed within the strategy. 
 
Council generally expressed its broad support for the HRS including hiring the Hill 
revitalization coordinator although there were some concerns expressed about the longer 
term financial sustainability of the RSD after the pilot period. Coordination between the 
RSD and enforcement is important. There were also some comments from council about: 
 

 The lack of University of Colorado involvement and their need to partner with the 
city on the Hill. 

 
 A desire to see a greater diversity of uses in addition to non-student housing at the 

14th Street redevelopment site 
 

 A possible rethinking and redesign of 13th Street between Pennsylvania and 
College in addition to the event street on Pennsylvania. 

 
 The need for success measures and progress milestones 

 
 A desire for a residential area street lighting pilot that would be “off the grid.” 

 
 Consider more creative zoning on the Hill as well as historic landmarking; 

perhaps an overlay district.  
 

 Enhancement of the alleys in the commercial district.  
 
The tenor of the conversation was one of support for the risk taking and boldness 
contained in the proposed HRS and staff was encouraged to move forward with making 
the proposal a reality. 

 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page     32



  

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the summary of the April 29, 2014 
study session on Boulder’s Energy Future. 
 
 

 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Heather Bailey, Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Jonathan Koehn, Regional Sustainability Coordinator 
Yael Gichon, Energy Sustainability Coordinator 
Kelly Crandall, Energy Strategy Coordinator 
Kara Mertz, Environmental Action Project Manager 
Elizabeth Vasatka, Business Sustainability Coordinator 
Jamie Harkins, Business Sustainability Specialist II 
Elyse Hottel, Sustainability Data Analyst 
Juliet Bonnell, Administrative Specialist 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
Brett KenCairn, Senior Environmental Planner 
Sarah Huntley, Media Relations/Communication Manager 
Colette Crouse, Sustainability Communication Specialist 
Lisa Smith, Energy Communication Specialist 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item provides a summary of the April 29, 2014 City Council study session on 
Boulder’s Energy Future. The purpose of the study session was to: 

 Provide an overview of the next phase of work aimed at achieving the energy future the 
Boulder community envisions; 

 Present current and planned efforts for city-supported energy services and innovations, 
including the direct relationship of those efforts to achieving the community’s climate 
commitment goal; and  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page     33



  

 Outline next steps in exploring municipalization of the electric utility system as the path 
that will enable Boulder to move aggressively toward the creation of the “utility of the 
future.” 
 

Attachment A is a summary of council’s discussion of the issues and the questions presented at 
the study session. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
 
Suggested Motion Language  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to accept the summary of the April 29, 2014, study session on Boulder’s Energy 
Future. 
 
 
NEXT STEPS 
 

Energy Services and the “Utility of the Future:” How We Get from Here to There   
1. Define the city’s commercial and industrial energy efficiency strategy through an 

inclusive process of engagement with property owners, businesses and local energy 
experts, including refinement and expansion of related energy services upon hiring a 
new Energy Services Program Manager/Lead Strategist. 

2. Continue to refine and support delivery of EnergySmart services to achieve annual 
targets and support SmartRegs implementation. 

3. Complete an updated community greenhouse gas inventory (planned for completion 
in 2014), assuming data issues around the acquisition of community electricity and 
natural gas usage can be resolved.   

4. Update council on outcomes and recommendations of solar and natural gas working 
groups. 

5. Apply lessons learned from the Community Power Partnership and Boulder Energy 
Challenge Grant Program in planning 2015 priorities including program design and 
delivery. 

6. Refine utility of the future vision and consolidate community energy-related goals 
through a public process. 

7. Use utility of the future vision to establish criteria, metrics, and a timeline for 
prioritizing new initiatives and pilot projects that support energy services 
development. 

8. Apply utility of the future vision to functional areas of the municipal utility transition 
plan (such as ratemaking, customer service, and operations), identifying where best 
practices can be incorporated and where additional research and piloting may be 
required. 

 
Municipalization 

1. Proceed with condemnation and regulatory filings 2nd and 3rd quarter. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page     34



  

2. Develop budget and finalize transition work plan: 
a. Present draft plan to City Council in May; 
b. Community engagement process for envisioning the utility of the future 

incorporating the city’s climate commitment goals in May/June; 
c. Form transition plan working groups and initiate public outreach to support 

development of the transition plan in May/June; and 
d. Present final work plan in June. 

3. Implement the transition plan beginning the 2nd quarter of 2014. 

 
ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A: April 29, 2014, Study Session Summary 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page     35



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page     36



  

ATTACHMENT A 
 

April 29, 2014 
City Council Study Session Summary 

Boulder’s Energy Future  
 

PRESENT:   
 
City Council: Council Members Appelbaum, Cowles, Jones, Karakehian, Morzel, Plass, 
Shoemaker, Weaver, Young 

 
Staff Members: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager; Heather Bailey, Executive Director of 
Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development; David Driskell, Executive Director of 
Community Planning and Sustainability; Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community 
Planning and Sustainability; Jonathan Koehn, Regional Sustainability Coordinator; Kelly 
Crandall, Energy Strategy Coordinator; Kara Mertz, Environmental Action Project Manager; 
Elizabeth Vasatka, Business Sustainability Coordinator; Jamie Harkins, Business Sustainability 
Specialist II; Elyse Hottel, Sustainability Data Analyst; Juliet Bonnell, Administrative Specialist; 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager; Brett KenCairn, Senior Environmental Planner; 
Sarah Huntley, Media Relations/Communication Manager; Colette Crouse, Sustainability 
Communication Specialist; Lisa Smith, Energy Communication Specialist; Heidi Joyce, 
Administration 
 
PURPOSE: 
 
The purpose of the study session was to discuss and seek council feedback on activities related to 
Boulder’s Energy Future, including: 

1. The linkage between the city’s climate commitment goals and our energy services, 
new pilot initiatives and municipalization efforts; 

2. The city’s vision of the “utility of the future,” specifically in terms of how it would 
relate to and serve its customers; 

3. Current city-supported energy services and 2014 program enhancements; 
4. Innovative energy service pilots being planned and implemented in 2014/15; 
5. Ongoing work associated with creating a municipal utility and the resources and 

effort directed toward transitioning to a new utility business model;  
6. Regional, national and international partnerships; and 
7. Next steps and schedule for 2014/15. 

 
OVERVIEW OF PRESENTATIONS: 
 
D. Driskell introduced the integrated energy efforts led by the Local Environmental Action 
Division (LEAD) and the Department of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development. 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Packet Page     37



  

Connecting Climate and Energy  
D. Driskell identified the connection between the 2014/2015 programs, projects and initiatives to 
the overall goal of reducing greenhouse gas emissions through source change (fuel switching) 
and energy efficiency improvements.  
 
Energy Services Today  
D. Driskell gave the following update on existing energy programs: 

 EnergySmart Services program: The nationally-recognized energy efficiency service that 
helps homes and businesses throughout Boulder County become more energy efficient. 
The program’s success is attributed to collaboration with partners and members of the 
community with a focus on the customers’ perspective. The program’s audit to action 
ratio results in over 75 percent of owner-occupied units, and nearly 50 percent of 
businesses are making upgrades after receiving advising services. These percentages are 
well above utility industry standards. The EnergySmart program is one example of how a 
local utility could engage with the customer, in terms of what services customers want 
and the way in which they are delivered.  

 SmartRegs: The licensed rental housing energy efficiency requirement program. The city 
is developing a strategy to assist property owners to meet the 2019 deadline for rental 
housing energy efficiency compliance. To date, approximately 5,500 rental units have 
met the compliance requirements and 13,400 units will need to comply by Jan. 2019. The 
city is working on developing education and outreach strategies to encourage property 
owners to engage in the process now rather than wait until closer to the compliance 
deadline. 

 
New Initiatives 
D. Driskell presented new city initiatives that will help advance the city’s energy goals: 

 An Energy Services Manager/Lead Strategist position has been posted and interviews 
have been scheduled. This position will help develop leading edge commercial and 
industrial energy efficiency strategies. 

 The Community Power Partnership program is a two-year pilot research project launched 
in collaboration with the Pecan Street Institute. The city and its partner have begun to 
install smart meter equipment for energy and water use that monitors circuit level 
information. Approximately 50 homes have volunteered to be outfitted with smart water 
meters and technology devices from eGauge – a Boulder based company. The meters will 
provide real time energy and water use data to customers. The project will help the city 
understand customer behaviors and provide data on Boulder’s load profile. Up to twenty 
five businesses and Fairview High School are also being outfitted with these eGauge 
meters. 

 The Boulder Energy Challenge Grant Program is a pilot program designed to stimulate 
local innovation and create market-driven solutions for reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions. Approximately $300,000 from the Climate Action Tax fund has been 
dedicated to this program to support a portfolio of five to 10 proposals. The program is 
expected to launch May 12, with a community showcase of finalists to be presented end 
of July. 

 EcoDistricts look at district-scale approaches towards sustainability. Potential 
partnerships and opportunities for an energy district in Boulder may include the 
Sutherland (Boulder Junction), Western Disposal and future civic area sites. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Packet Page     38



  

 The solar and natural gas community working groups are underway, and are charged with 
advancing solar energy within the city and looking at best practices to promote 
responsible standards for natural gas development and procurement to achieve our energy 
goals. 

 
The Vision for the “Utility of the Future” 
H. Bailey presented the vision for the utility of the future. If the city owned its own retail utility, 
Boulder could have: 

 A choice as to the carbon intensity and cost of its energy supply. Today, Boulder is 
making an impact on reducing the city’s carbon footprint, but not to the level necessary to 
meet the city’s climate commitment goals. 

 A choice in prioritization of investments in infrastructure such as undergrounding poles 
and wires, constructing microgrids, and investing in new technologies. Under an investor-
owned utility, Boulder does not have the ability to make those choices today. 

 The ability to create innovative rate structures that incentivize conservation, provide 
opportunities for low-income customers, offer rate options for those on a fixed income 
and other types of incentives/services.  

 Customized future offerings that could provide a range of services. 
 
Barriers Can be Opportunities 
H. Bailey described how the city’s energy future goals are, in some cases, in direct conflict with 
the existing utility model. Additionally, there are a number of demands on the existing utility 
model that cause upward pressure on rates, including new environmental regulations, investment 
requirements, flat or declining load growth and shifting fuel economics. For example, some 
utilities have identified the confluence of efficiency, conservation, on-site solar, and energy 
storage as a traditional utility “death spiral” in which costs from grid defection are increasingly 
borne by customers who cannot afford to go off the grid. Considering these barriers, the city has 
a unique opportunity to create a new model or utility of the future that provides “energy as a 
service.”  
 
Guiding Principles for Future Energy Services 
H. Bailey presented a vision that pulls us toward our energy future and climate action goals 
including: 

 Ensuring safe, reliable and secure energy; 
 Developing a transition plan that moves us away from fossil fuels; 
 Seeking opportunities to invest in local economy (i.e., taking profits earned and 

reinvesting in infrastructure and services and using money to create jobs and support 
local businesses); and  

 Designing an energy marketplace for innovation.  
 
Marketplace for Innovation  
H. Bailey introduced the marketplace for innovation concept and described it would include 
three basic components including an electricity delivery platform, an energy services market and 
a customer interface:  

 The electricity delivery platform is the basic platform responsible for ensuring safe, 
stable reliable energy for all. This is the primary function for an electric utility.  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 7Packet Page     39



  

 The energy services market is an application concept similar to smart phones apps for the 
electric industry, where Boulder would go to the marketplace and solicit entrepreneurs 
and innovators to develop services customers need and want.  Examples of applications 
could include peer-to-peer energy exchange, electric vehicles as storage devices, turnkey 
local generation and storage services. 

 The utility and the innovations platform would interface directly with Boulder businesses 
and residential customers.  

H. Bailey stated that others are also exploring this concept. An article published on April 29 in 
Environment & Energy Daily, “N.Y. gets to work on ‘grid of the future’ with sweeping changes 
to come,” tells how Governor Cuomo directed the New York Public Service Commission to 
evaluate, at a statewide level, changing the entire utility market to “begin a proceeding meant to 
pave the way for distributed energy, smart-grid technologies, demand response, electric vehicles 
and, ultimately, the prospect of less hard infrastructure.” The utility would “effectively serve a 
new purpose under the shifting umbrella of rules and market obligations, acting as ‘distributed 
system platform providers’ to help move along a side market with tariffs to enable behind-the-
meter resource providers to monetize products and services.”   

Where Do We Go From Here 
H. Bailey said staff will work with the community to develop the vision of a new utility, create a 
roadmap for Day 1 and beyond and will continue to explore pilot programs. 
 
Municipalization Exploration Update 
H. Bailey gave an update on the municipalization exploration project. The city is moving 
forward with condemnation and regulatory filings, working with the PUC on a path that works 
for both the city and Xcel, developing a transition work plan that outlines step-by-step tasks to 
help guide the city to creating, owning and operating an electric utility, and engaging our 
community.  
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION 

 

S. Weaver participated on the city’s RMI eLab accelerator team and provided his perspective on 
the event. He stated that RMI eLabs did an effective job leading the discussion with the premise 
of anchoring the planning to the vision and letting the restoring force pull towards that vision. He 
presented the idea of the utility operator creating a platform. At first, the utility provides power 
generation and a certain amount of generating capacity, but over the long run entrepreneurs 
provide the energy. The utility would still provide backup and a stable grid, but the entrepreneurs 
would provide the innovation services. The utility could have a standard developers kit, where all 
entrepreneurs have a set requirements they would have to meet in order to come on the grid. He 
complimented the team and the process. 
 
Council asked what assistance is available to Boulder from others who are creating platforms to 
develop standards that make sense. 
 
H. Bailey was unaware of specific standards that have been developed, but stated there are 
several areas to look at, including platforms developed by EcoDistricts, research at the federal 
level, and states with competitive markets.  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 8Packet Page     40



  

Council asked how EcoDistricts translate into existing neighborhoods, since new developments 
comprise two percent of development in Boulder. 
 
D. Driskell highlighted several new development and redevelopment EcoDistrict initiatives 
taking place, including an upcoming incubator session on new development for an energy 
district, Denver’s EcoDistrict redevelopment initiative and sustainable neighborhood 
certification program and several EcoDistrict initiatives underway in Washington DC. The 
appeal of the Portland Group’s EcoDistrict framework is the attention it gives to community 
process and to governance – with community partners, private investments and behavior change 
components. Potential EcoDistrict developments in Boulder include the civic area and the 
University of Colorado, Boulder (CU).  
 
Council asked staff to talk about the framework of the natural gas working group process and 
discussions. 
 
J. Koehn said it is understandable that natural gas will be in Boulder’s portfolio, but the question 
is how to transition from where we are today to where we would like to be. The working group 
created a three-tiered process to look at best practices in the industry. Topics of conversation 
taking place with the working group have included developing criteria to determine where gas 
will come from, establishing an air quality control council, adopting regulations as a floor and 
looking at gas replacement alternatives and how they align with fossil fuel reductions. The intent 
is to build a transition plan over time that meets the needs of the Boulder community. 
 
Council commended the accomplishments of the Natural Gas Working Group and expressed 
enthusiasm about the cutting edge conversations taking place.   
 
Council members were supportive of the proposed vision and plans for implementation. Council 
also expressed excitement over the benefits of working with the community and establishing 
“energy” connections with others. 
 
Council asked what support and challenges the city faces in working with potential partners, like 
CU, in developing the utility of the future. 
 
H. Bailey responded that CU owns their energy system and has, so far, remained neutral. She 
acknowledged the importance of engaging with critical partners like CU and the federal labs; 
they have great capabilities and knowledge in the energy field and would be ideal partners to 
explore and develop the utility of the future. 
 
Council asked about the area of focus for the new Energy Services Manager/Lead Strategist 
position. 
 
D. Driskell responded that the new hire will look at energy rating and reporting, what Boulder 
has learned about energy ratings, regulatory requirements Boulder may consider, and what 
opportunities exist for Boulder. 
 
Council praised staff for the integrated efforts of the teams and the great work underway.       
 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 9Packet Page     41



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 10Packet Page     42



 
 

 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 
7968 amending Chapter 13-2, “Campaign Financing Disclosure,” B.R.C. 1981, including 
modifying the financial reporting requirements, adding additional reporting 
requirements for city council members, setting forth reporting periods and setting forth 
related details. 
 

 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney  

  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 
On February 20, 2014, council held a study session on financial reporting.  Council 
scheduled this study session to provide a forum for discussion of potential clarifications 
to the city’s financial disclosure requirements.  Council discussed several proposed 
changes and agreed on several that would strengthen and clarify the financial disclosure 
requirements.  Council held a public hearing on April 16, 2014 to consider the proposed 
ordinance at second reading.  After the conclusion of the public hearing, council 
discussed several changes.  Council’s changes were of significant complexity that council 
continued the second reading to allow for staff to draft amendments reflecting council’s 
direction.  On May 6, 2014, council reviewed and adopted the proposed changes on 
second reading.  Third reading is necessary because the ordinance was amended on 
second reading.   
 
 
 
  

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page     43



 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to adopt on third reading Ordinance No. 7968 amending Chapter 13-2, 
“Campaign Financing Disclosure,” B.R.C. 1981 including modifying the financial 
reporting requirements, adding additional reporting requirements for City Council 
members, setting forth reporting periods and setting forth related details. 
 

 

BACKGROUND:  

 

Additional background information can be found in the summary of the February 20 
study session, in the second reading agenda memorandum and in the memorandum on 
continued second reading.  The purpose of this agenda item is to improve the city’s 
financial reporting requirements by clarifying ambiguities in the current code.  The 
important interest of government transparency is served by clear requirements for 
disclosure by elected officials. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 

 

 Economic: None identified 

 Environmental: None identified 

 Social: Boulder’s community values support an honest, ethical and transparent local 
government.  The intent of the proposed ordinance is to revise the city’s financial 
disclosure requirements to be clearer to avoid ambiguity.   

 
OTHER IMPACTS: 
  
 Fiscal: None identified. 

 Staff Time: None identified. 
 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 

 

Attachment A:         Proposed Ordinance No. 7968 
 
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page     44



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7968 3rd rdg.YCO.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 7968     
 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 13-2, “CAMPAIGN 
FINANCING DISCLOSURE,” B.R.C. 1981 INCLUDING 
MODIFYING A CANDIDATE’S FINANCIAL REPORTING 
REQUIREMENTS, ADDING ADDITIONAL REPORTING 
REQUIREMENTS FOR CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS, SETTING 
FORTH REPORTING PERIODS AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section 1.  Section 13-2-2, B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

13-2-2  Definitions. 

 
The following terms used in this chapter and chapter 13-3, "Campaign Activities," B.R.C. 1981, 
have the following meanings unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 
     
"Ballot proposition" means any amendment to the city charter, and any initiative, referendum, or 
recall for which petitions have been properly certified by the city clerk for submission to the city 
council, or any ordinance or issue put to a vote of the electors of the City of Boulder under the 
provisions of the city charter. Such term does not include any ballot issue placed on the ballot by 
the United States, the State of Colorado or any political subdivision thereof other than the city. 
 
"Candidate" means any person whose petition of nomination for city council, whether at a 
regular, special, or recall election, has been certified as sufficient by the city clerk pursuant to 
charter section 26.  A person is no longer a “candidate” after the date of the election for which 
the person filed a petition. 
 
"Candidate committee" means a person, including the candidate, or persons with the common 
purpose of receiving contributions or making expenditures under the authority of a candidate. 
The term "official candidate committee" is synonymous with "candidate committee." 
 
"Committee" means a candidate committee, an unofficial candidate committee, and an issue 
committee, unless the context indicates that it can mean only one or two of these types of 
committees. 
 
"Contribution" means: 
 
(a) Any payment, loan, pledge, or advance of money, including, without limitation, checks 
received but not deposited or payments made by credit card, or guarantee of a loan, made to or 
for the benefit of any candidate or committee; 

Attachment A- Campaign Financing Disclosure

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page     45



  

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7968 3rd rdg.YCO.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
(b) Any payment made to a third party for the benefit of any candidate or committee, including, 
without limitation, the use of a credit card to secure such benefit; 
 
(c) Anything of value given, directly or indirectly, to a candidate for the purpose of promoting 
the candidate's election, including, without limitation, commercial services such as banking, 
printing, and mailing services; or 
 
(d) With regard to a contribution for which the contributor receives compensation or 
consideration of less than equivalent value to such contribution, including, without limitation, 
items of perishable or non-permanent value, goods, supplies, services, or participation in a 
campaign-related event, an amount equal to the value in excess of such compensation or 
consideration. 
 
"Contribution" does not include services provided without compensation by individuals 
volunteering their time on behalf of a candidate or committee. 
 
"Contribution in kind" means the fair market value of a gift or loan of any item of real or 
personal property, other than money, made to or for any candidate or committee for the purpose 
of influencing the passage or defeat of any issue or the election or defeat of any candidate. 
Personal services are a contribution in kind by the person paying compensation therefor. In 
determining the value to be placed on contributions in kind, a reasonable estimate of fair market 
value shall be used by the candidate or committee. "Contribution in kind" does not include an 
endorsement of a candidate or an issue by any person, nor does it include the payment of 
compensation for legal or accounting services rendered to a candidate if the person paying for 
the services is the regular employer of the individual rendering the services and the services are 
solely for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the provisions of this title. 
 
“Excepted investment” means a mutual fund, common trust fund of a bank, pension or deferred 
compensation plan, any other investment fund or a ten percent or less interest in the stock of a 
company, which for funds or stocks is widely held; publicly traded (or available) or widely 
diversified; and which for funds under circumstances where the investor neither exercises control 
over nor has the ability to exercise control over the financial interests held by the fund. A fund is 
widely diversified when it holds no more than five percent of the value of its portfolio in the 
securities of any one issuer (other than the U.S. Government.) 
 
"Expenditure" means the payment, distribution, loan, or advance of any money by any candidate 
or committee, whether in cash, by check, as a credit card charge, or otherwise. "Expenditure" 
also includes the payment, distribution, loan, or advance of any money by a person for the 
benefit of a candidate or committee that is made with the prior knowledge and consent of an 
agent of the candidate or committee. An expenditure occurs when the actual payment is made or 
when a contract is agreed upon, whichever comes first. Consent may be implied from 
collaboration and need not be express. 
 
“Income” means money received for the provision of goods or services, not including the  
unrealized appreciation of any asset, income from any excepted fund or interest earned  

Attachment A- Campaign Financing Disclosure

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page     46



  

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7968 3rd rdg.YCO.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

from any commercial bank, savings and loan or credit union. 
 
"Independent expenditure" means an expenditure by any person for the purpose of expressly 
advocating the election or defeat of a candidate or candidates, which expenditure is not 
controlled by, coordinated with, or made upon consultation with any candidate or candidate 
committee or any agent of such candidate or committee. "Independent expenditure" does not 
include expenditures made by persons, other than political parties and political committees, in 
the regular course and scope of their business, including political messages sent solely to 
members. 
 
"Issue" is synonymous with ballot proposition. 
 
"Issue committee" means any two or more natural persons who collaborate together, or any 
corporation, partnership, commission, association, or any other organization or group of persons, 
that accepts contributions or makes expenditures for the purpose of opposing or supporting a 
ballot proposition at a city election, regardless of whether or not it has obtained the consent of 
the sponsors of the ballot proposition. 
 
“Material change”  shall mean any change in information required to be reported pursuant to 
paragraphs13-2-3(b)(1), (3) or (4). 
 
"Official candidate committee" - see definition of "candidate committee." 
 
“Other household income” means any income earned by a spouse, domestic partner, or partner in 
a civil union who resides in the same household as the reporting person that is reportable by a 
candidate or incumbent for federal or state income tax purposes. 
 
“Other household member” means a spouse, domestic partner, or partner in a civil union who 
resides in the same household as the reporting person. 
 
"Political committee" means any two or more natural persons who collaborate together, or any 
corporation, partnership, commission, association, or any other organization or group of persons, 
that accepts contributions or makes expenditures for the purpose of opposing or supporting a 
candidate for city council, or a city ballot proposition, and which, because of campaign activities 
concerning other candidates, other ballot measures, or both, is required under the Fair Campaign 
Practices Act found in state law to file statements and reports with the secretary of state or the 
county clerk and recorder. It is the intention of this chapter to reduce the burden on such 
committees of following two separate sets of filing and reporting requirements, while still 
protecting the public purposes served by filing and reporting. However, no candidate committee 
or other committee, the expenditures of which are in any way, directly or indirectly, controlled 
by, coordinated with, or made upon consultation with any candidate or candidate committee or 
agent thereof shall be deemed a political committee eligible for these different requirements. 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A- Campaign Financing Disclosure

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page     47



  

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7968 3rd rdg.YCO.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

“Reportable interest" means:  
 

(a) In the case of a corporation, either more than 10 percent of the total combined voting 
power of all classes of stock of the corporation entitled to vote, or more than 10 percent 
of the capital, profits, or beneficial interest in the voting stock of the corporation;   
(b) In the case of a partnership, association, trust, or other entity, more than 10 percent of 
the capital, profits, or beneficial interest in such partnership, association, trust, or other 
entity; or 
 
(c) Any interest in any entity that owns real property, if more than 50 percent of the 
entity’s holdings are in Boulder County. 

 
"Unofficial candidate committee" means any two or more natural persons who collaborate 
together, or any corporation, partnership, commission, association, or any other organization or 
group of persons, that accepts contributions or makes expenditures for the purpose of expressly 
advocating the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate for city council. An unofficial 
candidate committee ceases to be independent if its expenditures are in any way, directly or 
indirectly, controlled by, coordinated with, or made upon consultation with any candidate or 
candidate committee or agent thereof. 
 
 Section 2.  Section 13-2-3, B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

13-2-3 Candidate's  Financial Disclosure Statement. 

 
(a)  The purpose of this section is to provide members of the public and other council members 

with information regarding financial dealings of candidates and council members that might 
affect their ability to make impartial decisions.  When reporting information regarding the 
activities of a third party, a reporting person is required to report only information about 
which he or she has actual knowledge. 

 
(b) Any person required to file a financial disclosure statement required by this chapter shall file 

a statement on a form provided by the city clerk as follows: No more than three days after a 
candidate's petition of nomination for city council has been certified as sufficient by the city 
clerk pursuant to charter section 26, the candidate shall file a statement of financial 
disclosure that contains: 

 
(1a) The reporting candidate'sperson’s employer and occupation and the nature; 

 
(2)  The  and source of any other income in excess of $1,000.00 per year, including, without 

limitation, other  household income, capital gains, whether or not taxable, dividends, 
interest, wages, salaries, rents, and profits, and retirement accounts; 

 
(3b) The name, location, and nature of activity of any business entities or enterprises for 

profit, with holdings of real or personal property or with business dealings in the area 
encompassed by the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, in which the 
candidatereporting person or other household member has any financial interest or is 

Attachment A- Campaign Financing Disclosure

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page     48



  

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7968 3rd rdg.YCO.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

actively engaged as an officer, director, or partner and the nature of the reporting person 
candidate's or other household member’s interest or activity.   A reporting person or 
other household member is not required to report any financial interest in any business 
entity in which the reporting person’s or other household member’s only interest is 
through an investment in an excepted investment.  A charitable donation is not a 
financial interest; 

 
(4c) The location of any real property within Boulder County in which the candidatereporting 

person or other household member has an interest or, if the reporting person or other 
household member candidate has a controlling reportable interest in an entity or 
enterprise disclosed pursuant to subsectionparagraph (b)(3) of this section, in which the 
controlled entity or enterprise has any interest and the nature of such interest; 

 
(5d) Any other information that the reporting personcandidate feels would be helpful or 

should be disclosed; and 
 

(e6) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, no reporting person or other 
household membercandidate is required to disclose any confidential relationship 
protected by law. 

  
 Section 3.  Section 13-2-4, B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

13-2-4 Incumbent's Financial Disclosure Statement.Filing Dates and Disclosure Periods. 

On April 15 of each calendar year, each incumbent council member shall file an amended 
statement for the previous calendar year concerning the financial disclosures in Section 13-2-3, 
"Candidate's Financial Disclosure Statement," B.R.C. 1981, with the city manager or notify the 
manager in writing that the council member has no change of financial condition regarding the 
disclosed items since previously filing a disclosure statement.   
 
(a)  On or before September 10, any candidate having filed a petition of nomination shall file a 

statement of financial disclosure as set forth in section 13-2-3, “Financial Disclosure 
Statement.” B.R.C. 1981. The candidate shall file a supplemental report if there is any 
material change in the information reported after the date of filing within 15 days after the 
material change. 

 
(b)  On or before April 15 of each year, every member of the city council shall file a statement of 

financial disclosure as set forth in section 13-2-3, “Financial Disclosure Statement.” B.R.C. 
1981. Council members shall report any material changes to the information reported, except 
information reported pursuant to paragraph 13-2-3(b)(2), within 15 days of the end of the 
calendar quarter in which the material change occurred. 

 
 
(c) Each Financial Disclosure Statement shall include all information current of the date of filing, 

except information required by 13-2-3(b)(2) shall be reported as of the end of the previous 
calendar year. 

Attachment A- Campaign Financing Disclosure

Agenda Item 3E     Page 7Packet Page     49



  

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7968 3rd rdg.YCO.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
 Section 4.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

 Section 5.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 1st day of April, 2014. 

 
       Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk  
 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 6th day of May, 2014. 

      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A- Campaign Financing Disclosure

Agenda Item 3E     Page 8Packet Page     50



  

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7968 3rd rdg.YCO.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of June, 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 
 

Attachment A- Campaign Financing Disclosure

Agenda Item 3E     Page 9Packet Page     51



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 10Packet Page     52



 

 
 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 
7970 amending Chapter 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981, and Chapter 6-16, 
“Recreational Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981, and setting forth related details. 
 

 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Mishawn Cook, Tax and License Manager  
Beverley Bookout, Police Officer 
Dale Goetz, Building Code Compliance Specialist 
Dave Thacker, Chief Building Official 
David Lowrey, Chief Fire Marshall 
Jeff Kessler, Police Sergeant 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
On April 16, 2014, Council passed on first reading proposed changes to the medical 
marijuana and recreational marijuana provisions of the Boulder Revised Code.  At second 
reading on May 20, 2014, Council approved three amendments to the proposed 
ordinance:  (1) For packaging at retail locations, Council eliminated the added language 
to subsection 6-14-8(t) and 6-16-8(t) that the customer be in the store before the 
packaging from the sale occurs, (2)  in those same subsections, made clear that the 
transfer could be from any cultivation facility, not just one owned by the retail business, 
and (3) extended the date for co-location or conversion of existing medical marijuana 
businesses from May 31, 2014 to December 31, 2014.  Council also directed staff to 
return at a later time with proposals for allowing tours of marijuana facilities by 
regulators or others responsible for implementing or reporting on marijuana businesses.   
 
The ordinance to amend both codes is included as Attachment A to this memo.  The 
changes made by Council at second reading are in bold.  The memorandum for first 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 1Packet Page     53



 

reading can be found in the first reading memorandum; and for second reading can be 
found in the second reading memorandum. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to pass on third reading and adopt Ordinance No. 7970, as presented in 
Attachment A, amending Chapter 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981, and Chapter 
6-16, “Recreational Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981. 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Attachment A:  Proposed Ordinance No. 7970 (with changes between second and 

third reading in bold) 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 2Packet Page     54



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 7970 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6-14, “MEDICAL 
MARIJUANA,” B.R.C. 1981, AND CHAPTER 6-16, 
“RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA,” B.R.C. 1981, AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 6-14-2 “Definitions,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

 
6-14-2. Definitions.  

The following words and phrases used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise: 

… 

"Financier" means any person who lends money or otherwise provides assets to any 
person applying for a license or who has been issued a license under this chapter.  If a 
financier is an entity rather than an individual, the same disclosure shall be required for 
each entity with an ownership interest until a managing member that is a natural person is 
identified.   "Financier" shall not include a bank, savings and loan association, credit 
union, or industrial bank supervised and regulated by an agency of the state or federal 
government. 

… 

"Mall" means the downtown Boulder Business Improvement District boundaries set forth 
in Appendix 8-B of Title 8 of this code, including the downtown pedestrian mall 
established by Ordinance No. 4022, adopted February 18, 1975. 

… 

"University Hill commercial area" means the area described as the University Hill 
General Improvement District in Appendix 8-A of Title 8 of this code. 

… 

 

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 3Packet Page     55



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Section 2.  Section 6-14-7, “Locations of Medical Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, 

is amended by the addition of a new paragraph 6-14-7(f)(4) and a new subsection (i) to read: 

6-14-7. Locations of Medical Marijuana Businesses.  

. . .  

(b) Location – Permitted Use in Zoning District. A medical marijuana business license 
may be issued only if the business qualifies as a use permitted as a matter of right in the 
zone district where it is proposed to be located as follows: 

(1) As "personal services" for a medical marijuana center; 

(2) As "greenhouse/nursery" for a cultivation facility; or 

(3) As "manufacturing ≤15,000 square feet" for a cultivation facility, or for a 
medical marijuana-infused product manufacturer, or for a marijuana testing 
facility. 

. . . 

 (f) Separation from Schools, Day Care Centers, Addiction Recovery Facilities, or Other 
Medical Marijuana Uses: 

          . . .  

 (4) For purposes of this paragraph, “school,” “college,” or “university” shall include 
properties owned by such entities only if they are used to provide services, teaching 
facilities, or living facilities to students.  No distance is required between a marijuana 
business and properties owned by a “school,” “college,” or “university” that are not 
used to provide teaching facilities, living facilities, or services to students . 

. . .  

(i) Limitations at Street Level.  No marijuana business license shall be issued for a medical 
marijuana center at a location on the street level of the mall or the University Hill 
commercial area. 

 
 
Section 3. Subsections (p) and (t) of Section 6-14-8, “Requirements Related to Operation 

of Medical Marijuana Businesses," B.R.C. 1981, are amended, and new paragraph (m)(5) and 

subsection (u) are added to read: 

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 4Packet Page     56



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
6-14-8. Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana Businesses.  

(m)  Delivery Between Medical Marijuana Businesses  

. . . 

(6)  The medical marijuana must be accompanied by the e-mail receipt confirmation from the 
Boulder Police Department in accordance with the rules therefore established by the police 
department; 

(67)  When determining and reporting the route to take, licensees should select the most 
direct route that provides efficiency and safety. 

. . .  

 (p) Advertisement. A medical marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
inconsistent with the medicinal use of medical marijuana. A medical marijuana business may 
not advertise in a manner that is misleading, deceptive, false, or is designed to appeal to 
minors. Advertisement that promotes medical marijuana for recreational or any use other 
than for medicinal purposes shall be a violation of this code. The following conditions shall 
apply: 

. . .  

(2) Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any person 
licensed under this article or any other person to advertise any medical marijuana or 
medical marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where the advertisement is in 
plain view of or in a place open to the general public, including advertising utilizing any 
of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor general advertising device as 
defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a vehicle; any hand-held or other 
portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet, or flier directly handed to any person in a public 
place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any public or private property. The 
prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

(A) Any sign located on the same zone lot as a medical marijuana center which exists 
solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the medical marijuana center and 
which otherwise complies with this code and any other applicable city laws and 
regulations, which sign includes only the name and address of the center; 

… 

(t) Packaging at a Medical Marijuana Center. Provided that medical marijuana has been 
delivered to a medical marijuana center from aits cultivation facility packaged and labeled as 

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 5Packet Page     57



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

provided in this chapter, employees at a medical marijuana center may package and label any 
marijuana that results from the sale of medical marijuana in amounts less than as packaged 
for delivery to the center.  Such packaging may occur only while the customer paying for 
the marijuana being packaged is in the center.   

(u)  Organization of Cultivation Facilities. All cultivation facilities shall be organized in 
orderly rows with aisles at least three feet wide, and no more than eight feet between an aisle 
and the next aisle or an aisle and a wall, and with clear access to all exits, unless the city 
manager determines that the business has provided a dimensioned floor plan that provides 
equivalent access and separation between plants and to exits. 

 

Section 4. Paragraph (a)(29) and subsection (b) of Section 6-14-13, “Prohibited Acts,” 

B.R.C. 1981, are amended, and a new paragraph (a)(35) is added to read: 

6-14-13. Prohibited Acts.  

(a) Prohibited Acts. It shall be unlawful for any person to: 

… 

(29)  Advertise or publish materials, honor coupons, sell or give away products, or display 
signs that are in violation of this code;  

. . .  

(35)  Fail to respond by phone or e-mail as required by Subsection 6-14-8(q). 

(b)  Prima Facie Evidence. Prima facie indicia of impairment or being under the influence of 
marijuana includes bloodshot eyes, watery eyes, eyelid tremors, green particulate on 
tongue, dilated pupils, mental confusion, slowed responses, rigid muscles, body tremors,  
or dry mouth, or any other indicators of impairment. 

 
Section 5. Section 6-14-14, “Suspension or Revocation of Licenses; Imposition of Fines,” 

B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 
 
 

6-14-14. Suspension or Revocation of License; Imposition of Fines.  

…   

 (c) Fines for violations of this chapter may be imposed by the City against the 
personbusiness or any licensee up to $5,000.00 per person and any licensee per occurrence. 

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 6Packet Page     58



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

… 
 
 

Section 6.  Section 6-16-2, “Definitions,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

 
6-16-2. Definitions.  

The following words and phrases used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise: 

. . .  

"Co-located marijuana business" means a medical marijuana wellness center or 
cultivation facility that held a license from the city on October 22, 2013, and applied for 
co-location by MayDecember 31, 2014, that is permitted by the owner of the building 
and all applicable laws, to divide the licensed medical marijuana business to allow for 
both a medical and a recreational marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility as 
separate business premises with separate licenses from the city within the same footprint 
and owned by the same person as the medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility.  The licensees with an ownership or financial interest of either part of a co-
located marijuana business may not be changed to be different from the other.   

… 

"Financier" means any person who lends money or otherwise provides assets to any 
person applying for a license or who has been issued a license under this chapter. If a 
financier is an entity rather than an individual, the same disclosure shall be required for 
each entity with an ownership interest until a managing member that is a natural person is 
identified.  "Financier" shall not include a bank, savings and loan association, credit 
union, or industrial bank supervised and regulated by an agency of the state or federal 
government. 

… 

"Mall" means the downtown Boulder business Business improvement Improvement 
district District boundaries set forth in Appendix 8-B of Title 8 of this code, including the 
downtown pedestrian mall established by Ordinance No. 4022 adopted February 18, 
1975. 

… 
 
Section 7.  Subsections (f), (g) and (h) of Section 6-16-3, “License Required,” B.R.C. 

1981, are amended to read: 

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 7Packet Page     59



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
6-16-3. License Required.  

… 

 (f) Conversion of Licenses to Different Marijuana Business. A license for a marijuana 
establishment may not be converted to a license for a medical marijuana business. A license 
for a medical marijuana business that was licensed, open, and operating on October 22, 2013, 
or that had submitted a complete application for a medical marijuana business on October 22, 
2013, may be converted to the same type of marijuana establishment by complying with the 
requirements of this chapter for a renewal of a marijuana license and paying the application 
fee specified in Section 4-20-67, "Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981, if it 
makes application for the conversion by MayDecember 31, 2014. The license for the 
medical marijuana business must be surrendered to the city before the recreational marijuana 
business license will be issued. The term of the license shall be the same as the existing 
medical marijuana business license. 

(g) Conversion to a Co-located Marijuana Business Within the Footprint of the Medical 
Marijuana Business. A licensee of a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility 
may apply for a co-located marijuana business license byefore MayDecember 31, 2014, by 
submitting an application for a co-located marijuana business on forms approved by the city. 
At a minimum, the application form shall include a modification of the existing medical 
marijuana business to conform to the new footprint of the medical marijuana portion of the 
co-located marijuana business and all components of the application described in Section 6-
16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981, determined applicable by the city manager for the 
recreational marijuana portion of the co-located marijuana business, and paying the 
modification of premises fee and operating fee specified in Section 4-20-67, "Recreational 
Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981. The license for the medical marijuana business must 
be surrendered to the city before the co-located marijuana business license will be issued. 
The term of the co-located marijuana business license shall be the same as the existing 
medical marijuana business license. For purposes of separation from other marijuana 
businesses in Paragraph 6-16-7(e)(2) of this chapter, the co-located medical and recreational 
marijuana business shall be considered one marijuana business.  No co-located medical and 
recreational marijuana business may be sold separately from the other and must maintain 
identical ownership at all times. 

(h) Conversion to a Co-located Marijuana Business in an Expansion of the Existing Footprint 
of the Medical Marijuana Business. A licensee of a medical marijuana wellness center or 
cultivation facility may apply for a co-located marijuana business license within a footprint 
that is an expansion of its existing medical marijuana business before May 31, 2014, by 
submitting an application for modification of the existing medical marijuana business, and an 
application for co-location of a medical and recreational business within the modified 

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 8Packet Page     60



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

premises on forms approved by the city by March 1, 2014. At a minimum, the application 
shall include (i) the same owners and financiers of the existing medical marijuana businesses, 
(ii) the proposed modification of the existing and expanded area of the existing medical 
marijuana business to depict the two new businesses separated as required by this code, (iii) 
all components of the application described in Section 6-16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981, 
determined applicable by the city manager for the recreational marijuana portion of the co-
located marijuana business, and (iv) the modification of premises fee, conversion fee, and 
operating fee specified in Section 6-16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981. The license for the 
medical marijuana business must be surrendered to the city before the co-located marijuana 
business license will be issued. The term of the co-located marijuana business license shall 
be the same as the existing medical marijuana business license. For purposes of separation 
from other marijuana businesses in Paragraph 6-16-7(e)(2) of this chapter, the co-located 
medical and recreational marijuana business shall be considered one marijuana business. No 
co-located medical and recreational marijuana business may be sold separately from the other 
and must maintain identical ownership at all times. 

… 

 
Section 8.  Subsections (b) and (e) of Section 6-16-7, “Locations of Recreational 

Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, are amended by the addition of a new paragraph (8) to 

read: 

 
6-16-7. Locations of Recreational Marijuana Businesses.  

 (b)  Location – Permitted Use in Zoning District. A recreational marijuana business license 
may be issued only if the business qualifies as a use permitted as a matter of right in the zone 
district where it is proposed to be located as follows: 

(1)  as "personal service " for a recreational marijuana center; 

(2)  as "greenhouse/nursery " for a recreational marijuana cultivation facility; or 

(3)  as "manufacturing ≥≤ 15,000 square feet " for a recreational marijuana cultivation 
facility,  or for a marijuana-infused product manufacturer, or for a marijuana testing 
facility. 

. . .  

 (e) Separation From Schools and Other Facilities. 

. . .  

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 9Packet Page     61



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(8) For purposes of this paragraph, “school,” “college,” or “university” shall include 
properties owned by such entities only if they are used to provide services, teaching 
facilities, or living facilities to students.  No distance is required between a marijuana 
business and properties owned by a “school,” “college,” or “university” that are not 
used to provide teaching facilities, living facilities, or services to students. 

… 
 
Section 9. Subsections (p) and (t) of Section 6-16-8, “Requirements Related to Operation 

of Recreational Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, are amended to read: 

6-16-8. Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational Marijuana Businesses.  

. . .  

 (p) Advertisement. A recreational marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
misleading, deceptive, false, or is designed to appeal to minors. The following conditions 
shall apply: 

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any person 
licensed under this article or any other person to advertise any recreational marijuana or 
recreational marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where the advertisement is in 
plain view of, or in, a place open to the general public, including advertising utilizing any 
of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor general advertising device as 
defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a vehicle; any hand-held or other 
portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet or flier directly handed to any person in a public 
place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any public or private property. The 
prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

(A) Any sign located on the same zone lot as a recreational marijuana center which 
exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the recreational marijuana 
center and which otherwise complies with this code and any other applicable city 
laws and regulations, which sign includes only the name and address of the center; 

. . .  

 (t) Packaging at a Recreational Marijuana Center. Provided that recreational marijuana has 
been delivered to a recreational marijuana center from a cultivation facility packaged and 
labeled as provided in this chapter, employees at a recreational marijuana center may 
package and label any marijuana that results from the sale of recreational marijuana in 
amounts less than as packaged for delivery to the center. Such packaging may occur only 
while the customer paying for the marijuana being packaged is in the center.   

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 10Packet Page     62



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

… 

 
Section 10. Paragraph (a)(1) and (27) and subsection (b) of Section 6-16-13, “Prohibited 

Acts,” B.R.C. 1981, are amended and a new paragraph (a)(35) is added to read: 

6-16-13. Prohibited Acts.  

(a) Prohibited Acts. It shall be unlawful for any person to: 

(1) Cultivate, distribute, possess, produce, smoke, use, or ingest marijuana openly or 

publicly in a place open to the general public; 

… 

(27)  Advertise or publish materials, honor coupons, sell or give away products, or display 
signs that are in violation of this code;  

. . .  

(35)  Fail to respond by phone or e-mail as required by Subsection 6-16-8(q). 

(b)  Prima Facie Evidence. Prima facie indicia of impairment or being under the influence of 
marijuana includes bloodshot eyes, watery eyes, eyelid tremors, green particulate on 
tongue, dilated pupils, mental confusion, slowed responses, rigid muscles, body tremors,  
or dry mouth, or any other indicators of impairment. 
 
Section 11. Subsection (c) of Section 6-16-14, “Suspension or Revocation of License; 

Imposition of Fines,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

 
6-16-14. Suspension or Revocation of License; Imposition of Fines.  

. . .  

 (c) Civil penalties for violations of this chapter may be imposed by the city against the 
personbusiness or any licensee up to $5,000 per person and any licensee per occurrence. 

… 

 
Section 12.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 11Packet Page     63



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
Section 13.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of April, 2014. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 20th day of May, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 12Packet Page     64



 

K:\CCCO\Ordinance No. 7970 3rd rdg .2162.doc  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of June, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A- Marijuana

Agenda Item 3F     Page 13Packet Page     65



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 14Packet Page     66



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only,  
Ordinance 7977 vacating, and authorizing the City Manager to execute two deeds of vacation to 
vacate, an emergency access easement and a sidewalk easement in association with an approved 
site review for the Landmark Lofts Phase II multi-family residential development  located at 
970 28th St. 
 
Applicant: Kris Gardner, Drexel, Barrell & Co. 
Property Owner: 970 28TH STREET – PHASE II, LLC 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The applicant is requesting the vacation of a 6.7-foot sidewalk easement and a separate 20 foot 
emergency access easement at 970 28th Street in response to a Site Review for 150 residential 
units with 1,700 square feet of neighborhood retail space that was approved by the Planning 
Board on January 24, 2013 (refer  to the materials at the following link: 
www.bouldercolorado.gov  A to Z Planning Boardsearch for past meeting materials 
planning board201401.24.2013 PB Packet).  
 
The approved rental apartment development includes five interconnected buildings served by a 
multi-modal transportation and fire lane on the northern portion of the property and the planned 
right of way for the extension of Euclid Avenue along the south property line.   
 
The subject sidewalk easement was dedicated to the public in 2002 and the subject emergency 
access easement was dedicated as part of the original Landmark Lofts Phase I (2870 E. College – 
south east corner of 28th & College) Site Review approval in 2008.  Refer to Figure 1 for a 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 1Packet Page     67



context map.  Due to changes made to the Landmark Lofts II (970 28tth Street) site design 
through a Site Review Amendment process in 2013, the previously dedicated easements must be 
modified slightly to accommodate the new Landmark Lofts II site plan. There is no public need 
for the easements that are planned to be vacated because separate public access easements have 
been dedicated to accommodate public and emergency access across the site with the approved 
Site Review Amendment.   

 
On May 20, 2014, City Council approved first reading of the draft ordinance and did not 
have any questions for staff. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff finds that the criteria of section 8-6-9, “Vacation of Public Rights-of-Way and 
Public Access Easements,” B.R.C. 1981 can be met and recommends that the City 
Council take the following action: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt Ordinance 7977 vacating, and authorizing the City Manager to execute 
two Deeds of Vacation to vacate, an emergency access easement and a sidewalk 
easement at 970 28th Streets. 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic:  None identified. 

Figure 1:  Context Map 

CR

E COLLEGE

28
TH

   
   

  S
T

30
TH

ADAMS

KE
N

T 
ST

AV
2870 E. College
Landmark Lofts I

970 28th
Landmark Lofts II

Agenda Item 3G     Page 2Packet Page     68



 Environmental:  None identified. 

 Social: None identified. 
 
 
OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal: No impact. 

 Staff time: The vacation application has been processed through the provisions of 
a standard vacation process and is within normal staff work plans. 

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Notification was sent to the Planning Board on April 28, 2014 in conformance with 
Section 79 of the Boulder City Charter.  
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
All notice requirements of section 9-4-3, “Public Notice Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981 
have been met.  Public notice of this proposed vacation was sent to property owners 
within 600 feet of the project on February 21, 2014.  Staff has received no comments 
from the public. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The subject property is located east of and adjacent to the 28th Street frontage road and south of 
East College Avenue in a Residential – High 3 (RH-3) zoning district (a Vicinity Map with 
zoning is provided in Attachment A).  The two easements to be vacated are shown in Figure 2 
and include a 6.7-foot sidewalk easement to be vacated that runs along the west property line that 

Figure 2:  Easements to Be Vacated (shown on existing site) 

6.7 foot Sidewalk 
Easement to Be 

Vacated 

Emergency Access 
Easement to Be Vacated 

 
28

th
 S

t 

 
Subject Property:  

970 28th Street 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 3Packet Page     69



was dedicated in 2002.  The emergency access easement runs along the north and east sides of 
the property and was dedicated in 2008.  The easement on the north was required as part of the 
Landmark Lofts Phase I approval of the project in 2002, which was completed with the planned 
shared emergency access between the properties.  In 2008, the initial Site Review was approved 
for Landmark Lofts II, however, the original project was never built due to the national 
economic downturn. A revised site plan was approved in January 2013 through the Site Review 
amendment process for the 150 student apartment units in five buildings.  Refer to Figure 3 that 
illustrates the relationship between Landmark Lofts Phases I and II and the access easement that 
is located between the two phases.  The vacation of these easements is necessary due to the 
revised site plan for Landmark Lofts II and to avoid encroachment of buildings into the 
easement.  The access easement, though slightly relocated and rededicated will remain between 
the two phases of Landmark Lofts. 
 
The new site plan for Landmark Lofts II was approved with a multi-use path connection on the 
north and east sides of the site, as envisioned in the 28th Street Frontage Road Transportation 
Connections Plan (TCP). The revised plans for Landmark Lofts II now includes the extension of 
Euclid Avenue from Adams Circle to 28th Street on the south side of the site also in keeping 
with the TCP.  An excerpt from the TCP is provided in Figure 4. To illustrate the relationship 
between the existing easements to-be-vacated and the slight variation with the re-dedicated 
easements from the 2013 Site Plan that still meet the intent of the TCP, refer to Figure 5.  
 
Because new public access and utility easements were dedicated to accommodate the sidewalk 
connection on 28th Street, there is no longer a public need for the easements. Emergency and 
pedestrian access will continue to be accommodated on the north and east sides of the property, 
just in a slightly different configuration.  The proposal is considered consistent with the adopted 
28th Street Frontage TCP.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
In order to vacate the existing easements the City Council would have to conclude that 
the criteria under subsection 8-6-9(c), B.R.C. 1981 are met and approve an ordinance.  
The subject easements have historically carried vehicular and pedestrian traffic and thus 
need to be vacated by ordinance.  Staff has reviewed this vacation request and has 
concluded that the criteria can be met as discussed below. 
(1) The applicant must demonstrate that the public purpose for which an easement or right-of-

way was originally acquired or dedicated is no longer valid or necessary for public use; 

The site design was changed since the easements were initially dedicated and the 
easements were modified to resolve building encroachments.  A public access and 
utility easement was recently re-dedicated along the west and south sides of the 
property for sidewalk connections, and a modified public access and utility easement 
was re-dedicated for public access and utilities on the north.  For these reasons, the 
existing easements must be vacated as the improvements proposed with the new 
development will provide the same public benefit by meeting the adopted 28th Street 
Frontage Transportation Connections Plan. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 4Packet Page     70



Figure 3:  Landmark Lofts Phases I and II with General Location of Public Access Easements 

Figure 4:  28th Street Frontage Road Transportation Connections Plan (TCP) 

970 28th  
Street  

Euclid Avenue

Agenda Item 3G     Page 5Packet Page     71



 
 

 

Newly dedicated  20-foot public 
access and utility easement 

shown in grey  
overlaid with emergency access 

easement to be vacated  
shown in red. 

 
 

 
 
 

Newly dedicated 6-foot public 
access and utility easement 

shown on west side (underneath) 
the 6.7’ easement to be vacated  

shown in yellow 
 
 

Figure 5: Relationship of the existing to-be-vacated easements and the recently re-dedicated easements 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 6Packet Page     72



(2) All agencies and departments having a conceivable interest in the easement or right-of-
way must indicate that no need exists, either at present or conceivable in the future, to 
retain the property as an easement or right-of-way, either for its original purpose or for 
some other public purpose unless the vacation ordinance retains the needed utility or 
right-of-way easement; 
 
The proposed vacations were been evaluated by the Planning, Public Works and 
Fire Departments and it was collectively concluded that the public entities would 
have no conceivable future interest in the existing easements.  Public access and 
utility easements were dedicated to cover the sidewalk connection and the 
emergency access and pedestrian connection.  The utility suppliers of CenturyLink, 
Comcast, and Xcel have also approved the request. 

(3) The applicant must demonstrate, consistent with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan and the City's land use regulations, either: 

(A) That failure to vacate an existing right-of-way or easement on the property 
would cause a substantial hardship to the use of the property consistent with 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and the City's land use regulations; 
or 

 Not Applicable.  

(B) That vacation of the easement or right-of-way would actually provide a 
greater public benefit than retaining the property in its present status. 

The vacations would result in a greater public benefit by providing for an 
improved site design for redevelopment.  The development proposal furthers 
connectivity by accommodating future connections as identified in the 28th 
Street Frontage Road Transportation Connections Plan (TCP).  The vacations 
will accommodate modifications to the building locations.  The public 
purposes for which the easements were dedicated have been protected under 
separate easement dedications. 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Attachment A:   Vicinity Map 
Attachment B: Ordinance 7977 
Attachment C: Deed of Vacation: Emergency Access Easement 
Attachment D: Deed of Vacation: Sidewalk Easement 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 7Packet Page     73



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 8Packet Page     74



 
 
 

 
 

Attachment A - Vicinity Map with Zoning 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 9Packet Page     75



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 10Packet Page     76



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 7977 
 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND AUTHORIZING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A DEED OF VACATION 
FOR AN EMERGENCY ACCESS EASEMENT AND A 
SIDEWALK EASEMENT GENERALLY LOCATED AT 970 
28TH STREET AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER FINDS AND RECITES THAT: 

A.  970 28TH STREET – PHASE II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the 

owner of the property located at 970 28th Street, Boulder, CO, known as Landmark Lofts II, has 

requested that the city vacate an Emergency Access Easement and a Sidewalk Easement; and 

B.  The City Council is of the opinion that the requested vacations are in the public 

interest and that said easements are not necessary for the public use. 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section 1.  The City Council vacates and authorizes the city manager to execute a deed of 

vacation for the emergency access easement as dedicated to the City of Boulder in the records of 

the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder Reception No. 2961042 on the 23rd day of October 

2008 and as more particularly described in Exhibit A. 

Section 2.  The City Council vacates and authorizes the city manager to execute a deed of 

vacation for the sidewalk easement as dedicated to the City of Boulder in the records of the 

Boulder County Clerk and Recorder Reception No. 2205192 on the 8th day of October 2001 and 

as more particularly described in Exhibit B. 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 7977

Agenda Item 3G     Page 11Packet Page     77



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 Section 4.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 20th day of May, 2014. 

      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of June, 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 7977

Agenda Item 3G     Page 12Packet Page     78



Attachment B - Ordinance No. 7977

Agenda Item 3G     Page 13Packet Page     79



Attachment B - Ordinance No. 7977

Agenda Item 3G     Page 14Packet Page     80



             EXHIBIT B

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 7977

Agenda Item 3G     Page 15Packet Page     81



       EXHIBIT B

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 7977

Agenda Item 3G     Page 16Packet Page     82



 
  
 For Administrative Purposes Only 
 Address:  970 28th St (ER Access Esmt) 
 Case No.  LUR2014-00014 

 
DEED OF VACATION 

 
The City of Boulder, Colorado, does hereby vacate and release to the present owner of the subservient land, 
in the manner prescribed by Section 43-2-302, C.R.S., an emergency access easement previously dedicated 
to the City of Boulder and recorded in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder at Reception 
No. 2961042 on the 23rd day of October, 2008, located at 970 28th Street and as more particularly 
described as follows: 
 

See Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 
 
The above easement vacation and release of said easement at 970 28th Street shall extend only to the 
portion and the type of easements specifically vacated.  The within vacation is not to be construed as 
vacating any rights-of-way, easements or cross-easements lying within the description of the vacated 
portion of the easement, including, but not limited to, the Public Access and Utility Easement recorded in 
the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder at Reception No. 03376706 on April 24, 2014. 
 
Executed this _______ day of ________________, 20__, by the City Manager after having received 
authorization from the City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, pursuant to Ordinance No. ______, 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado. 
 
 
CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 
 
By:____________________________ 
      Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 
Attest: 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
Approved as to form: 
 
_______________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 
_________________ 
Date 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Attachment C - Deed of Vacation: Emergency Access Easement 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 17Packet Page     83



Attachment C - Deed of Vacation: Emergency Access Easement

Agenda Item 3G     Page 18Packet Page     84



Attachment C - Deed of Vacation: Emergency Access Easement

Agenda Item 3G     Page 19Packet Page     85



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 20Packet Page     86



 
 

 
 For Administrative Purposes Only 
 Address:  970 28th St (Sidewalk Esmt) 
 Case No.  LUR2014-00014 

 
DEED OF VACATION 

 
 
The City of Boulder, Colorado, does hereby vacate and release to the present owner(s) of the subservient 
land, in the manner prescribed by Section 43-2-302, C.R.S., a sidewalk easement previously dedicated to 
the City of Boulder and recorded in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder at Reception No. 
2205192 on the 8th day of October, 2001, located at 970 28th Street and as more particularly described as 
follows: 
 

See Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 
The above easement vacation and release of said easement at 970 28th Street shall extend only to the 
portion and the type of easements specifically vacated.  The within vacation is not to be construed as 
vacating any rights-of-way, easements or cross-easements lying within the description of the vacated 
portion of the easement. 
 
 
Executed this _______ day of ________________, 20__, by the City Manager after having received 
authorization from the City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, pursuant to Ordinance No. ______, 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado. 
 
 
CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 
 
By:____________________________ 
      Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 
Attest: 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
Approved as to form: 
 
_______________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 
_________________ 
Date 
 
 

 
 
 

Attachment D - Deed of Vacation: Sidewalk Easement 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 21Packet Page     87



Attachment D - Deed of Vacation: Sidewalk Easement

Agenda Item 3G     Page 22Packet Page     88



Attachment D - Deed of Vacation: Sidewalk Easement

Agenda Item 3G     Page 23Packet Page     89



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 24Packet Page     90



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

AGENDA TITLE: 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only, an 
ordinance designating the building and property at 2104 Bluff St., to be known as the Kelso 
House, as an individual landmark under the city’s Historic Preservation Ordinance.   

Owner/Applicant: Chad and Kristen Watson 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner  
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The purpose of this item is to allow the City Council to determine whether the proposed 
individual landmark designation of the building at 2104 Bluff St. meets the purposes and 
standards of the Historic Preservation Ordinance (Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 1981).  
The property owner is in support of the designation.   

If approved, this ordinance (see Attachment A) would designate the building as an 
individual landmark.  The findings are included in the ordinance.  The landmark designation 
application was submitted by the property owner on February 27, 2014, and was heard by the 
Landmarks Board on May 7, 2017. The board voted 5-0 to recommend the designation to the 
City Council. The second reading for this designation will be a quasi-judicial public hearing.   

Agenda Item 3H     Page 1Packet Page     91



 

 

BACKGROUND: 
On February 27, 2014, the city received an application from Chad and Kristen Watson for 
individual landmark designation of the property at 2104 Bluff St. A demolition permit 
application was initially submitted for the project, as a street-facing wall was proposed for 
removal. After discussions with the owner and architect, the demolition permit application 
was withdrawn and applications for landmark designation and a Landmark Alteration 
Certificate (LAC) were submitted. On March 12, 2014, the applicant received an LAC for the 
construction of a rear addition. Historic Boulder, Inc. holds a historic preservation easement 
on the property; a legal agreement that specifies all changes to the property must be reviewed 
and approved by that organization.   
 

 
Figure 1. Location Map, 2104 Bluff St. 

 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 
The property at 2104 Bluff St. is located on the northwest corner of 21st St. and Bluff St. An 
alley runs along the north edge of the property. It is located within the boundaries of the 
potential Walnut Street Historic District which was identified as potentially eligible for 
designation in 1988. 
 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 2Packet Page     92



 

 

 
Figure 2: 2104 Bluff St., North Façade, Tax Assessor Card photograph c.1949. 

Photograph Courtesy the Carnegie Branch Library for Local History. 
 

The one-and-one-half story building was built in 1903 and is an excellent example of  
Edwardian vernacular house design in Boulder. The frame and masonry building has a varied 
roofline, with flared gable and hipped roof dormers. The building’s tall, center gable flares 
out into the semi-circular, wrap-around porch, which is supported by paired and single 
columns that rest upon paneled newel posts. Each gable end has a window with an architrave 
surround, and a second story balcony with simple supports is located on the north façade. 
The first-floor windows have segmental arches and stone sills, and the gabled ends are clad 
in painted wooden shingles. The original portion of the house remains largely intact, with no 
significant alterations. A rear addition, constructed in 1994, closely reflects the design of the 
original house. 

 
The 1987 Historic Building Inventory Form indicates that the building may be eligible for 
listing on the National Register of Historic Places and that it possesses high artistic value. See 
Attachment B: 1987 Historic Building Inventory Form. 
 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 3Packet Page     93



 

 

 
  Figure 3: North elevation, 2104 Bluff St., 2014.   

  
 

 
Figure 4: Northwest corner, 2104 Bluff St., 2014. 

 
 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 4Packet Page     94



 

 

 
Figure 5: West elevation, 2104 Bluff St., 2014. 

 
 

 
Figure 6: Southwest corner, view of rear addition, 2104 Bluff St., 2014. 

 
In March 2014, the applicant received a Landmark Alteration Certificate to remove a c.1980s 
addition and construct a new addition at the rear of the house  
  

 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 5Packet Page     95



 

 

 
Figure 7: Proposed West Elevation, Landmark Alteration Certificate plans, 2014. 

  
 

The house has had a number of owners over the past 109 years. In 1903, Helen Smith sold 
the lot to Fernando Neptune and a year later the address first appeared in city directories. 
Rev. Neptune lived here with his wife Mary and their son Robert. Rev. Neptune was a 
Methodist minister . By 1913 he and his wife had moved to San Diego, CA.  
 
 

 
Figure 9: Rev. Fernando Neptune and his wife, Mary and son, Robert. Date unknown.  

 
From 1911 until 1933, the house was owned by Lucy Hobson. Mrs. Hobson was born in 
1846 in Ohio and was married to James H. Hobson (occupation unknown). Mrs. Hobson 
lived at 2104 Bluff St. with her daughter, Lola, and son-in-law, Leslie Kelso, two 
granddaughters, and Gladys Erickson, a live in maid who was born in Montana to Swedish 
parents.  
 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 6Packet Page     96



 

 

Leslie B. Kelso, 
c.1920 

Leslie B. Kelso was born in 1885 and moved to Boulder from 
St. Joseph, Missouri with his parents, Lewis and Rebecca Kelso, 
in 1902. He attended the State Preparatory School in Boulder, 
and married Lola Ferona Hobson, an English instructor at the 
Preparatory School (later Boulder High School), in 1912. Active 
with several local fraternal orders, Kelso was chancellor 
commander of the Boulder Lodge of the Knights of Pythias. 
 
Kelso worked as a mortician with the J. G. Trezise Undertaking 
Company from 1902 to 1918. He served as deputy county 
coroner under his employer John G. Trezise from about 1910 
until 1912 when he was elected as Democratic coroner to 
succeed Trezise. Kelso took office in 1913, beginning a popular 
tenure as Boulder county coroner. In 1919, Kelso opened his 
own funeral parlor after nearly seventeen years with the Trezise 
establishment. Kelso's funeral parlor was located in the Odd 

Fellows' building at the corner of Sixteenth and Pearl Streets in 
Boulder, on the site previously occupied by the A. E. Howe 
mortuary. 

 
The Boulder Daily Camera reported on April 29, 1945 that he sold his interest in the Kelso-
Allardice Mortuary to his partner, John F. Allardice after 43 years in the mortuary business. 
Kelso and died in 1968, the same year he and his wife returned to Boulder after moving to 
Bradenton, Florida in 1947.  
 
After Lucy Hobson died, the property passed to Lola Kelso, who sold it a year later. The 
property was purchased and sold frequently in the 1930s and early 1940s, until Earl 
Bluebaugh purchased the property in 1943 and owned it until 1984.  
 
Earl Bluebaugh and his wife, Sophia, lived at 2104 Bluff St. from 1943 until 1984. In 1917, 
the Bluebaughs were married in Ft. Morgan, where Earl worked as a farm manager and they 
moved to Boulder in 1936. The Bluebaughs had six sons, Charles, Earl, Jr., Edward, Harold, 
Victor and Robert, and one daughter, Betty Lou. Earl and his wife owned and operated the 
Colorado Dairy from 1925 until 1946, when they sold it to Meadow Gold. From 1947 until 
1957, they operated Bungalow Grocery, located at 10th and Aurora. Earl then began working 
at the Boulder-Denver Turnpike as a toll collector. Mr. and Mrs. Bluebaugh belonged to the 
First Presbyterian Church. Earl also belonged to the Boulder Elks Lodge No. 566 and his 
church’s Senior Club. Mrs. Bluebaugh was a member of Royal Neighbors.  
 
In 1984, Historic Boulder, Inc. purchased and restored the property as part of a hands-on 
workshop called Renovate Our Architectural Resources (R.O.A.R.) The project was given 
widespread publicity and received an award from the National Trust for Historic 
Preservation. When the house subsequently went up for bid, it was purchased by two 
workshop participants, William and Ann Coburn. Historic Boulder, Inc. continues to hold a 
façade easement on the property; all exterior changes must be reviewed and approved by the 
organization.   
 
The current owners purchased the property in 2011. 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 7Packet Page     97



 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to introduce and order published by title only an ordinance designating 
the building at 2104 Bluff St., to be known as the Kelso House, as an individual 
landmark under the City of Boulder’s Historic Preservation Ordinance.   

 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
Economic:  Owners of locally designated landmarked properties are eligible for state and 
local tax credits for approved rehabilitation and repair, and studies have found that historic 
preservation adds to economic vitality and tourism.  Exterior changes to individually 
landmarked buildings require a Landmark Alteration Certificate, issued by the Community 
Planning and Sustainability Department at no charge.  The additional review process for 
landmarked buildings may, however, add time and design expense to a project.  

 
Environmental: The preservation of historic buildings is inherently sustainable. Owners of 
individually landmarked buildings are encouraged to reuse and repair as much of the original 
building as possible when making exterior alterations, thereby reducing the amount of 
building material waste deposited in landfills.  City staff can assist architects, contractors and 
homeowners with design and material selections and sources that are environmentally 
friendly.  Also, the Historic Preservation website provides information on improving the 
energy efficiency of older buildings. 
 
Social:  The Historic Preservation Ordinance was adopted to “…enhance property values, 
stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the city’s 
living heritage.”  Section 9-11-1 (a), B.R.C., 1981.  The primary beneficiaries of historic 
designation are the property owners of a historic landmark and adjacent neighbors, who are 
ensured that the character of the immediate area will be protected through the design review 
process.  The greater community also benefits from the preservation of the community’s 
character and history.  
 
OTHER IMPACTS: 
Fiscal:  The designation of individual historic landmarks is an anticipated and ongoing 
function of the Historic Preservation Program.   
 
Staff Time: This designation application is within the staff work plan. 
 
LANDMARKS BOARD ACTION:  
On May 7, 2014 the Landmarks Board voted 5-0 to recommend to City Council that the 
building at 2104 Bluff Street be designated as a local historic landmark, finding that it meets 
the standards for individual landmark designations in sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 
1981, and is consistent with the criteria specified in section 9-11-5(c), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 8Packet Page     98



 

 

ANALYSIS: 
Criteria for Review 
Section 9-11-6(b), B.R.C. 1981, specifies that during the review for an application for local 
landmark designation, the council must consider “whether the designation meets the purposes 
and standards in subsection 9-11-1(a) and section 9-11-2, “City Council May Designate or 
Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts,” B.R.C. 1981, in balance with the goals and 
policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan” and provides that the City Council 
“shall approve by ordinance, modify and approve by ordinance, or disapprove the proposed 
designation.” 
 
Historic, Architectural, and Environmental Significance 
Staff finds that the proposed application to landmark 2104 Bluff St. will protect, enhance, 
and perpetuate a property reminiscent of a past era important in local history and preserve an 
important example of Boulder’s historic architecture. Staff considers the application to meet 
the historic criteria for individual landmark designation as outlined below: 
 
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary: The house at 2104 Bluff St. is believed to have historic significance under criteria 1, 2, 
and 4.  
 
1. Date of Construction: 1903    

Elaboration: The house first appears in the city directories in 1903, shortly after the property 
was purchased by Rev. Fernando Neptune. 

 
2. Association with Persons or Events: Leslie Kelso 

Elaboration: Leslie Kelso was born in 1885 in St. Louis, MO. He came to Boulder, CO 
in 1902 and married Lola Hobson in 1912. Kelso worked as a mortician with the J.G. 
Trezise Undertaking Company from 1902 to 1918. He served as deputy county coroner 
under his employer John G. Trezise from about 1910 until 1912 when he was elected as 
Democratic coroner to succeed Trezise. Kelso took office in 1913, beginning a popular 
tenure as Boulder county coroner. In 1919, Kelso opened his own funeral parlor after 
nearly seventeen years with the Trezise establishment. Kelso’s funeral parlor was located 
in the Odd Fellow’s building at the corner of 16th and Pearl Streets and operated until 
1945. He retired after 43 years in the mortuary business. He died in 1968 in Boulder.  

 
3. Development of the Community: None observed 

 
4. Recognition by Authorities: The 1987 Historic Building Inventory Form found the 

house to be an excellent example of an Edwardian cottage, a visual landmark, and an 
important addition to the architectural diversity of the Whittier neighborhood. The survey 
indicates that the building may be eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic 
Places and that it possesses high artistic value.  

 
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The house at 2104 Bluff St. is believed to have architectural significance under 
criteria 1 and 3. 
 

 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 9Packet Page     99



 

 

1. Recognized Period or Style: Edwardian Cottage 
Elaboration:  The house is an excellent example of an Edwardian Cottage. The 
building’s varied roofline and wall surfaces, wrap-around porch, and original porch 
detail, make it a visual landmark in the neighborhood. According to the Guide to 
Colorado’s Historic Architecture and Engineering, the Edwardian form is similar to 
the Queen Anne style in form and massing but lacking in ornamentation. Edwardian 
building feature multi-gabled roofs, asymmetrical massing, simple surfaces, and 
occasionally wrap-around porches and classical detailing. The house at 2104 Bluff St. 
exhibits all of these elements, including a wrap-around porch, asymmetrical massing, 
multi-gabled roof and classical detailing. 

2. Architect or Builder of Prominence: None observed 
 

3. Artistic Merit: High Artistic Value  
Elaboration: The house exhibits high artistic value, evidenced through its fine 
classical detailing and a skillful integration of design, material and color with is of 
excellent visual quality 

 
      4.  Example of the Uncommon: None observed 

 
5. Indigenous Qualities: None observed 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The house at 2104 Bluff St. has environmental significance under criterion 3 and 5.   
 

1. Site Characteristics: Situated in close proximity to east Pearl Street, this lot features 
mature trees and vegetation. 

 
2. Compatibility with Site: None observed 

 
3. Geographic Importance: The house is located on prominent corner at 21st and Bluff 

Streets and is located within the potential Whittier Historic District.  
 
4. Environmental Appropriateness: None observed 
 
5. Area Integrity: The property is located in the potential Whittier Historic District, 

which retains its residential historic character. 
 
 
OPTIONS:  
 
City Council may approve, modify or not approve the first reading ordinance.   
 
Approved By: 
 
_____________________ 
Jane S. Brautigam, 
City Manager   

Agenda Item 3H     Page 10Packet Page     100



 

 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A: Ordinance No._____  
B: Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981 
C: Significance Criteria for individual landmarks  
 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 11Packet Page     101



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 12Packet Page     102



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 
ORDINANCE  NO. ____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING THE BUILDING AND THE 
PROPERTY AT 2104 BLUFF STREET, CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO, ALSO KNOWN AS THE KELSO HOUSE, A 
LANDMARK UNDER CHAPTER 9-11, “HISTORIC 
PRESERVATION” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH 
DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section l. The council enacts this ordinance pursuant to its authority under Chapter 9-11, 

“Historic Preservation,” B.R.C. 1981, to designate as a landmark a property having a special 

character or special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value. 

Section 2. The council finds that: 1) on or about February 27, 2014, property owner Chad 

Watson applied to the City of Boulder to designate the building and property at said property as a 

landmark; 2) the Landmarks Board held a public hearing on the proposed designation on May 7, 

2014; and 3) on May 7, 2014, the board recommended that the council approve the proposed 

designation. 

 Section 3. The council also finds that upon public notice required by law, the council held 

a public hearing on the proposed designation on June 3, 2014 and upon the basis of the 

presentations at that hearing finds that the building and the property at 2104 Bluff Street does 

possess a special character and special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value 

warranting its designation as a landmark. 

Section 4. The characteristics of the subject property that justify its designation as a landmark 

are: 1) its historic significance is relevant to its construction in 1903, its association with Leslie 

Kelso, and its recognition as a example of an Edwardian cottage  2) its architectural significance 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. ____

Agenda Item 3H     Page 13Packet Page     103



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

indicative of the Edwardian Cottage style, evidenced in its varied roof line, wrap-around porch 

and classical detailing, and its high artistic value through a skillful integration of design, material 

and color; and 3) its environmental significance for its geographic importance as a prominent 

visual landmark within the potential Whittier Historic District, which retains its residential 

historic character.      

 Section 5. The council further finds that the foregoing landmark designation is necessary 

to promote the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the city. 

 Section 6. There is hereby created as a landmark the building and property located at 

2104 Bluff Street, also known as the Kelso House, whose legal landmark boundary is identical to 

the boundary of the legal lots upon which it sits:  

LOT 6 BLK 182 BOULDER EAST, BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO 

as depicted in the proposed landmark boundary map, attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
 
Section 7. The council directs that the department of Community Planning and 

Sustainability give prompt notice of this designation to the property owner and cause a copy of 

this ordinance to be recorded as described in Subsection 9-11-6(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 8. The council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only 

and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for public 

inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE 
ONLY THIS 3RD DAY OF JUNE 2014. 
 
 
 
 

       Mayor 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. ____

Agenda Item 3H     Page 14Packet Page     104



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY THIS 17TH DAY OF JUNE, 2014. 

 
     
    
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. ____

Agenda Item 3H     Page 15Packet Page     105



 

 

Exhibit A – Landmark Boundary Map for 2104 Bluff St. 

LOT 6 BLK 182 BOULDER EAST, BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO 

 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. ____

Agenda Item 3H     Page 16Packet Page     106



 

9-11-1 & 9-11-2 Purposes and Intent 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981 

 
9-11-1: Purpose and Legislative Intent states: 

(a) The purpose of this chapter is to promote the public health, safety, and welfare by protecting, 
enhancing, and perpetuating buildings, sites, and areas of the city reminiscent of past eras, 
events, and persons important in local, state, or national history or providing significant 
examples of architectural styles of the past. It is also the purpose of this chapter to develop 
and maintain appropriate settings and environments for such buildings, sites, and areas to 
enhance property values, stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and 
foster knowledge of the city’s living heritage. 

(b) The City Council does not intend by this chapter to preserve every old building in the city but 
instead to draw a reasonable balance between private property rights and the public interest in 
preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage by ensuring that demolition 
of buildings and structures important to that heritage will be carefully weighed with other 
alternatives and that alterations to such buildings and structures and new construction will 
respect the character of each such setting, not by imitating surrounding structures, but by 
being compatible with them. 

(c) The City Council intends that in reviewing applications for alterations to and new 
construction on landmarks or structures in a historic district, the Landmarks Board shall 
follow relevant city policies, including, without limitation, energy-efficient design, access for 
the disabled and creative approaches to renovation.  

 

9-11-2:  City Council may Designate or Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts states: 

(a) Pursuant to the procedures in this chapter the City Council may by ordinance: 
(1) Designate as a landmark an individual building or other feature or an 

integrated group of structures or features on a single lot or site having a 
special character and historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value 
and designate a landmark site for each landmark; 

(2) Designate as a historic district a contiguous area containing a number of 
sites, buildings, structures or features having a special character and 
historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value and constituting a 
distinct section of the city;  

(3) Designate as a discontiguous historic district a collection of sites, buildings, 
structures, or features which are contained in two or more geographically 
separate areas,  having a special character and historical, architectural, or 
aesthetic interest or value that are united together by historical, architectural, 
or aesthetic characteristics; and 

(4) Amend designations to add features or property to or from the site or district. 

(b) Upon designation, the property included in any such designation is subject to all the 
requirements of this code and other ordinances of the city. 

  
 

Attachment B - Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, "Purposes and Intent," B.R.C., 1981

Agenda Item 3H     Page 17Packet Page     107



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 18Packet Page     108



 
SIGNIFICANCE CRITERIA 

Individual Landmark 
September 1975 

 
On September 6, 1975, the City Council adopted Ordinance #4000 providing procedures 

for the designation of Landmarks and Historic Districts in the City of Boulder.   The purpose of 
the ordinance is the preservation of the City’s permitted cultural, historic, and architectural 
heritage.  The Landmarks Board is permitted by the ordinance to adopt rules and regulations as it 
deems necessary for its own organization and procedures.  The following Significance Criteria 
have been adopted by the board to help evaluate each potential designation in a consistent and 
equitable manner.   
 
Historic Significance 
 

The place (building, site, area) should show character, interest or value as part of the 
development, heritage, or cultural characteristics of the community, state or nation; be the 
site of a historic, or prehistoric event that had an effect upon society; or exemplify the 
cultural, political, economic, or social heritage of the community. 
 
Date of Construction: This area of consideration places particular importance on the age 
of the structure. 

Association with Historical Persons or Events: This association could be national, state, 
or local. 

Distinction in the Development of the Community of Boulder: This is most applicable to 
an institution (religious, educational, civic, etc) or business structure, though in some 
cases residences might qualify.  It stresses the importance of preserving those places 
which demonstrate the growth during different time spans in the history of Boulder, in 
order to maintain an awareness of our cultural, economic, social or political heritage. 

Recognition by Authorities: If it is recognized by Historic Boulder, Inc. the Boulder 
Historical Society, local historians (Barker, Crossen, Frink, Gladden, Paddock, 
Schooland, etc), State Historical Society, The Improvement of Boulder, Colorado by F.L. 
Olmsted, or others in published form as having historic interest and value.  

Other, if applicable.  

Architectural Significance 
 

The place should embody those distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type 
specimen, a good example of the common; be the work of an architect or master builder, 
known nationally, state-wide, or locally, and perhaps whose work has influenced later 
development; contain elements of architectural design, detail, materials or craftsmanship 
which represent a significant innovation; or be a fine example of the uncommon. 

 

Attachment C - Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

Agenda Item 3H     Page 19Packet Page     109



Recognized Period/Style: It should exemplify specific elements of an architectural 
period/style, i.e.: Victorian, Revival styles, such as described by Historic American 
Building Survey Criteria, Gingerbread Age (Maass), 76 Boulder Homes (Barkar), The 
History of Architectural Style (Marcus/Wiffin), Architecture in San Francisco (Gebhard 
et al), History of Architecture (Fletcher), Architecture/Colorado, and any other published 
source of universal or local analysis of a style. 

Architect or Builder of Prominence: A good example of the work of an architect or 
builder who is recognized for expertise in his field nationally, state-wide, or locally. 

Artistic Merit: A skillful integration of design, material, and color which is of excellent 
visual quality and/or demonstrates superior craftsmanship. 

Example of the Uncommon: Elements of architectural design, details, or craftsmanship 
that are representative of a significant innovation. 

Indigenous Qualities: A style or material that is particularly associated with the Boulder 
area. 

Other, if applicable. 

Environmental Significance 
 

The place should enhance the variety, interest, and sense of identity of the community by 
the protection of the unique natural and man-made environment. 
 
Site Characteristics: It should be of high quality in terms of planned or natural vegetation. 

Compatibility with Site: Consideration will be given to scale, massing placement, or 
other qualities of design with respect to its site. 

Geographic Importance: Due to its unique location or singular physical characteristics, it 
represents an established and familiar visual feature of the community. 

Environmental Appropriateness: The surroundings are complementary and/or it is 
situated in a manner particularly suited to its function. 

Area Integrity: Places which provide historical, architectural, or environmental 
importance and continuity of an existing condition, although taken singularly or out of 
context might not qualify under other criteria. 

 
 

Attachment C - Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

Agenda Item 3H     Page 20Packet Page     110



 

 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE:  June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE   

Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7972 approving 
supplemental appropriations to the 2014 Budget. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Elena Lazarevska, Senior Financial Analyst 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

As described in the “Budget Philosophy and Process” section of the annual budget document, 
each year two supplemental ordinances are presented to City Council for review and approval. 
Council receives the first ordinance, the Carryover and First Budget Supplemental, in 
April/May. Council receives the second ordinance, the Second and Final Budget 

Supplemental, in November/December.  
 
The supplemental ordinances adjust only the current year budget and are considered “one-time” 
adjustments. As a result, they have no direct or immediate impact on the following year’s budget. 
In contrast, the city assigns budget requests with “ongoing” or multi-year impacts only to the 
annual budget process (budget planning for the coming fiscal year) and not to either budget 
supplemental.   
 
This packet includes budget supplemental “one-time” line items that represent the following two 
categories of budget supplemental requests: 
 

 Carryover of 2013 budgeted amounts, not fully expended, and 
 New budgeted amounts for 2014. 

 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 1Packet Page     111



 

 

Ordinance No. 7944 appropriating the 2014 budget included estimates of the carryover into 
2014. This packet also includes negative appropriations that remove those estimates and replace 
them with the revised amounts of funds to be carried over, as noted above.   
 
A proposed ordinance is provided as Attachment A to this packet. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 

Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7972 approving supplemental appropriations to the 2014 
Budget. 
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene as the 
Central Area General Improvement District (CAGID) Board of Directors. 
 
 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

This supplemental ordinance appropriates funding for a variety of citywide projects and services 
that positively affect economic, environmental or social sustainability in the community. 
 
OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal:  In the General Fund this ordinance will appropriate $761,478 from additional 
revenue, $5,000 from fund balance reserves, and $5,509,109 from fund balance. The 
ordinance also includes encumbrance carryover of $1,658,439 from fund balance.  

 
In restricted funds, this ordinance will appropriate $16,822,924 from additional revenue 
and $78,046,073 from fund balance. It also includes encumbrance carryover of 
$3,004,655 from additional revenue and encumbrance carryover of $20,407,444 from 
fund balance, as well as an increase in revenue only of $1,307,045. 
 

 Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Division’s regular annual work plan. 
 

ANALYSIS 

This section will provide details of how carryover and new budget requests, the two categories of 
requests contained in the supplemental ordinances, function in the city annual budget cycle. 
 
Carryover Requests 

Carryover requests are typically for projects or grant-funded programs where funding was 
appropriated in a previous year and then carried forward until the project or the grant-funded 
program is completed. Occasionally, departments request to carryover budget savings from the 
previous year in order to accumulate an adequate amount of funding for a large, one-time 
project. 
 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 2Packet Page     112



 

 

Revenue to fund the unspent projects, or for large, one-time projects, will have fallen to fund 
balance at the end of the year. Due to accounting requirements, expenditures and revenues for a 
grant must equal each other within the same fiscal year. Any prior year grant revenue received 
above expenditure amounts has been deferred to the current year and is considered “additional 
revenue” in the current year. 
 
Encumbrance carryover is simply appropriation for a project or grant that has been encumbered 
through a purchase order.  
 
The following requests provide typical examples of General Fund carryover requests: 
 

 Finance and HR/payroll system replacement 
 Court Software Upgrade 
 Flexible Rebate Program 

 
The following requests provide typical examples of restricted fund carryover requests: 
 

 Landlink Replacement Project 
 Memorial Donations and Bequest Programs 
 Boulder Reservoir Site Plan 

 
 
New Budget Requests  

Requests for new budget appropriation are typically based on a department’s Master Plan or have 
gone through a separate City Council review process. Funding may come from fund balance, for 
example if savings have been built up for large projects or revenues received in advance of the 
expenditure being needed. Or, appropriation may be requested for initiatives associated with new 
sources of revenues, such as grant or bond funding. 
 
The following requests provide typical examples of supplemental appropriations from fund 
balance: 
 

 Flood Recovery expenses (General Fund) 
 State Historic Tax Credit (Planning and Development Services Fund) 
 Waterline Replacement (Water Utility Fund) 

 
The following requests provide typical examples of supplemental appropriations from additional 
revenue: 
 

 Resiliency Grant (General Fund ) 
 Valmont  Bike Park Cyclocross revenue 
 CDOT grants 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 3Packet Page     113



 

 

Additional Information on Selected Adjustment to Base Requests 

 

Flood Related Requests 

The adjustment to base includes requests for supplemental appropriations related to the flood 
recovery efforts. In the General Fund, a total of $571,269 is requested to fund consulting work 
related to FEMA reimbursements and appeals, as well as fund fixed-term positions for flood 
coordination efforts. The city expects reimbursement for most of these expenses. In addition, 
$1,000,000 is requested in the Open Space Fund for repair and reconstruction. Finally, an 
additional fixed-term position is requested to be split among Water ($12,500), Wastewater  
($12,500) and Stormwater ($25,000) funds. 
 
The city has received over $2.7 million from its insurance carriers for flood damage and revenue 
loss. Insurance proceeds will be applied to replenish budgets and reserves used for flood 
recovery. While replenishment of reserves will be seamless, with the receipt of revenue, 
replenishment of budgets will require supplemental appropriations. Staff is currently compiling 
the information related to damage covered by insurance and will bring back additional 
supplemental requests to council in the next few months. Insurance related supplemental are not 
included in this packet. 
 

Parks and Recreation Park Maintenance and Operations Request 

As part of the Boulder Parks and Recreation Department’s (BPRD)  2013 Master Plan update 
process, the theme of “taking care of what we have” emerged as a basis for future actions and 
decision-making. The department is therefore shifting to a practice where available funding is 
focused on the operations and maintenance of existing parks and facilities. Allocating limited 
resources (personnel and funding) for the maintenance of existing infrastructure will ensure the 
long-term viability of the BPRD for the future. An internal analysis of park operations and 
maintenance identified the need to shift resources to a “Zone Management” approach to improve 
maintenance standards, build staff ownership and responsibility towards management zones and 
to increase community engagement practices. The financial strategies outlined in the Master Plan 
(pages 76-78) recommended increasing O&M funding by $1.1 million. In line with this 
recommendation, this adjustment to base provides funding that will be utilized to immediately 
implement critical components of the plan including funding for resources to tackle deferred 
maintenance and improve/increase service standards.  Additional needs that will be met by this 
request include: 
 

 Implement an organizational structure and provide adequate staffing (add 4 FTE ongoing 
and repurpose two existing position) to improve the effectiveness and service delivery of 
supervisors and maintenance positions supporting the day-to-day safety, integrity and 
function of our system (as established in maintenance standards) 

 Create “working” supervisor positions to serve as Assistant Managers of Operations for 
zones and sites. This will ensure core and technical competencies are represented,  
oversight of  day-to-day maintenance operations, and supervision of  all seasonal and 
volunteer personnel  

 Identify types of maintenance needs in parks, recreation facilities, natural lands and trails 
managed by BPRD via maintenance standards. BPRD is engaging a consultant to develop 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 4Packet Page     114



 

 

a Maintenance Management Plan (MMP), in an effort to sustain acceptable maintenance 
standards and verify needed resources (one-time request of $75K for consultant)  

 Improve communications, clarify expectations, improve accountability using outcome-
based performance measures that allow various levels of service to be provided based on 
community input and priorities 

 Establish dedicated Asset Management function to include broader oversight of systems 
and strategic data management, data analysis, and reporting. 

 

Parking Land Code Update 

The adjustment to base packet includes request for funding for land use code update. These funds 
will be used for consulting services to update the city's parking regulations. As part of the Access 
and Parking Management Strategy (AMPS) project, changes to the city parking requirements are 
being considered by staff as short and long term updates.  Examples of short term changes 
include revised parking requirements for warehouses and airplane hangers, updates to maintain 
compliance with ADA regulations, exploration of restaurant and retail parking requirements, 
new bike parking standards, as well as other identified necessary “quick fixes.”  
 
Long term code changes include consideration of parking maximums in addition to parking 
minimums, shared parking requirements, car charging station requirements, special parking 
requirements along transit corridors and focusing on land use category rather than zoning district 
to determine the parking requirements. 
 
A study session on the AMPS project will be held with City Council on June 10th. 
 
 

Overview of Total Requests 

In common usage in city meetings, the April/May and November/December budget 
supplementals are also referred to as the First Adjustment to Base and Second Adjustment to 

Base, respectively. The current year’s council-approved budget is the “base” in the term 
Adjustment to Base (ATB). 
 
In total, the city recommends $126,215,123 in appropriations, of which $20,589,057 come from 
new revenues and $105,626,065 from fund balance. Most of the appropriations ($118,281,096 or 
94% of the total) are in the city’s restricted funds, such as the 2011 Capital Improvement  Fund, 
Affordable Housing Fund, Transportation Fund and Utilities funds. These funds often have 
multi-year large capital projects that, depending on the timing of the project work, are likely to 
have capital budget carryover. For example, almost $34 million is being carried over in the 
Capital Improvement Fund, which accounts for the $49 million capital bond approved by the 
voters in November of 2011.  Most of the projects being funded from this bond are well 
underway and will be completed either in 2014 or by the first quarter of 2015. Another example 
is the nearly $20 million being carried over for Water, Wastewater and Stormwater and Flood 
Management capital projects.   
 
The negative appropriations to remove the estimated carryover amounts from the initial 2014 
budget appropriations ordinance, noted above, total $82,383,419. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 5Packet Page     115



 

 

 
 
PUBLIC AND COUNCIL FEEDBACK 

There were no questions following the first reading of Ordinance No. 7972. Additional 
information was provided in Attachments B, C and D of Agenda Item 3H of the May 6, 2014 
City Council agenda packet. The packet is located at: 
 
http://lfprod/CentralRecords/0/doc/12006296/Electronic.aspx 
 

 
 
ATTACHMENT  
A. Ordinance No. 7972 relating to the supplemental appropriations to the 2014 Budget 
 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 6Packet Page     116



 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 7972 

 

AN ORDINANCE RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL 
AFFAIRS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, 
MAKING SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS FOR 
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2014 
SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION TO THE 
FOREGOING. 

 
 
WHEREAS, Section 102 of the Charter of the City of Boulder provides that: "At 

any time after the passage of the annual appropriation ordinance and after at least one week's 

public notice, the council may transfer unused balances appropriated for one purpose to another 

purpose, and may by ordinance appropriate available revenues not included in the annual 

budget;" and 

WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to make certain supplemental 

appropriations for purposes not provided for in the 2014 annual budget; and, 

WHEREAS, required public notice has been given; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, that the following amounts are appropriated from 

additional projected revenues and from unused fund balances to the listed funds: 

 
Section 1.  General Fund 

 
   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance  $1,658,439 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $5,514,109 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $761,478 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($3,000,000) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 7Packet Page     117



 
 

Section 2.  Capital Development Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $1,561 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $110,000 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($90,000) 

 
  

 Section 3.  Lottery Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $146,347 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $912,599 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($670,000) 

   Section 4.  Planning & Development Services Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $179,220 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $573,123 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $120,000 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($1,000,000) 

   Section 5.  Affordable Housing Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $1,525 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $12,660,014 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($11,000,000) 

   Section 6.  Community Housing Assistance Program 
Fund 

 
   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance $2,009,913 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($2,000,000) 

   Section 7.  .25 Cent Sales Tax Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $1,051,803 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $1,572,671 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $98,922 

 
Increase in Revenue Only $85,214 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944  ($400,000) 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 8Packet Page     118



 
 

Section 8.  Library Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $48,156 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $1,764,731 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue  $19,238 

   Section 9.  Recreation Activity Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance $200 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue  $70,425 

 
Section 10.  Climate Action Plan Fund 

 
   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance - Encumbrance  $290,942 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $582,490 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($700,000) 

 
Section 11.  Open Space Fund 

 
   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance - Encumbrance $907,769 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $3,778,008 

 
Section 12.  Airport Fund 

  
 Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944  ($250,000) 
 
Section 13.  Transportation Fund 

 
   

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $2,843,187 

 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue – 
Encumbrance $3,004,655 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $4,138,290 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $12,623,537 

 
Increase in Revenue Only $561,386 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($9,500,000) 

   Section 14.  Transportation Development Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance - Encumbrance  $108,573 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $1,082,790 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($1,900,000) 

 
 
 

  

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 9Packet Page     119



 
 

 
 
Section 15.  Community Development Block Grant 
Fund 

 
   
 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $961,074 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($800,000) 

   Section 16.  HOME Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $1,554,916 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944  ($700,000) 

   Section 17.  Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund  
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $32,226 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $1,697,702 

 
Increase in Revenue Only $110,496 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($1,000,000) 

 

 
 

 Section 18.  Fire Training Center Construction Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance $42,351 

    
Section 19.  Boulder Junction Improvement Fund  

 
   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $645,274 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $1,067,853 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $59,210 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($600,000) 

 

 
 

 Section 20.  2011 Capital Improvement Fund  
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $8,328,553 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $25,371,716 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($21,473,419) 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 10Packet Page     120



 
 

Section 21.  Water Utility Fund  
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $1,119,084 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $4,381,988 

 
Increase in  Revenue Only $300,000 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($3,500,000) 

 
 
Section 22.  Wastewater Utility Fund  

       
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $651,553 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $1,599,491 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $1,525 

 
Increase in Revenue only $200,000 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($1,500,000) 

 
 
Section 23.  Stormwater/Flood Management Utility 
Fund 

 
$300,000 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $2,139,275 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $7,920,106 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $900,000 

 
Increase in Revenue Only $49,950 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($9,600,000) 

 
 
Section 24.  Telecommunications Fund 

 
   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $3,756 

 

 
 

 Section 25. Workers Compensation Insurance Fund 
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $541 
 
 
Section 26.  Fleet Replacement Fund  

 
   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $751,878 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($5,000,000) 

 
 
Section 27.  Computer Replacement Fund 

 
   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $19,075 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 11Packet Page     121



 
 

 

 
 

 Section 28.  Equipment Replacement Fund 
 

   
 

Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($700,000) 

 

 
 

 Section 29.  Facility Renovation and Replacement Fund  
 

   
 

Appropriation from Fund Balance – Encumbrance $1,137,146 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $6,780,039 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $414,077 

 
Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #7944 ($7,000,000) 

    

Section 30.  The City Council finds that this ordinance is necessary to protect the 

public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City and covers matters of local concern. 

 

Section 31.  If any part or parts hereof are for any reason held to be invalid, such 

shall not affect the remaining portion of this ordinance. 

 

Section 32.  The Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and order that copies of this ordinance be made available in the Office of the City Clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

  

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 12Packet Page     122



 
 

INTRODUCED, READ, ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of May, 2014.  

 
 __________________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
 
 
READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE this 3rd day of June, 2014. 

 

 __________________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
Attest: 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 13Packet Page     123



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 14Packet Page     124



 
 

  
 

 CENTRAL AREA GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (CAGID) 

 BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 

 
 MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

  
 
AGENDA TITLE  
Consideration of a resolution amending the 2014 Downtown Commercial District Fund 
(formerly CAGID Fund) Budget. 
 

 
 

 
PRESENTERS 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Elena Lazarevska, Senior Financial Analyst  

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
This budget supplemental resolution is the first to be presented to City Council in 2014 for the 
Downtown Commercial District (DCD) Fund (formerly CAGID Fund) Budget. All 
supplementals adjust only the 2014 budget and are considered “one-time” adjustments.  As a 
result, they have no direct or immediate impact on the following year’s budget. In contrast, the 
city assigns budget requests with “ongoing” or multi-year impacts only to the annual budget 
process (budget planning for the coming fiscal year) and not to the budget supplemental 
resolution. 
 

A proposed resolution is provided as Attachment A to this packet. The resolution contains 
requests for supplemental appropriations from fund balance for project carryover and 
encumbrance carryover. The resolution also includes a negative appropriation for estimated 
carryover that was included in the original 2014 Budget Resolution 254.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 1Packet Page     125



 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION    
 

Suggested Motion Language: 
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt a resolution approving a supplemental appropriation to the 2014 DCD 
Fund Budget.  
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Central Area General Improvement District 
(CAGID) Board of Directors and convene as the University Hill General Improvement 
District (UHGID) Board of Directors.  
 
 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

This supplemental resolution appropriates funding for capital projects that positively affect 
economic, environmental or social sustainability in the community. 
 

OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal:  This resolution appropriates encumbrance carryover of $371,534 from fund 

balance, capital project carryover of $350,140 from fund balance, and a supplemental 
request of $643,176.  
 

 Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Division’s regular annual work plan. 
 
ANALYSIS 

This supplemental resolution appropriates funding for projects and services that were approved 
by council in prior year budgets and are being carried into the 2014 budget.  There is one request 
for additional appropriations in 2014 in the amount of $643,176. This supplemental request is 
needed to cover the remaining payment of TIF revenues above expenditures that are returned to 
the General Fund as part of the TIF agreement. The final payment will be made in 2014. 
 

Attachment B shows the impact the carryovers will have on the Downtown Commercial District 
fund balance. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Proposed Resolution amending the 2014 DCD Fund Budget  
B. 2014  DCD Fund Activity Summary 
 
 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 2Packet Page     126



 
 

 
 RESOLUTION NO.  266  

 

 

A RESOLUTION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS OF 

THE CITY OF BOULDER DOWNTOWN COMMERCIAL 

DISTRICT FUND (FORMERLY KNOWN AS THE CENTRAL 

AREA GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT FUND), MAKING 

A SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATION FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2014, AND SETTING FORTH DETAILS 

IN RELATION THERETO. 
 

WHEREAS, the District desires to make fund balance transfers to continue and 

complete projects previously authorized and approved; and 

WHEREAS, the District also desires to make certain supplemental appropriations for 

purposes not provided for in the 2014 Annual Appropriation Resolution: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, ACTING AS 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CENTRAL AREA GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT, THAT THE FOLLOWING BE ACCOMPLISHED: 

Section 1.   

Appropriation from Fund Balance - Encumbrance $371,534 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $993,316 
Negative Appropriation – Resolution # 254 ($250,000) 
 
INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED this 3rd day of June, 2014. 

 

 

 ________________________________________ 
 Chair 
Attest: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
           Secretary  
 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3J     Page 3Packet Page     127



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 4Packet Page     128



Projected Dec 

31, 2014

FUND

Unreserved 

Fund Balance

Original Estimated 

Revenues 

(Including Xfers In)

Original 

Appropriations 

(Including 

Xfers Out)

Increase in 

Estimated 

Revenues

Appropriations 

(Including Xfers 

Out) Fund Balance

Downtown Commercial District Fund (540) 5,497,477 8,079,963 7,027,956 0 1,364,849 5,184,635

2014 FUND ACTIVITY SUMMARY

CARRYOVER AND 1ST BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL OF 2014

At January 1, 2014

Carryover & 1st Budget 

Supplemental

Attachment B: Fund Activity Summary

Agenda Item 3J     Page 5Packet Page     129



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 6Packet Page     130



 

 

  
 

UNIVERSITY HILL GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT(UHGID) 

 BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 
 
 MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

  
 
AGENDA TITLE  
Consideration of a resolution amending the 2014 University Hill Commercial District Fund 
(formerly UHGID Fund) Budget. 
 

 
 
PRESENTERS 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Elena Lazarevska, Senior Financial Analyst   

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This budget supplemental resolution is the first to be presented to City Council in 2014 for the 
University Hill Commercial District (UHCD) Fund (formerly UHGID Fund) Budget.  All 
supplementals adjust only the 2014 budget and are considered “one-time” adjustments.  As a 
result, they have no direct or immediate impact on the following year’s budget. In contrast, the 
city assigns budget requests with “ongoing” or multi-year impacts only to the annual budget 
process (budget planning for the coming fiscal year) and not to the budget supplemental 
resolution. 
 
A proposed resolution is provided as Attachment A to this packet. The resolution contains a 
request for encumbrance carryover.  This resolution will appropriate $31,816 in encumbered 
funds carried over from 2013 to 2014.  The encumbrance was for products or services that were 
purchased (or committed to be purchased by contract) but not received or completed by 
December 31, 2013.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION    
 

Suggested Motion Language:  
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt a resolution approving a supplemental appropriation to the 2014 UHCD 
Fund Budget.  

Agenda Item 3K     Page 1Packet Page     131



 

 

 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the University Hill General Improvement 
District (UHGID) and convene as the Boulder Municipal Property Authority. 
 
 

 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

This supplemental resolution appropriates encumbrance carryover items that positively affect 
economic, environmental or social sustainability in the community. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal:  This resolution appropriates encumbrance carryover of $31,816 from fund 
balance. 

 
 Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Division’s regular annual work plan. 

 

ANALYSIS 

This supplemental resolution appropriates funding for services that were approved by council in 
prior year budgets and are being carried into the 2014 budget. There are no requests for new 
budget appropriations. 
 
 
Attachment B shows the impact the carryover will have on the UHCD fund balance. 
 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Proposed resolution amending the 2014 UHCD Fund budget 
B. 2014 UHCD Fund Activity Summary 
 

  

Agenda Item 3K     Page 2Packet Page     132



 

 

 
  

RESOLUTION NO. 191 

 
 

A RESOLUTION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS 

OF THE CITY OF BOULDER UNIVERSITY HILL 

COMMERCIAL DISTRICT FUND (FORMERLY THE 

UNIVERSITY HILL GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

FUND), MAKING SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS FOR 

THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2014, AND 

SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO. 

 

WHEREAS, the District now desires to make fund balance transfers to continue and 

complete a project previously authorized and approved; and 

WHEREAS, the District also desires to make certain supplemental appropriations for 

purposes not provided for in the 2014 Annual Appropriation Resolution: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, ACTING AS 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE UNIVERSITY HILL GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT THAT THE FOLLOWING BE ACCOMPLISHED: 

Section 1.   

 Appropriation from Fund Balance - Encumbrance $31,816 
  
 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED this 3rd day of June, 2014. 

 

 ________________________________________ 
 Chair 

Attest: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
  Secretary 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3K     Page 3Packet Page     133



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 4Packet Page     134



Projected Dec 

31, 2014

Unreserved 

Fund Balance

Original Estimated 

Revenues 

(Including Xfers In)

Original 

Appropriation

s (Including 

Xfers Out)

Increase in 

Estimated 

Revenues

Appropriations 

(Including Xfers 

Out) Fund Balance

FUND

University Hill Commercial District Fund (550) 766,803 575,587 569,215 0 31,816 741,359

2014 FUND ACTIVITY SUMMARY

CARRYOVER AND 1ST BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL OF 2014

At January 1, 2014

Carryover & 1st Budget 

Supplemental

Attachment B: Fund Balance Summary

Agenda Item 3K     Page 5Packet Page     135



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 6Packet Page     136



 

 

 
 
 

BOULDER MUNICIPAL PROPERTY AUTHORITY 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:   June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE 
Consideration of a motion to adopt a resolution amending the 2014 Budget for the 
Boulder Municipal Property Authority.  
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder Municipal Property Authority 
Board of Directors and reconvene as Boulder City Council 
 
 

PRESENTERS   
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Elena Lazarevska, Senior Financial Analyst  
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) was formed as a Colorado nonprofit 
corporation in February of 1988.  The Authority was formed for the purpose of acquiring 
real and personal property, and leasing, selling or otherwise conveying the same to the 
city.  The Authority is governed by a nine-member board of directors, which consists of 
the mayor and council of the city.  The Authority’s officers include a president and vice 
president, which, pursuant to its bylaws, shall be the mayor and deputy mayor, 
respectively, of the city and a secretary-treasurer, which shall be the director of Finance 
and Record, ex officio city clerk of the city.  The Authority has no assets, other than 
assets acquired from the issuance of debt securities, which are pledged to the repayment 
of such securities.  
 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority is a component unit of the City of Boulder as 
provided in the definition of "Reporting Entity" used by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board.  This requires that the financial statements of the Boulder Municipal 
Property Authority be included in the city's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.  
Therefore, the Boulder Municipal Property Authority must adopt a formal annual budget. 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 1Packet Page     137



 
The increase to BMPA’s 2014 budget in this agenda item is a result of additional notes 
being issued after the original 2014 budget was adopted.   
 
BMPA note  2013A E.R.T.L., for $5,000,000 closed on Oct. 31, 2013.  This request 
increases appropriations for debt service payment on this note. Note payments are due 
every October 31st, until the note matures in 2023.  The amount represents principal and 
interest. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 

Motion to adopt a Resolution approving a supplemental appropriation to the Boulder 
Municipal Property Authority 2014 budget. 
 
Motion to adjourn from the Boulder Municipal Property Authority Board of Directors 
and reconvene as Boulder City Council. 
 

 

 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
This action is an accounting function necessitated by accounting requirements. 
 

OTHER IMPACTS: 

 

An appropriation of $591,320 will be made in the Boulder Municipal Property Authority 
Debt Service Fund for debt service payment for the 2013 BMPA note.   
 
Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Office’s regular annual work plan. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 

A. Proposed resolution  
B. Fund Activity Summary 

 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 2Packet Page     138



 
 
 RESOLUTION NO.  137   

 

A RESOLUTION CONCERNING THE BOULDER 

MUNICIPAL PROPERTY AUTHORITY (BMPA), 

MAKING SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 

2014, AND SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN 

RELATION THERETO. 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Boulder Municipal Property Authority is a nonprofit corporation 

duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado, and; 

WHEREAS, the Boulder Municipal Property Authority is a component unit of the 

City of Boulder, for accounting purposes only, and as such, is required to formally adopt an 

annual budget, and; 

WHEREAS, certain 2013 debt service and capital expenditure obligations of the 

Boulder Municipal Property Authority were not provided for in the 2014 Annual Appropriation 

Resolution; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, ACTING AS 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE BOULDER MUNICIPAL PROPERTY 

AUTHORITY, THAT THE FOLLOWING BE ACCOMPLISHED: 

 
Section 1. Appropriation from Additional Revenue $591,320 
  
 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED this 3rd day of June, 2014. 
 
 
 ________________________________________ 

President 
Attest: 
 
 
______________________________ 

        Secretary 

  

  
 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3L     Page 3Packet Page     139



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 4Packet Page     140



Projected Dec 

31, 2014

FUND

Unreserved 

Fund Balance

Original Estimated 

Revenues 

(Including Xfers In)

Original 

Appropriations 

(Including 

Xfers Out)

Increase in 

Estimated 

Revenues

Appropriations 

(Including Xfers 

Out) Fund Balance

Boulder Municipal Property Authority 0 1,661,878 1,661,878 591,320 591,320 0

2014 FUND ACTIVITY SUMMARY

CARRYOVER AND 1
st

 BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL OF 2014

At January 1, 2014

Carryover & 1st Budget 

Supplemental

Attachment B: Fund Activity Summary

Agenda Item 3L     Page 5Packet Page     141



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 6Packet Page     142



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE Consideration of a motion to authorize the city manager to issue 
request for proposals to award the remainder of the city’s education excise tax revenue. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 
Karen Rahn, Director, Human Services 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
On Aug. 21, 2012, City Council directed the city manager to initiate a competitive 
process to award the city’s education excise tax (EET) revenue. In the first round of 
awards in 2013, the city awarded $486,214 to 10 organizations for projects related to 
improving school readiness and closing the achievement gap. Now that receipt of 
additional EET funds is unlikely, the city is prepared to commence a second and final 
fund round process to award the remaining funds of $276,714. 
 
Council’s Boulder Valley School Issues Committee (the Committee) and city staff are 
proposing that the same eligibility criteria and competitive process used for the first 
round be used for this final round. With council’s approval, the city will issue the 
attached Request for Proposals (RFP, Attachment A) to interested parties. Council and 
the Committee would then have an opportunity to review the responses and final 
decisions on awards before any funds were disbursed, as described in the Next Steps 
section below. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
  
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
Motion directing the city manager to issue RFP to award the remaining education excise 
tax revenues  

Agenda Item 3M     Page 1Packet Page     143



COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Social – Investments in school readiness and closing the achievement gap 

contribute to residents’ long-term self-sufficiency and lessen reliance on more 
costly public services. Academic success is correlated with greater long-term 
financial stability, lifelong earnings, employment and housing stability and 
avoidance of public subsidies.  

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal – Non-personnel expenses associated with conducting a round of funding 
are estimated to be between $500 and $1,000, depending on the grant application 
process and the number of applicants. 

 
The balance of EET funds collected through May 7, 2014 is $276,714. Based on a review 
of the pending building permits that were originally filed when the EET was still in 
effect, the city does not anticipate collection of significant additional EET funds. EET 
revenues from new permits issued by the city are not anticipated unless City Council 
reinstates the imposition of the EET by ordinance. Although the council reduced the rate 
to zero in 2010, the city continues to have the authority to levy these taxes. 
 
Interest accrues on unspent EET funds and is applied to the reserve balance monthly. As 
proposed, any interest or additional EET funds collected during the first half of 2014 
would be allocated in this final fund round.   
 

• Staff time – Staff support for committee and fund round processes is estimated to 
be 60-80 hours through the allocation of funds and an additional 40-60 hours for 
contracting and compliance through the life of the contracts, depending on the 
number of contracts. 

 
COUNCIL BOULDER VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT ISSUES COMMITTEE 
FEEDBACK 
 
Council’s Boulder Valley School District Issue Committee, made up of Council Members 
Morzel, Plass and Shoemaker, met on Feb. 10, 2014. They discussed the history of EET 
funds use, including the 2013 disbursements. 
 
Committee members recommended that council direct the city manager to proceed with a 
second and final EET fund round award process similar to the one used in 2013. In doing 
so, they supported use of the below criteria in an RFP: 
 

• Funds should be used for a one-time capital or non-capital project: 
o For operating projects, funding must provide seed, start-up or gap funding 

for a sustainable project; 
o For real property acquisition projects, successful applicants must enter into 

a shared equity agreement with the city; 
• To further council’s commitment toward: 

o School readiness for at-risk children; 
o Closing the achievement gap; 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 2Packet Page     144



o Interventions that help reduce youth risk factors; 
• Project provides educational support to low-income or disabled children or 

children of non-native English speaking families; 
• Applicant must be a 501(c) (3) nonprofit or educational entity located within the 

city; 
• Applicant must serve children from birth through age 18 as primary beneficiaries; 
• Applicant must demonstrate committed, matching funds; 
• Minimum application amount is $25,000; 
• Maximum application amount is $120,000; 
• Applicant must agree to enter into a contract with the city for funding and to 

report two times annually on expenditures and outcomes; 
• Funds must primarily serve City of Boulder residents; and  
• Proposals may not seek funding for 

o City of Boulder programs; and 
o Playground and technology requests. 

 
The Committee also supported continued involvement of council in the selection of 
awardees according to the following steps, also used in the 2013 process: 
  

1. City issues RFP. 
2. RFP responses received, reviewed by the Committee and recommendations made 

to the city manager for consideration. 
3. City manager makes preliminary decision on proposals subject to council review. 
4. Council provides feedback on city manager’s preliminary decision.  

 
BACKGROUND 
 
Consideration of a School Impact Fee 
On July 19, 1993, Boulder Valley School District (BVSD) formally requested that the 
city take appropriate steps to implement a school facilities impact fee. On Aug. 3, 1993, 
City Council endorsed the concept of school impact fees and directed staff to prepare an 
intergovernmental agreement with BVSD for the administration of those fees. According 
to the minutes from the Aug. 3, 1993 council meeting, the proposed fee at that time was 
being considered “specifically for middle and elementary schools and did not include 
high schools or centralized facilities.” 
 
The city did not pursue an impact fee for various reasons. Chief among them was an 
inability to achieve consensus among local communities to initiate a funding strategy. 
According to a memo from then City Attorney Joe de Raismes to City Council dated 
Aug. 30, 1994, legal precedent required that local communities collect a uniform impact 
fee rate across the school district. The purpose of a uniform rate was to ensure that the 
impact fee collected by one community was not subsidizing school construction to satisfy 
the facility needs created by residential development in other communities. In addition, a 
Douglas County District Court decision challenged the authority of local communities to 
collect impact fees for school financing purposes. The decision held that Douglas County 
was preempted by the State School Finance Act from imposing a school impact fee as a 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 3Packet Page     145



condition of a building permit or a certificate of occupancy. Further, the District Court 
held that counties do not have express or implied authority to impose such fees.  
 
Consideration of Education Excise Tax 
BVSD unsuccessfully attempted to pass a $36 million bond measure in November of 
1993. Funding from that measure would have covered the cost of future school facility 
needs from 1993 through the year 2000. Against the backdrop of that failed measure, 
BVSD asked local communities to revisit the issue of school impact fees. 
 
After discussions among local community representatives, it quickly became apparent 
that it would be extremely difficult to broker an agreement to collect the required uniform 
impact fees among all communities within the BVSD. However, legal counsel for these 
communities made some suggestions concerning alternative funding mechanisms. One 
suggestion was an education excise tax on new residential development. This alternative 
was seen as advantageous because it allowed communities to assess the tax at any rate 
they felt was appropriate without concern for maintaining uniformity with other 
communities. It also allowed the communities the flexibility to determine how they 
would appropriate the revenue they collected.      
 
On Aug. 30, 1994, council passed Ordinance Number 5662, which referred Ballot Issue 
2D to the citizens of Boulder. Relevant portions of that ordinance are reproduced below: 
 

WHEREAS, the city council is of the opinion that an education 
excise tax should be imposed in lieu of a school impact fee, previously 
endorsed by the council, and expended for education related purposes or 
for property tax credits to offset future education taxes, but without 
dedication of the tax.   .  .  . 

 
NOW, THEREFORE,  . . . 
 
Section 2. The official ballot punch card and the official 

absentee ballot shall state . . . 
 
SHALL CITY OF BOULDER TAXES BE INCREASED BY 
UP TO $3,000,000 ANNUALLY (IN THE FIRST YEAR) BY 
IMPOSING AN EDUCATION EXCISE TAX ON NEW 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF 
UP TO $3.43 PER SQUARE FOOT OF HABITABLE 
FLOOR AREA FOR EACH NEW RESIDENTIAL 
DWELLING UNIT AND OF POTENTIAL HABITABLE 
FLOOR AREA FOR EACH NEW MOBILE HOME PAD, 
 
and in connection therewith 
SHALL THE FULL PROCEEDS OF SUCH TAXES AT 
SUCH RATES BE COLLECTED AND SPENT, 
TOGETHER WITH ANY EARNINGS THEREON, 
WITHOUT LIMITATION OR CONDITION, AND 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 4Packet Page     146



WITHOUT LIMITING THE COLLECTION OR 
SPENDING OF ANY OTHER REVENUES OR FUNDS BY 
THE CITY OF BOULDER, UNDER ARTICLE X, 
SECTION 20 OF THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION OR 
ANY OTHER LAW? [Emphasis added] 

 
The language emphasized above, relating to how the revenue from the tax was to be used, 
was intentionally made flexible in part to address the potential limitations that had been 
imposed by the Douglas County District Court decision. According to a summary of a 
statement made by then City Attorney Joe de Raismes, as captured in the minutes of the 
Aug. 30, 1994 council discussion of the EET, the intent of the tax was that “it be used in 
a flexible way to deal with the impacts of schools by new residential construction.”1  
During that same meeting, in response to a question by Mayor Durgin on what level of 
school would be built and the purview of the city to give feedback in that regard, the 
minutes summarized the following response from then City Attorney de Raismes: 
 

Mr. de Raismes said it is the intention that the City will collect this money 
and keep it in an interest-bearing account. The City will then determine 
how to spend the money. It will never be in the coffers of the School 
District until the City and the School District reach an agreement about 
how the money is to be used. 

 
Post-Ballot Measure 
On Nov. 8, 1994, Ballot Issue 2D was approved by the voters. On April 4, 1995, in order 
to implement the EET, the City Council approved a conforming ordinance, known as 
Ordinance No. 5689. According to that ordinance, the intent of the tax was codified in the 
city code as follows: 
 
3-11-1 LEGISLATIVE INTENT 

 
IT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS CHAPTER TO PROMOTE THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF PUBLIC EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AND 
SERVICES IN THE CITY. REVENUES FROM THE TAX, TOGETHER 
WITH ANY EARNINGS THEREON, SHALL BE DEPOSITED IN A 
DESIGNATED ACCOUNT OF THE GENERAL FUND AND SHALL 
THEREFORE BE AVAILABLE TO PAY FOR THE GENERAL 
EXPENSES OF GOVERNMENT.  HOWEVER, ALTHOUGH THE CITY 
COUNCIL RECOGNIZES THAT IT CANNOT BIND FUTURE CITY 
COUNCILS, IT NONETHELESS DECLARES ITS INTENTION THAT 
THE REVENUE GENERATED BY THE EDUCATION EXCISE TAX BE 
APPROPRIATED BY FUTURE CITY COUNCILS ONLY FOR 
EDUCATIONAL RELATED PURPOSES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT 
LIMITATION, DEVELOPMENT OF PUBLIC EDUCATIONAL 

1 At the time BVSD expected that it would be necessary to construct new school buildings in North 
Boulder to meet capacity needs at the elementary and secondary school levels.  
 

                                                           

Agenda Item 3M     Page 5Packet Page     147



FACILITIES AND SERVICES OR TAX REFUNDS OR SETOFFS 
RELATING THERETO.  [Emphasis Added] 

 
In the April 4, 1995 staff memo for council’s consideration of this resolution, staff 
provided council with a list of some, but not all, of the options relative to disposition of 
these funds. Staff listed: (1) Direct Dispersal to the School District; (2) Construction of 
School Facilities in Boulder, and; (3) Property Tax Rebate. Staff’s memo on this point 
did not make a recommendation but concluded by stating, “Future City Council bodies 
will need to make decisions regarding this matter in light of a variety of factors, including 
the condition of school facilities in Boulder and the city’s relationship with the School 
District.” 
 
Pursuant to the implementing ordinance, the EET became effective on April 4, 1995, at 
the rate of $0.95 per square foot of floor area, up to a cap of 6,000 square feet. This 
amount was set based on an analysis of the relative financial impact of new residential 
development on BVSD facilities. That amount was adjusted annually based on the 
Consumer Price Index up until the implementing ordinance was repealed on Oct. 27, 
2009 by Ordinance No. 7698. Since that time, the city has only collected fees on 
development applications that were received prior to the repeal of the ordinance. 
 
BVSD originally expected that EET revenue would be necessary to construct new school 
buildings in North Boulder. Since the passage of the ballot measure, declining enrollment 
combined with open enrollment have resulted in North Boulder student growth being 
accommodated through available capacity in schools throughout the city. 
 
The expenditures of EET funds approved by council since the city began collecting the 
tax in 1995 have been as follows:  
 

Amount Recipient Purpose Year of 
Disbursement 

$19,300 BVSD Recreation facilities needs assessment 2003/2004 

$1,850,000 BVSD Installation of synthetic turf at Boulder and 
Fairview High Schools 2003/2004 

$130,134 BVSD Athletic field lights at Boulder High 
School 2008 

$50,000 Alan Ford Architects 
Preliminary architectural, structural and 
mechanical plans for the proposed 
Mapleton Early Childhood Center 

2009 

$1,800,000 BVSD Energy-efficient rebuilding of Casey 
Middle School 2010 

$3,500,000 BVSD Renovation of the Mapleton School for use 
as an early childhood education center 2011 

$960,292* 
The Acorn School for 
Early Childhood 
Development 

Wilderness Place Project, a center to 
provide comprehensive services related to 
early childhood 

2011 

$486,214 
Various private and 
public educational 
entities 

School readiness and closing the 
achievement gap 2013 

* This expenditure was structured as a shared appreciated loan 
 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 6Packet Page     148



Ten organizations were funded through the 2013 award process as described in the table 
below.  
 

2013 EET Funding  
Agency and Program  Type of Funding   Funding Amount 
1. Attention Homes for Adolescent Residential Care 

Program Operating $25,000 

2. Boulder High School for Leveling the Playing 
Field Program Operating $25,000 

3. Children’s House Preschool for First Chance 
Scholarship Program Operating $49,000 

4. Creekside Elementary School for the Co-teaching 
Pilot Project Operating $67,214 

5. Early Childhood Council of Boulder County for 
Touchpoints Training Program Operating $50,000 

6. Family Learning Center for the Wellness and 
Education Center Capital $120,000 

7. I Have A Dream Foundation for Positive Futures 
Program Operating $75,000 

8. Legacy of Learning for the Literacy Improvement 
Project Operating $25,000 

9. YWCA for the Latina Achievement Support 
Program Operating $25,000 

10. YWCA for the Reading to End Racism Program Operating $25,000 
Total EET Capital Funding  $120,000 

Total EET Operating Funding  $366,214   

Total EET Funding Awards $486,214        
 
A review of midyear reports submitted by the recipients in February 2014 indicates that 
they were all on track to meet or exceed their midyear goals. Four of the 10 agencies 
exceeded the 2014 contract goal at midyear. Agencies have 30 days to submit year-end 
reports after the EET contract year ends on July 31, 2014. Results from the 2014 year-end 
reports will be available for the Committee to review prior to final recommendations 
being presented to council.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
If the proposed criteria identified in this memo are approved, staff anticipates moving 
forward with the following schedule: 
 
• Release of RFP       June 2014 
• Committee reviews proposals      July/August 2014 
• City manager review and recommendation to City Council  August 2014 
• Council consideration of recommendation   September 2014 
• Contracts executed      October 2014 

 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 7Packet Page     149



ATTACHMENTS: 
A. EET RFP 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 8Packet Page     150



ATTACHMENT A: EET RFP 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Funding for Projects to Address School Readiness  
and Close the Achievement Gap 

Education Excise Tax 2014-2015 Funding Round 
 
 
 

Notice of Request for Proposals 
Deadline: Tuesday, July 8, 2014, 4:30 p.m. 

 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For more information: 
Wanda Pelegrina Caldas 

pelegrinaw@bouldercolorado.gov 
303-441-4059 

 
 

 
Agenda Item 3M     Page 9Packet Page     151



ATTACHMENT A: EET RFP 
 
 

Funding for Projects  
Education Excise Tax 2014-2015 Funding Round 

Notice of Request for Proposals (RFP) 
 

General Overview and Proposal Checklist 
 

Fund Description 
The City of Boulder has education excise tax (“EET”) revenue, which it intends to award.  This revenue was 
generated pursuant to a 1994 voter-approved measure that called for taxing new residential development and 
using the funds generated to promote education-related facilities and services.  Historically, these funds have 
been spent on Boulder Valley School District (BVSD) projects, and a variety of other projects funded through a 
competitive process in 2013. Boulder City Council will now disburse the remaining funds through this 
competitive RFP process, subject to the criteria and considerations below, for projects that help address 
school readiness and close the achievement gap in the City of Boulder.  
 
Available Funds 
The city has $276,714 available in existing EET funds, which are subject to this RFP.  The EET tax, originally 
collected pursuant to 1995 City Ordinance No. 5689, was repealed in 2009 through Ordinance No. 7698. Any 
interest or additional EET funds collected during the first half of 2014 will be allocated in this final EET fund 
round.   
 
Eligibility Criteria 
Boulder City Council adopted the following criteria for purposes of inviting Requests for Proposals:   
• Applicant must be a 501(c)(3) nonprofit or educational entity located within the city of Boulder.  
• Funds should be used for one-time capital or operating projects:  
o For operating projects, funding must provide seed, start-up or gap funding for a sustainable project 
o For real property acquisition projects, successful applicant must enter into a shared equity agreement with 

the city 
• To further council’s commitment toward: 
o School readiness for at-risk children  
o Closing the achievement gap  
o Interventions that help reduce youth risk factors  

• To provide educational support to low-income or disabled children or children of non-native English 
speaking families. 
•  Applicant must serve children aged birth through 18 as primary beneficiaries  
• Funds must be used to serve primarily City of Boulder residents 
• Applicant must demonstrate committed matching funds  
• Minimum application amount is $25,000 
• Maximum application amount is $120,000  
•  Funds may not be used to purchase technology or playground equipment  
• City of Boulder departments and programs are not eligible 

 
Contract and Reporting Requirements 
Funded applicants must agree to enter into a contract with the city for funding. Operating projects will report 
biannually on outcomes and expenditures; capital programs will report quarterly on project progress with a 
final expenditure and outcomes report.  

 
Agenda Item 3M     Page 10Packet Page     152



ATTACHMENT A: EET RFP 
 
 
Deadline and Submittals  
All proposals must be received by 4:30 p.m., Tuesday, July 8, 2014.  No extensions will be granted under any 
circumstances.  Due to this restriction, we strongly encourage you to turn your proposal in at least one day 
early.   
 
Submit your proposals as one PDF document via email to pelegrinaw@bouldercolorado.gov, with the subject 
line EET 2014-2015 Funding Round RFP. 
 
Please note that electronic submittals are preferred, but you may mail or hand-deliver as explained below.  
 
Submit one copy printed double-sided on standard 8 ½ x 11 size paper in a standard font no smaller than 11 
point, recycled paper encouraged.  It is not necessary to staple or put your proposal in a binder, but please 
number each page and submit it in a sealed envelope, clearly marked Education Excise Fund. 
 
U.S. Mail: To the attention of Wanda Pelegrina Caldas, Department of Human Services, PO Box 791, Boulder, 
CO 80306.  Please allow for adequate delivery time, as on-time proposals will be determined by delivery date 
and not postmark. 
 
Hand-Deliver: To the attention of Wanda Pelegrina Caldas, 1101 Arapahoe Avenue, 2nd Floor, Boulder, 
Colorado 80302 between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.  You may use our after-hours drop off box, located at our 
front door, but proposals received after 4:30 p.m. on July 8 will not be accepted.  
 
Review Process 
Please note your completed proposal does not guarantee funding.  The committee will consider all proposals 
during July and August of 2014, prior to making recommendations to the city manager, followed by City 
Council later this summer.  The committee or staff, on behalf of the committee, may contact you to address 
follow-up questions and may require a site visit prior to deciding which projects to recommend for funding. 
 
Project Timeline  
 

 
For Additional Information 
To ensure an accurate and timely response to your questions about this RFP, contact Wanda Pelegrina Caldas 
at pelegrinaw@bouldercolorado.gov or 303-441-4059.  

Event Date 

RFPs due  July 8, 2014 

School Issues Committee reviews applications and makes funding 
recommendations to city manager By mid-August, 2014 

City manager approves recommendations  By end of August, 2014 

City Council considers recommendations for funding Sept. 16, 2014 

Contracts negotiated Sept.-Oct., 2014  

Contracts executed and funds distributed October 2014 

 
Agenda Item 3M     Page 11Packet Page     153



ATTACHMENT A: EET RFP 
 
 
 
Proposal Checklist  
The following checklist is provided to facilitate your review and response of this RFP. Please check your 
proposal against this list before submitting to ensure that your proposal is complete as per the requirements. 
Proposals missing one or more of the following components or not following these directions may not be 
reviewed. 
 
Your proposal should contain each of these items in this order, using the tables provided: 
 
Part I: Proposal Abstract (1 page maximum). The top page of your proposal must be a completed copy of the 
Proposal Abstract form.  Please do not include pages 1-4 with your submission; these are for your information  
 

Part II: Proposal Narrative (2 page maximum).  Your proposal should contain the following sections in the 
following order:  
� A. Need for Project/Services 

 1. Target Population 
 2. Problem Statement 
 3. Services in Boulder 

� B. Proposed Project/Services  
 1. Project/Services Description (note: different questions for operating and capital) 
 2. Funding Specifics 
 3. Cost-Per-Client/Cost-Per-Contact 
 4. Sustainability  

 
Part III: Organizational Management (1 page maximum). 
� A. Evaluation  
� B. Demographics 

 1. Projected Clients and Clients Served  
 2. Race/Ethnicity 
 3. Income Level 

 
Part IV: Financial Statements and Attachments (1 page maximum for tables A & B plus attached budget). 
� A. Sources of Income  
� B. Fundraising to Date 
� C. Detailed Program or Project Budget (note: different questions for operating and capital) 
� D. Organizational Budget for the current fiscal year 

 
Submit your proposals as one PDF document via email to pelegrinaw@bouldercolorado.gov, with the subject 
line EET 2014-2015 Funding Round RFP.  All proposals must be received by 4:30 p.m., Tuesday, July 8, 2014.  
No extensions will be granted under any circumstances.  Due to this restriction, we strongly encourage you to 
turn your proposal in at least one day early.    
 
  

 
Agenda Item 3M     Page 12Packet Page     154



ATTACHMENT A: EET RFP 
 
Part I: Proposal Abstract (Please use this form and do not exceed one page)                                 
 

A. Applicant Information  
Organization’s Full Legal Name:                      Organization DBA Name (if applicable):          
                                                         
Mailing Address, City, State, Zip (and Physical Address, if it different and not confidential): 
 
 
Telephone:                                        Website: 
Name of CEO or Executive Director:                                                   Phone:                                                     
E-Mail Address: 
Type of organization:   
             □Nonprofit           □Educational Entity   

EIN:  

Name and Title of the main contact for this RFP (if not the Executive Director): 
 
E-Mail Address:                                                                                       Phone:                                                   
Year Founded:                  Mission Statement: 
 
 
 
 
 
Number of Employees: Full-time:                    Part-time:  Number of Volunteers: 

B. Project Information 

Type of project:            □Capital Acquisition (requires a shared equity agreement with the city)  
□Operating (Please check type): □Seed      □Start-up        □Gap funding  

Project Title:  
 
Project Address(s), if different than above: 
 
Project Start Date:                Project End Date:                       
  
Is your project contingent on this funding?: □Yes      □No  
Explain, if yes:  
 
Is your timeline contingent on this funding?: □Yes      □No       
Explain, if yes:            
                                  
What age group will your project serve?:   

C. Financial Information:  
Total Project Cost: $                           
Amount of EET funds requested for your project (min $25,000/max $120,000):$ 
Total matching funds (non-City of Boulder) raised to date: $                           

 
 
 

 
Agenda Item 3M     Page 13Packet Page     155



ATTACHMENT A: EET RFP 
 
 
Part II.   Proposal Narrative (Two-page maximum) 
Provide a narrative of your proposed project in no more than two pages using the questions outlined below.  
Use a standard font no smaller than 11 point and include the headings provided.  It is not necessary to repeat 
the text of the questions.  You are not required to submit the full amount of pages, but you may not exceed 
this limit.  Note, some questions differentiate answers for operating vs. capital funding; please answer the 
appropriate set of questions, not both.   
 

A. Need for Project/Services This section should describe the population you intend to (or already) serve and 
the specific problems they face, also services in Boulder (other than your own) that attempt to address these 
problems. 
 

1. Target Population: Briefly identify and describe the population your project will serve, both 
demographically and geographically including an estimate of how many persons will benefit from the 
proposed project (e.g., 45 City of Boulder Latinas, ages 10-17). 
 

2. Problem Statement: Describe the problem faced by your target population and any emerging trends that 
your proposed project addresses.  Do not describe how your project will address this problem in your answer.  
 

3. Services in Boulder: (a) Describe existing services in Boulder (other than your own) that attempt to address 
this problem.  (b) State how these other projects and services differ from yours and give specific examples of 
collaborative efforts with these other agencies.  
 

B. Proposed Project/Services This section should describe your project/services, with specific information on 
the results you expect to accomplish and the major activities for achieving the goals of this project. 
 

1. Project/Services Description: Describe your proposed project/services.  Operating projects include: (a) the 
goal of your project; (b) a brief description of the programs and services provided through this project; and (c) 
what benefits your target population will receive; Capital projects include: (a) the project scope and timeline; 
(b) a brief description of the programs and services provided through this project; and (c) a rationale for the 
project, e.g. why it is important for the mission of the organization and how this project will allow you to 
better meet the needs of the target population. 
 

2. Funding Specifics: What specifically will an award from the EET fund?   
 

3. Cost-Per-Client/Cost-Per-Contact: Provide an estimate of your cost-per-client and/or contact for services 
provided by the project proposed.  Discuss how estimates were determined.  Base these on the total cost of 
the project/services, not just the funds requested from the EET.  
 

4. Sustainability: Please explain the impact of this project on your organizational or operating expenses, and 
how the project will be sustained after one-time EET funds are expended.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Agenda Item 3M     Page 14Packet Page     156



ATTACHMENT A: EET RFP 
 
 
 
Part III: Organizational Data (One page maximum) 
Provide a picture of whom your organization serves in no more than one page using the tables and questions 
outlined below.  Use a standard font no smaller than 11 point.  You may add additional rows to the tables, but 
do not change the formatting or omit the headings provided.  It is not necessary to repeat the text of the 
questions.  You are not required to submit the full amount of pages, but you may not exceed this limit.   
 

A. Evaluation: Describe: (a) the organization’s overall approach to evaluation; (b) how frequently data 
collection occurs; (c) how impact is measured; and summarize (d) key evaluation results or findings that 
demonstrate the organization’s impact.   
 

B. Demographics: If your organization follows a non-traditional calendar (e.g., school year), base answers on 
your calendar year. 
 

1. Projected Clients and Clients Served 
How many unduplicated clients, age 0-18, did your agency serve last year? 
What percentage of the total unduplicated clients were City of Boulder residents?        
How many unduplicated City of Boulder residents, age 0-18, does your agency propose to serve if 
your proposal is funded?  

Using the proposed number of City of Boulder residents (above), please fill out the following tables. 
 

2. Race/Ethnicity (Project the race/ethnicity of the proposed unduplicated City of Boulder residents) 

African American  Native American  Asian/Pacific Islander             Latino/Hispanic     

Caucasian Non-
Latino                      Mixed Race Other   Unknown   

3. Income Level (Project the income level of the proposed unduplicated City of Boulder residents) 
Note: The area median income (AMI), for a four person household, in Boulder County is $93,017  

Extremely Low Income: 
(Less than or equal to 30% of AMI) 

Very Low Income: 
(Less than or equal to 50% of AMI)  

Low Income:  
(Less than or equal to 80% of AMI) Non-Low Income: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Agenda Item 3M     Page 15Packet Page     157



ATTACHMENT A: EET RFP 
 
 
Part IV: Financial Statements and Attachments (1 page maximum for tables A and B plus attached budget) 
Please fill out the following tables and provide the following financial documents. Budgets may be inserted as tables or 
attached in the order specified below.  Make sure you label any attachments.  
 

A. Sources of Income: Complete the table below for the organization as a whole, based on the most recently 
completed fiscal year.  You may add rows to fit your organization’s funding categories.  Indicate 0% for categories that 
do not apply to your organization’s funding categories.   

Percentage   Funding Source 
  % Government grants or contracts (federal or state)  
  % Local government grants or contracts (county or city) 
 % Boulder and/or St. Vrain Valley School District(s) 

  %  Foundations 
  %  Business sponsorships 
  %  Events (include event sponsorships) 
  %  Individual contributions 
  %  Fees/earned income 
  %  Workplace giving campaigns 
  % In-kind contributions (optional) 
  %  Other  
  %  TOTAL (should equal 100%) 

 
B. Fundraising to Date (for this project): Please fill out the following table inserting more rows, as needed 

Only include in-kind donations if they correspond to and reduce project costs. 

Funding Source  Funding Amount Committed  
(Yes,  No, Pending) 

   
   
   
   
   

 

C. Detailed Program (for operating requests) or Project Budget (for capital requests): Either insert or attach a 
current budget for the program or project. 
 

D. Organizational Budget for the current fiscal year: Either insert or attach a current organizational budget. 
 

 

 
Agenda Item 3M     Page 16Packet Page     158



 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No. 7973 amending Chapter 5-3, “Offenses Against the Person,” B.R.C. 1981, by 
adding a new Section 5-3-15, “Solicitation Limited,” prohibiting solicitation at designated 
places and setting forth related details. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
Molly Winter, Executive Director of the Downtown & University Hill Management Division and 
Parking Services 
Greg Testa, Acting Police Chief 
Janet Michels, Senior Assistant City Attorney  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
On February 11, 2014, council held a study session on anti-social behavioral issues.   
Council scheduled this study session to provide a forum for discussion of issues raised by 
certain activity.  Council stressed that Boulder should be welcoming to all, but that 
intimidating behavior can often limit those who wish to enjoy our city.  There are some in 
the community whose behavior can be intimidating.  Council discussed several proposed 
changes including updating the city’s restrictions on panhandling.  Council directed staff 
to research and bring back recommendations for better panhandling legislation.   
 
This agenda item presents council with a second reading of proposed ordinance that 
would create new restrictions on panhandling in Boulder.  The restrictions are intended to 
protect people from panhandlers in situations in which the person is either captive or 
particularly vulnerable.  While panhandlers have a right to solicit donations, those 
solicited should have an equal right to say no and walk away.  There are certain situations 
in which the person solicited does not have that option; for example, when watching 
one’s children in a play area or when waiting at a bus stop.  In addition, there are 
situations in which a person feels particularly vulnerable, because they have to handle 
cash publically, such as when receiving money from an ATM or putting money into a 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page     159



2 
 

parking kiosk.  Staff has indentified six such situations and included them in the attached 
proposed ordinance. 

 
Staff has explored and is not recommending other options.  For example, many cities in 
Colorado and around the nation prohibit solicitation from vehicles.  While such a 
prohibition is possible, staff is not making that recommendation.  In addition, there are 
other options such as bans in the downtown area or registration requirements, which other 
communities have imposed, but which staff is not recommending. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
Motion to adopt on second reading Ordinance number 7973 amending Chapter 5-3, 
“Offenses Against the Person,” B.R.C. 1981 by adding a new section 5-3-15 “Solicitation 
Limited,” prohibiting solicitation at designated places and setting forth related details. 
 
BACKGROUND:   
 
Community members have expressed concern about the number of panhandlers in 
Boulder and about feeling threatened by certain solicitations.  It is important to recall that 
solicitation is constitutionally protected speech.  Thus, no government can ban or even 
substantially limit such speech.  It is appropriate, however, to impose reasonable time, 
place and manner restrictions that leave substantial alternative opportunities for 
solicitation in the community.  Council asked staff to explore a limited ordinance to 
address some of those situations.  As part of this project, staff researched ordinances 
limiting solicitation in cities in the Front Range.  Copies of those ordinances were 
attached to the first reading memorandum.  Communities have a wide range of 
restrictions on panhandling.  These restrictions are summarized below.  It is important to 
note that the language used varies widely, and therefore any classification is inherently 
subjective.        
 
Prohibiting Aggressive Panhandling 
 
Aggressive panhandling is generally defined as threatening, using fighting words, and 
following or repeatedly soliciting an individual.   The Boulder provision is codified in 
section 5-3-7, “Aggressive Begging Prohibited,” B.C.R. 1981.  In addition to Boulder, 
the following Front Range communities have prohibitions against aggressive 
panhandling: Aurora, Broomfield, Colorado Springs, Denver, Fort Collins, Greeley, 
Lakewood, Longmont and Loveland. 
 
Prohibiting Solicitation in Designated Areas   
 
Many communities have limited solicitation in the manner in which staff is proposing for 
Boulder.  Such restrictions are generally as described above.  That is, limiting solicitation 
when individuals are particularly vulnerable.  The following Front Range communities 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page     160



3 
 

have an ordinance that includes such restrictions:  Colorado Springs, Denver, Fort 
Collins, Greeley, Lakewood, Loveland and Superior. 
 
Prohibiting Solicitation from Vehicles 
 
Many communities have restricted panhandling from vehicles.  Most of these ordinances 
prohibit a person from stepping into a street to accept a donation.   Staff is not 
recommending that Boulder adopt such an ordinance.  The following Front Range 
communities have restricted solicitation of persons in vehicles:  Arvada, Centennial, 
Colorado Springs, Fort Collins, Longmont, Louisville, Loveland, Superior, Thornton and 
Westminster. 
 
Prohibiting Solicitation at Night 
 
Individuals often feel more vulnerable at night.  Many communities have responded by 
prohibiting solicitation after dark and before sunrise.  Staff is not recommending such a 
restriction in Boulder.  The following Front Range communities restrict panhandling after 
dark: Colorado Springs, Denver, Fort Collins, Greeley, Lakewood and Loveland. 
 
Prohibiting Solicitation from At-Risk Individuals 
 
Fort Collins and Loveland both prohibit solicitation if the solicitor knows that the person 
solicited is “at-risk.”  An at-risk person is defined as a person over 59 years of age, under 
18 years of age or with a disability.    Staff is not recommending such a restriction in 
Boulder. 
 
The proposed ordinance is intended to reflect council’s direction to strike a balance 
between increasing the protection to the community and protecting the rights of those 
who wish to solicit. 
 
The following chart summarizes these ordinances: 

 Aggressive Designated Areas  Vehicles After Dark At Risk 
Arvada   X   
Aurora X     
Boulder X Proposed    
Broomfield X     
Centennial   X   
Colorado Springs X X X X  
Denver X X  X  
Fort Collins X X X X X 
Greeley X X  X  
Lafayette      
Lakewood X X  X  
Longmont X  X   
Louisville   X   
Loveland X X X X X 
Superior  X X   
Thornton   X   
Westminster   X   

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page     161



4 
 

Recent Challenges to Panhandling Laws 
 
In November 2012, the American Civil Liberties Union challenged a Colorado Springs 
ordinance.  The challenge addressed a provision that would have prohibited solicitation in 
a 12-block area of downtown Colorado Springs.  A federal district court judge issued an 
injunction against enforcement of this provision.  Colorado Springs amended the 
ordinance to remove that provision.  Interestingly, the ACLU did not challenge a 
provision prohibiting panhandling citywide within 20 feet of any doorway, residential or 
commercial. 
 
In March 2014, the ACLU challenged several provisions in a Grand Junction ordinance.  
These included a provision banning solicitation from vehicles, solicitation from at-risk 
individuals, solicitation within 100 feet of a school, and ATM or a bus stop.  Key to the 
ACLU challenge was Grand Junction’s intent to include passive solicitation.  In April 
2014, the Grand Junction city council amended the ordinance to eliminate the ban on 
solicitation from at-risk individuals, and around schools and reduced the ban on 
solicitation around bus stops and ATMs from 100 feet to 20 feet.  The lawsuit is still 
pending.   
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic:  
Panhandling can have an adverse affect on businesses in the community. 

• Environmental: 
None identified 

• Social: 
There is a debate on the social effects of panhandling.  There are those who believe 
that giving money to panhandling helps to facilitate destructive behavior, such as 
alcoholism and drug abuse.  There are others who view panhandling as a last resort 
for people to feed or shelter themselves.    

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
 
• Fiscal: 

None identified. 

• Staff Time: 
None identified. 

 
Analysis: 
 
The proposed new code provision would prohibit solicitation, which is defined as a 
verbal request for money or anything of value, in the following six areas: 
 

• An outdoor dining area; 
• Within 20 feet of a bus stop sign; 
• Within 20 feet of a self-service fuel pump; 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page     162



5 
 

• Within 20 feet of any children’s play area; 
• Within 20 feet of an automated teller machine or entrance to a bank; or 
• Within 20 feet of any parking pay station;  

 
As noted above, staff has endeavored to identify areas where people are vulnerable or 
captive.  Some areas are both.  A person standing at a self-service fuel pump or an ATM 
can both be vulnerable because he or she has to handle money, while at the same time 
being unable to just walk away.  Staff believes that limiting solicitation in these areas 
leaves ample areas for individuals to solicit donations while providing additional 
protection for the community.  It is important to note that the proposed ordinance is 
focused on active solicitation.  Staff is not proposing including any additional restrictions 
on playing music or simply holding a sign.  Accordingly, the prohibition proposed is 
against a verbal request for money or other thing of value in any of these areas. 
 
Attachment 
 
Proposed Ordinance – Attachment A 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page     163



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page     164



 

K:\CMAD\o-Ord. 7973.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 7973 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 5-13, “OFFENSES 
AGAINST THE PERSON,”  B.R.C. 1981, BY ADDING A NEW 
SECTION 5-3-15, “SOLICITATION RESTRICTED,” 
PROHIBITING SOLICITATION AT DESIGNATED PLACES, 
AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A new section 5-13-15, B.R.C. 1981, is added to read: 

5-13-15 Solicitation Restricted. 

 No person shall make any verbal request for money or anything of value when the person 

who is subject to the request is in any of the following locations: 

(a)  in an outdoor dining area; 

(b) within 20 feet of a sign indicating a bus stop; 

(c)  within 20 feet of a self-service fuel pump; 

(d)  within 20 feet of any children’s play area; 

 (e)  within 20 feet of an automated teller machine or entrance to a bank; or 

 (f)  within 20 feet of any parking pay station. 

Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3. This ordinance shall be effective January 1, 2015. This effective date will 

allow for the completion of baseline monitoring of pre-change compliance and ensure that 

components for implementing the ordinance are in place prior to implementation. 

Attachment A-Solicitation Restricted

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page     165



 

K:\CMAD\o-Ord. 7973.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

Section 4.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 6th day of May, 2014. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of June, 2014. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 

Attachment A-Solicitation Restricted

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page     166



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 3, 2014 

 
 

AGENDA TITLE:  
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 7978 to modify the allowable 
number of units and floor area of the BT-2, Transitional Business zoning district for the Trinity 
Commons project, located at 2200 Broadway.  The project is proposed as a mixed use 
development on an existing surface parking lot with a new Fellowship Hall for Trinity Lutheran 
Church; office space for the Trinity Lutheran Church and other non-profit organizations; 24 
(100 percent) permanently affordable attached senior housing units; and partially below grade 
parking to be shared with other off-site users.  

 
 

 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
An ordinance is requested to modify the intensity standards in Chapter 9-8 of the Land Use Code 
for a mixed use, permanently affordable residential development project, Trinity Commons.  Such 
an ordinance was supported by Planning Board as a method of allowing the project to move 
forward based on the fact that the project would further numerous city sustainability goals as well 
as the project’s compatibility with the surrounding area. Specifically, the project includes  
100 percent permanently affordable housing, community meeting space, office space for non-
profits, and the intent to landmark the Trinity Lutheran Church.   
 
As a mixed use redevelopment that includes attached residential units, the proposed project is 
consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use designation and definition for 
High Density Residential land use. However, it is not consistent with the residential density and 
floor area limits of the site zoning: BT-2, Transitional Business. Therefore, the ordinance is 
necessary to permit the proposed density. 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page     167



 

On May 20, 2014, City Council approved first reading of ordinance 7978 by consent. Also on  
May 20, 2014, the City Council considered the Planning Board decision on the Site and Use 
review applications for the project and chose not to call-up the decision of the Planning Board. The 
board reviewed and conditionally approved the applications for the Trinity Commons project on 
May 1, 2014; and the board recommended that City Council adopt the ordinance that will approve 
modifications to the intensity standards. 
 
The Planning Board’s support for the proposed project was based on the project’s compatibility 
with the surrounding area, as well as the fact that the project would further numerous city goals 
and policies, and provide substantial community benefits. The community benefits include 
provision of affordable housing with 100 percent of the residential units planned as permanently 
affordable and 16 of the total 24 units specifically planned for seniors. Other benefits include 
provision of new meeting and office spaces for both the church other non-profit organizations, 
improved pedestrian environment, and the intent for the property owners to apply to landmark the 
historic Trinity Lutheran Church.    
 
A previous ordinance (no. 7516) was approved by City Council for a similar project in 2007. 
However, since that time, the global financial crisis that began in 2008 impacted the ability to 
finance the project under Ordinance 7516.  Therefore, in conjunction with their revised proposal, 
the applicant was required to request a new ordinance to authorize the modifications to the 
intensity standards that will allow up to 24 units of residential as permanently affordable, and 
permits density up to a 1.0 FAR where 0.5 FAR and 22 units are permitted.  Ordinance 7516 
would be repealed with approval of the proposed new ordinance.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Planning Board and staff identified several aspects of the Trinity Commons project that would 
result in a defined community benefit for the City of Boulder. They are as follows: 
 
1. Trinity Commons, a mixed use redevelopment of an existing surface parking lot is 

consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use designation although 
inconsistent with the residential density and floor area limits of the site zoning: BT-2, 
Transitional Business.  The proposal is consistent with a number of Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan policies related to affordable housing, social sustainability, and 
neighborhood compatibility. 
 

2. More specifically, Trinity Commons would provide 100 percent of the housing as 
permanently affordable units, well above the standard of 20 percent and in a location that 
is easily walkable to downtown and immediately adjacent to a high-use transit line. 
 

3. The project would also be of an attractive design appropriate to the scale and design of the 
adjacent historic church and nearby residential, and would enhance the pedestrian 
experience along the public rights of way. 
 

4. The representatives of the congregation for Trinity Lutheran Church have indicated their 
intent to have the existing original and historically significant portion of the church 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page     168



 

landmarked pursuant to the City’s landmarking process. 
 

5. The project would include much needed community meeting space and office space along 
Broadway for the use of the church and other non-profit organizations. 
 

6. The proposed project removes surface parking to a partially below grade configuration 
that would not be visible from Broadway or Mapleton Avenue. 
 

7. The proposed project provides a continued sharing of parking between the church and 
other downtown tenants and visitors, while also reducing the number of parking spaces 
that are required. 
 

8. Trinity Commons would enable Trinity Lutheran Church to remain downtown to serve the 
community at its present location, consistent with a number of Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan social sustainability goals and policies.  

 
Based on these findings, staff requests council consideration of this matter and recommends 
council action in the form of the following motion: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Approve ordinance 7978 authorizing modifications to the density and intensity standards of the 
BT-2 zoning district, for a project referred to as the Trinity Commons located at 2200 Broadway. 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND  IMPACTS: 
 
 Economic: The development would contribute to the overall diversity that exists in downtown Boulder 

by providing affordable housing particularly for senior residents (as discussed below) and also by 
encouraging the church, that may otherwise not be able to adapt to the rising land costs and 
insufficient parking for its needs, to remain in downtown Boulder. Working to retain a non-profit 
agency downtown contributes to the economic vitality of Boulder consistent with Policy 1.03 
Principles of Economic Sustainability of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 
 

 Environmental: The Trinity Commons would redevelop an existing surface parking lot along 
Broadway.  Development of this location near the downtown would be consistent with City policies 
that encourage infill development along multi-modal corridors.  The site location along Broadway 
would allow residents easy, walkable access to downtown or to transit, refer to Policy 2.03 Compact 
Development Pattern. 
 

 Social: The project would provide much needed permanently affordable housing for seniors along with 
meeting space in downtown where such space is rare. The project would contribute to the City’s goal 
of maintaining at least 10 percent of the housing stock as permanently affordable, refer to policy 7.02 
Permanently Affordable Housing. More specifically, 100 percent of the units (or 24 total units) would 
be deed restricted as permanently affordable.  The provision of community space, the allowance to 
maintain the church in the downtown; and the landmarking of the existing historic church would also 
provide considerable community benefit to the city.  
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page     169



 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK:   
 
The City Council approved the first reading of Ordinance 7978 on consent, and there were no questions of 
staff from that approval.  The Planning Board reviewed and approved both the Site and Use reviews for 
the proposed project on  May 1, 2014.   Planning Board comments are reflected in the attached minutes 
(See Attachment D).  The Planning Board reviewed the draft ordinance at the same meeting and required 
no changes but unanimously recommended that City Council approve the ordinance. 
 
In the Planning Board’s discussion, the substantial benefits presented by the project were acknowledged. 
The board also discussed the community benefit derived from the applicant, in good faith, applying to 
landmark the original church built in 1929, and discussed the additional benefit of applying to landmark a 
later modernist addition.  The board indicated that Landmarks Board will be tasked with determining the 
most appropriate landmarks boundary for the church.  
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK:  
 
Public notice was given in the form of three separate written notifications over the past nine months that 
were mailed to all property owners within 600 feet of the subject site and a sign posted on the property for 
at least 10 days. All notice requirements of Section 9-4, B.R.C. 1981 were followed.  Two comment letters 
were received, both indicating support for the project.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
During 2006 and 2007, the Planning Board reviewed two separate Concept Plans for the Trinity 
Commons; both concepts did not meet the underlying Transitional Business zoning (BT-2) which 
would only allow 22 units and a floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.5:1 FAR.  Staff presented several 
possible approaches for permitting the project, including a variety of land use plan changes, 
rezoning options or an ordinance.  Based on the community benefits proposed, the Planning Board 
concluded that an ordinance would be most appropriate, and City Council then approved 
Ordinance 7516 in 2007 to permit 26 units (13 affordable) and up to a 1.25 FAR.  However, since 
that time, the global financial crisis that began in 2008 impacted the ability to finance the project 
under Ordinance 7516 due to specific percentages assigned for specific AMI (Average Median 
Income) qualifications. The proposed new ordinance establishes 24 units as permanently 
affordable that must meet or exceed the standards of Chapter 9-13, “Inclusionary Housing,” B.R.C. 
1981.  The ordinance would also permit a density up to a 1.0 Floor Area Ratio (FAR) for the 
meeting and office space uses and allows the applicant to achieve the city’s goals for permanently 
affordable housing and meet or exceed the standards of Chapter 9-13, “Inclusionary Housing,” 
B.R.C. 1981 for all the residential units.   
 
While the current proposal is slightly smaller than the original, it keeps intact the significant 
community benefit presented in the original plan with the added benefit that all proposed 
residential units would be permanently affordable (16 units in the first phase and eight additional 
units in the third phase). 
 
With unanimous approval by the Planning Board on May 1, 2014 of the related Site and Use Review 
applications, the board conditioned the approvals on City Council’s adoption of the ordinance. They 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page     170



 

also recommended council approve the proposed ordinance based on substantial community benefits 
offered by the project. The existing Ordinance 7516 would then be repealed with approval of the new 
ordinance.   
 
Existing Site and Historic Church.  The project site is an approximately 22,000 square foot 
existing surface parking lot that serves the congregation of the Trinity Lutheran Church, who share 
the parking during non-church hours through leases to other downtown tenants.  Across the alley 
from the parking lot is the Trinity Lutheran Church with approximately 700 church members. The 
church has been a congregation in Boulder since 1895, starting first nearby. An undated photo of 
one of the events with the early congregation is shown in Figure 2.   
 
According to historic survey information from the Carnegie branch of the Boulder Public Library, 
the church was constructed in 1929 
after designs by Margaret Read of the 
architectural office of Glen 
Huntington. While the church is 
considered notable for its 1920s 
gothic-revival architecture and is also 
located in an area known as Boulder’s 
“church district” the primary 
architectural significance is because of 
the association with Margaret Read.  
A photo of the original blueprint from 
Carnegie Library is shown below 
alongside a recent photo of the 
original church. Figure 1:   

Photo from early Trinity Lutheran Church congregation 

Figure 2:   
Photo of Original Blueprint from the architect of the 

church, Margaret Read, 1929 

Figure 3:   
Original Church as it appears today, 

viewed from Broadway 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page     171



 

In 1966, a contemporary, “organic-
style” addition was constructed at 
the north side of the church (shown 
in Figure 4), designed by local mid-
century modernist architect, Hobart 
Wagener; he designed  over 200 
public and private buildings, 
including Ball Brothers Industrial 
Park (1956-1964), an addition to the 
First United Methodist Church 
(1958-60), Midland Savings and 
Loan (the Atrium, 1968-78) and 
Fairview High School (1970).  The 
Wagener addition is still visible at the 
rear of the church, shown in Figure 5 
behind a 1980s façade addition 
designed in a neo-traditional design 
consistent with the original church.   
 
While the original historic portion of 
the church remains intact and holds 
historic significance as having been 
designed by one of city’s first women 
architects, the Planning Board also 
discussed the importance of the 
Wagener addition.  Because the  
property is eligible for designation as a 
local historic landmark, a condition of 
the Site Review approval requires 
application to landmark the property.  
The intent to preserve the historic resources on the property was found to be an important 
community benefit associated with the proposed project.  
 
Proposed In-Fill Project.  As shown in Figure 6, the proposed redevelopment of the existing surface 
parking lot is planned three phases.  The first phase is planned to include 16 attached senior 
residential units on Mapleton Avenue and construction of partially below grade/structured parking, 
along with church’s Fellowship Hall along Broadway.  The hall would also be available for other 
community groups as meeting space.  The second phase is planned for church offices and office space 
also available for other non-profit organizations.  A Management Plan was prepared by the church for 
the planned use of these spaces.  The third phase is proposed as eight additional multi-family 
residential units also planned as permanently affordable units.  Other project images are shown in 
Figures 7 and 8.   With a total of 24 dwelling units, and a planned FAR of just under 1.0, the project 
requires approval of Ordinance 7978 by City Council to amend density and floor area ratio standards 
of the BT-2 zoning.  

Figure 5:   
Rear portion of  Wagener addition remains intact and is visible 

Figure 4:   
the Hobart Wagener “organic” form addition of 1966 with original church 

outlined in yellow  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page     172



 

Figure 6: Site Plan and Relationship to Existing Church 

Trinity Lutheran 
Church 

 
Broadway 

Broadway 

Mapleton 
Avenue 

Figure 7: Perspective Sketch looking toward northeast at the proposed project 

Figure 8:  Perspective Sketch looking toward southeast at the proposed project 

Alley 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page     173



 

ANALYSIS: 
 
The city has considered ordinances from time to time to modify city standards when a 
circumstance necessitated exceptions where either a public benefit would arise from the exception 
or an undue hardship on a property owner could be avoided.  In the case of Trinity Commons, it is 
to allow the requested number of units and floor area for a project with a high percentage 
affordable dwelling units in proximity to downtown as well as several other community benefits 
related to social sustainability.  Allowing affordable housing projects in appropriate locations has 
necessitated deviations from code in the past.  In addition to the approval of the previously adopted 
Ordinance 7516 for the similar project on the site, other examples of projects that had Land Use 
Code deviations through ordinance include those associated both with annexation and as 
standalone ordinances. These examples include projects where the community benefits, 
particularly affordable housing, were compelling enough to allow code variations through 
ordinance: 
 
 Foothills Affordable Residential Development: An ordinance that permitted an open space 

reduction to allow 130 dwelling units all built as permanently affordable units. 
 

 The Nomad Project at Quince and Broadway:  Ordinance through annexation allowed for 
 an  increase in number of units from five to eleven to permit three of the units to be 
 permanently affordable to low income households and an additional four units to be 
 permanently affordable to middle income households. 
 
 Iris Hollow: Annexation ordinance established RM-3 zoning which allowed a greater number 

of units than originally anticipated for the site.  The zoning permitted a diversity of housing 
types and the inclusion of 19 permanently affordable to low income households, as well as 
units affordable to middle income households. 
 

 Habitat/Violet Hollow: Ordinance through annexation that allowed density increase in 
 exchange for a development of 100% permanently affordable housing. 
 
For most of the above examples, the use of the ordinance was to modify a singular aspect of the 
code to permit the project. The Trinity Commons ordinance would allow additional units as well as 
greater floor area. It is important to note that the Trinity Commons Site and Use Review approvals 
simultaneously impose restrictions on the site and the approval includes a requirement for the 
applicant to apply to landmark the historic portion of the church.   
 
The proposed ordinance would not be a rezoning and would be wholly specific to the Trinity 
Commons project.  What this means is that if the ultimate project did not conform to the 
stipulations of the ordinance, the ordinance would expire and any subsequent developer and/or 
different plan would have to conform to the existing BT-2 zoning. 
 
Community Benefits through Approval of Ordinance.   The ordinance would permit the 
construction of up to 24 permanently affordable residential units, or 100 percent of the planned and 
allowed units.  This is considered the primary community benefit that far exceeds a base standard 
of 20 percent of the units built to meet the Inclusionary Housing goals. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page     174



 

The other community benefits identified with the proposed project include the planned Fellowship 
Hall, a space that serves both the church and as community space.  Similarly, the planned office 
space will serve the church as well as other non-profit organizations.  Both of these amenities 
provide benefit to the larger community.  The lack of large community meeting space around 
downtown Boulder is well known and availability of additional space will benefit the community.   
Further, with high demand and leasing rates for office space in the downtown, the office space 
available to the other non-profit organization is a community benefit.   
 
Given the finding that the church has notable historic value for its association with one of the first 
women architects in Boulder as well as association with local modernist architect, Hobart 
Wagener, the intent to apply to landmark the historic portions of the church is also considered an 
important community benefit.  Another recognized community benefit is that the proposed project 
will allow the 100+ year old church congregation to remain in Boulder thorough the expansion of 
their Fellowship Hall meeting space and church offices. The church acknowledges that part of their 
mission is to build affordable housing and therefore, the opportunity to enhance the usability of the 
church and simultaneously do mission work locally, is considered an important community benefit 
and one that furthers social sustainability goals.  
 
Consistency with BVCP Policies.   As a mixed use development on a major transit corridor that 
will provide ancillary uses for the Trinity Lutheran Church, along with 24 residential units 
proposed for permanently affordable housing and 16 of which are earmarked for senior housing, 
the project is consistent with a number of specific policies of the BVCP and in particular with 
following policies: 

1.03  Principles of Social Sustainability  
2.01  Unique Community Identity 
2.03  Compact Land Use Pattern 
2.10  Preservation and Support for Residential Neighborhoods 
2.13  Protection of Residential Neighborhoods Adjacent to Non-residential Zones 
2.14  Mix of Complementary Land Uses 
2.16  Mixed Use and Higher Density Development 
2.18  Role of the Central Area 
2.24  Preservation of Historic and Cultural Resources 
2.32  Physical Design for People 
2.37 Enhanced Design for Private Sector Projects:    
7.01  Local Solutions to Affordable Housing 
7.02  Permanently Affordable Housing 
7.03  Populations with Special Needs 
7.09  Housing for a Full Range of Households 
7.13  Integration of Permanently Affordable Housing 
8.05  Diversity 
 

Conclusion.  Staff finds that the proposed project as permitted through Ordinance 7978 is 
consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan would provide important community 
benefits that could further social sustainability.   
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page     175



 

Approved By: 
 
 
______________________________                                                        
Jane Brautigam 
City Manager   
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 

A. Ordinance No. 7978 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page     176



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 7978 
 

AN ORDINANCE  GRANTING AUTHORITY TO THE APPROVING AUTHORITY UNDER 
TITLE 9, “LAND USE CODE,” B.R.C. 1981, TO APPROVE A DEVELOPMENT THAT MAY 
EXCEED THE MAXIMUM RESIDENTIAL DENSITY AND THE MAXIMUM FLOOR AREA 
RATIO FOR A PROPERTY IN THE BUSINESS – TRANSITIONAL  2 DISTRICT (BT-2),   
LOCATED AT 2200 BROADWAY,  GENERALLY CALLED “TRINITY COMMONS;” 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE DOCUMENTS THAT WILL SECURE 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING AND OTHER LAND USES THAT WILL PROVIDE FOR 
COMMUNITY NEEDS;  REPEALING ORDINANCE NO. 7516; AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

A. On May 1, 2007, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 7516, which granted authority to the 
approving authority under Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to approve in Site Review a Trinity Commons 
Project, to be located at 2200 Broadway in the Business-Transitional District (BT-2), with modifications to 
residential density and floor area limitations provided that the overall development plan was consistent with Concept 
Plan No. LUR2006-00103 and the site review criteria set forth in Section 9-2-14(h), B.R.C. 1981.  The ordinance 
also required that at least 50% of residential units on the Property be permanently affordable. 

 
B. The national financial crisis following the adoption of Ordinance No. 7516 negatively affected the 

financial feasibility of the affordable housing configuration proposed in Concept Plan No. LUR2006-00103 and 
required under Ordinance No. 7516 for the property owner, a Colorado non-profit corporation.   

 
C. In 2013, a Site Review application was filed for a Trinity Commons Project (“Project”) under case 

No. LUR2013-00048 with modified plans for affordable housing rendering the overall development plan again 
financially feasible.  This ordinance addresses the changes to the plans for affordable housing that were a 
prerequisite under Ordinance No. 7516.  The Planning Board voted to conditionally approve Site Review LUR2013-
00048 on May 1, 2014, with the condition that an ordinance is passed by City Council authorizing modifications to 
the residential density and floor area ratio limitations necessary for the approval of LUR2013-00048. 
 

D. This ordinance shall repeal Ordinance No. 7516 and authorize the land use modifications 
necessary for the approval of Site Review No. LUR2013-00048. 

 
E. This ordinance shall be effective only as to the parcels of land generally described as 2200 

Broadway that are located between Mapleton Avenue and Pine Avenue on the east side of Broadway, which are 
approximately 34,746 square feet in size, more particularly described in Exhibit A, incorporated into this ordinance 
by this reference (the “Property”). 
 

F. This ordinance shall only be applicable to the owner of the Property, Trinity Evangelical English 
Lutheran Church, a Colorado non-profit corporation (the “Owner”) or its successor.  
 

G. The Project, although inconsistent with the underlying residential density and floor area limits of 
the BT-2, Transitional Business zoning district, is: 

 
 1. Consistent with the high density residential land use designation along Broadway; 
 
 2. Consistent with community policies contained within the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 

Plan related to affordable housing and neighborhood compatibility;  
 

3. An opportunity to create affordable housing and community meeting and office space for 
non-profit entities near downtown Boulder; and 

 
4. An opportunity to retain the church use downtown and landmark its historic building.  

 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 7978

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page     177



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

H. The Planning Board reviewed this ordinance on May 1, 2014, and after a public hearing, 
recommended that the City Council adopt this ordinance. 
 

I. Allowing the Project on the Property by the Owner with modifications to the density and floor 
area limits of the BT-2 district that is otherwise in compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, the 
Project is in the interest of the public health, safety, and welfare. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO, THAT: 

 
 Section 1. Ordinance No. 7516, adopted by the City Council of the City of Boulder on May 1, 2007, 

is hereby repealed.   

Section 2. The City Council finds that allowing the modifications to the density and floor area limits 

of the BT-2 zoning district described in this ordinance for the Property is in the interest of the public health, safety, 

and general welfare of the City of Boulder and consistent with the goals and policies of the Boulder Valley 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 Section 3. The City Council authorizes the approving authority, as described in Title 9, “Land Use 

Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to modify the dwelling unit per lot area and floor area ratio requirements of Section 9-8-1, 

“Schedule of Intensity Standards,” B.R.C. 1981, for the BT-2 zoning district for the Property as a part of the 

approval for Site Review LUR2013-00048 or for a site review with an overall development plan for the Property 

that is consistent with the basic intent of the plans dated Feb. 3, 2014 on file in the City of Boulder Planning 

Department for the Project, subject to the following: 

a. The approving authority finds that the application meets all the requirements of its laws, except as modified 
by this ordinance, including the requirements necessary for the approval of a site review.  The approving 
authority for the initial site review approval shall be either the Planning Board or the City Council. 
 

b. The residential density of the development on the Property shall not exceed 24 residential units.  The floor 
area of the development on the Property shall not exceed a 1.0 floor area ratio.   

 
c. The approximately 5,015-square foot community meeting space area and the approximately 2,775-square 

foot office space shall be considered accessory uses of the church and shall be used in accordance with a 
management plan, subject to review and approval of the city manager.  The Owner must operate these 
spaces for uses that are accessory to the religious assembly use and/or for uses that support non-profit 
organizations or other community uses.   

 
d. The Owner submits an application that is consistent with Chapter 9-11, “Historic Preservation,” B.R.C. 

1981 to have the historic church portion of the Property designated as an individual landmark and pursues 
that application in good faith. 

 
e. Any conditions required by this ordinance shall be included in the site review disposition approving the 

Project. 
 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 7978

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page     178



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 Section 4. Prior to the application for each and any residential building permit pursuant to an 

approval under this ordinance, the Owner shall execute deed restricting covenants and other agreements, in a form 

acceptable to the City Manager, to ensure that all dwelling units being constructed per that permit on the Property 

shall be permanently affordable and meet or exceed the standards of Chapter 9-13, “Inclusionary Housing,” B.R.C. 

1981.  Not less than sixteen dwelling units shall be constructed on the Property as part of an approval under this 

ordinance. 

 
The City Manager may modify the requirements on this section if the Owner demonstrates that it can, 

through an alternative plan, provide an affordable housing benefit equivalent to the benefit set forth in this section.  

Section 5. This ordinance does not limit the ability of an approving authority to modify other 

development standards through the Site Review process.  In the event that the Site Review application is called up 

for review by the City Council, the City Council retains the authority granted by this ordinance to permit the 

modifications stated herein.  This ordinance shall expire immediately if a site plan is approved that is found to be 

inconsistent with the Project or the conditions of this ordinance, or if the Owner allows a site review approval 

consistent with this ordinance to expire under the requirements of Chapter 9-2, “Review Processes,” B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 6. This ordinance shall be considered an amendment to Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981.  To 

the extent that this ordinance conflicts with any other ordinance of the city, such ordinance shall be suspended for 

the limited purpose of implementing this ordinance.  Nothing in this ordinance shall be construed as a waiver of the 

City’s police power. 

Section 7. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the 

residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern.   

Section 8. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only and 

orders copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the City Clerk for public inspection and 

acquisition. 

 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 

20th day of May 2014. 

      ______________________________ 
      Mayor 

 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 7978

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page     179



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Attest: 
 

__________________________ 
City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this ______ day of _______, 20____. 

 
______________________________ 

      Mayor 
Attest: 
 
__________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Attachment A: Legal Description 
 
 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 7978

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page     180



 

Attachment A – Ordinance No. 7978 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 

THAT certain property, generally located at 2200 Broadway Avenue, Boulder, Colorado, 80302, in the City 
and County of Boulder, State of Colorado, and more specifically described as follows: 
 
Parcel A: 
 
All of Lots 4, 5 and 6, Block 149, Boulder, together with a strip of land 10 feet wide off the south side of Hill Street 
(now Mapleton Avenue) in the City of Boulder and contiguous to the north line of said Lots 4, 5, and 6, as vacated by 
Deed from the City of Boulder to the Trustees of the Seventh Day Adventist Church, recorded February 27, 1891 in 
Book 113 at Page 549 and by Ordinance No. 1069 recorded July 29, 1926 in Book 547 at Page 269 and re-recorded 
March 9, 1940 in Book 684 at Page 335 and described as follows: 
 

Beginning at the northeast corner of said Lot 4; thence northerly along the easterly line of 
said Lot 4 extended northerly, a distance of 10 feet; thence westerly, parallel to the 
northerly line of said Lots 4, 5, and 6, a distance of 150 feet, more or less, to a point on the 
westerly line of said Lot 6 extended northerly; thence southerly, along the westerly line of 
said Lot 6 extended northerly, a distance of 10 feet to the northwest corner of Lot 6; thence 
easterly, along the northerly line of said Lots 4, 5, and 6, a distance of 150 feet, more or 
less, to the northeast corner of said Lot 4, and the Point of Beginning. 
 

 
Parcel B: 
 
Lot 7 and the Westerly 45 feet of Lot 8, Block 149, Boulder, except the East 5 feet along said Lot 8 as conveyed by 
Alonzo Macky to A. J. Chittenden by Deed recorded June 4, 1880 in Book 58 at Page 349. 
 
 

 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page     181



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page     182



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM  

 
MEETING DATE:  June 3, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  City Office Space Update 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Don Ingle, Information Technology Director 
Paul Leef, Boulder Civic Area Redevelopment Project Manager 
Joe Castro, Facilities and Fleet Manager 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Downtown city staffing needs continue to grow due to the number of significant efforts included 
on the city’s work plan.  The downtown office space study conducted as part of the Civic Area 
planning process identified a shortfall of 30,000 square feet (sf) in just the downtown area.  
Although space planning for replacement facilities for the Park Central and New Britain 
buildings will begin this year as part of the implementation of the Civic Area Plan, funding of 
such facilities are years away, and the need for an additional 36 office spaces in the downtown 
campus has been identified for the near-term.  It is not realistic to add these many spaces into the 
already crowded buildings used by city staff downtown.  Leased space options are being 
considered for workgroups that will not greatly impact public services or staff affinities. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
As outlined in Option 1 in Attachment C, staff requests council support to lease new office 
space for the IT Department.  If the current spaces available for lease don’t align with the needs 
identified for the IT Department, other options in this memo will be explored.  Renovations to 
the Municipal Building lobby are also recommended to accommodate additional staff. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 1Packet Page     183



Suggested Motion Language:  
Consideration of a Motion to proceed with recommended actions to address city office 
space needs in order to improve customer service. 
 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic:  Taxpayer and rate payer money will be used to lease property for additional work 

space needs for city employees.  This should not have an impact on the local economy or 
utility rates. 

• Environmental:  Any new leased space will require tenant finishes to prepare the space for 
the workgroups using it.  Facilities and Asset Management (FAM) uses environmentally 
friendly contractors and products in office renovation projects.  Depending on the location of 
leased space chosen, it may influence the travel choices of those who work there.  

• Social:  There are no social impacts expected for the options considered.  Workgroups 
considered for relocation to leased space are not those that have a significant public interface. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal - Currently, available leased properties range from $315,000 to $750,000 in first-
year costs for rent, tenant finishes, utilities and IT connectivity.  These first-year costs 
will be allocated among the following funds based on 2014 staff and office space needs 
in the Park Central and New Britain buildings (see Attachment A). 

o General Fund (39%):  $395,000 - $565,000  
o Transportation Fund (25%):  $80,000 - $190,000 
o PD&S Fund (20%):  $88,000 - $175,000 
o Utilities Fund  (9%):  $30,000 - $70,000 
o Housing Fund (6%):  $19,000 - $45,000 

 
Office space needs in the Municipal Building are estimated at $270,000, which will be 
paid out of the General Fund.  For the Atrium Building, $25,000 is necessary to 
accommodate space needs and will be funded by the Planning and Development Services  
(PD&S) fund.  Total funding from all 2014 funds will range from $612,000 to 
$1,045,000.  Staff recommendations identify the lowest cost option in moving forward. 
 

• Budgetary – Beyond first-year costs, there will be lease and utility costs ranging from 
$145,000 to $563,000.  Staff will prioritize this budget need within existing funds. 

• Staff time – This work is part of the normal work plan. 
 
BACKGROUND 
As of early 2013, the city had approximately 400 employees in the downtown campus.  These 
employees worked in several buildings including the Municipal, New Britain, Main Library, 
Park Central, West Senior Center, Atrium and two small buildings along 13th Street.  In addition, 
the city leases office space on 14th Street for the Energy Future and the TBBI project teams. 
 
Approved in the fall of 2013, the Civic Area Vision Plan call for the New Britain and Park 
Central buildings be vacated and demolished (in the long term) due to their location in the high 
hazard flood zone.  A space study conducted as part of the Civic Area planning process 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 2Packet Page     184



identified a shortage of more than 30,000 square feet of office and meeting space for existing 
staff and public needs (as compared to industry standards for office space).  In early 2013, staff 
spaces were described as below standard, overcrowded and impairing employee productivity.  
Replacement facilities for city staff could range from a minimum of 60,000 to 120,000 sf, 
depending on what downtown functions would be consolidated into a single facility.  The space 
study also identified affinities between many workgroups that function better when co-located.  
The study also found that groups providing internal support functions, such as IT and City 
Attorney’s Office (CAO), were better candidates for relocation as they support all staff and don’t 
necessarily need to be co-located with any one particular workgroup.  These groups also have a 
very limited public interface and could be located in a less centralized, downtown location.  
More detailed discussions about these space needs and opportunities for enhancing the delivery 
of city services will begin later this year as part of planning for Phases 2 and 3 of Civic Area 
implementation. 
 
In a Feb 5, 2013 Council Agenda item, staff presented a plan to lease downtown office space for 
the CAO in close proximity to the municipal campus.  Council members expressed concerns 
about the high costs of the leased space, the lease of potential store-front spaces on street level 
that might otherwise be used by retail businesses, and the desire to keep CAO functions in the 
Municipal Building. 
 
ANALYSIS 
In 2014 budget, positions were added that will require 24 additional downtown work spaces.  
These space needs are a result of an increase in staffing to support several efforts, including the 
passage of 2013 ballot items that include six for transportation funding, six for flood recovery 
efforts, one for the resiliency grant, and four with department position transfers.  Additional staff 
for flood support, position transfers to the downtown area, and previous budget years add another 
12 work space needs. 
 
In total, there are 36 additional downtown office space needs for 2014.  The needs for each 
building are shown in Attachment A.  The biggest impacts are in Park Central where staff is co-
located due to working affinities with other workgroups.  Of the 36 total positions, 19 are 
standard positions and 17 are fixed term or temporary.  The total space needs identified also 
include a few vacant positions that were previously located in other buildings or facilities that are 
now being repurposed and shifted to programs that are located in the downtown campus.   
 
In late 2013 and early 2014, further study of the office space needs and affinities showed that 
some functions could relocate outside of Park Central as long as travel time was not prohibitive.  
Additionally, IT functions could still move out of the downtown area and maintain its internal 
services. 
 
In light of City Council’s previous guidance, staff has developed revised options to provide 
additional work and meeting spaces.  These options would create space in the desired locations 
for the additional staff planned for 2014 as well as continue to support the affinities and 
collaborative needs for all the workgroups involved. 
 
Municipal Building Renovations 
Communication Division staff have been consolidated in the Channel 8 offices (north portion of 
the main library), to free up office space for the five additional staff in the Municipal Building.  

Agenda Item 6A     Page 3Packet Page     185



While this consolidation helps, it does not meet the need of increased staff positions in Finance 
and Licensing. 
 
To accommodate additional staffing and customer needs, additional renovations are 
recommended on the first floor of the Municipal Building (in the lobby area).  This work would 
create a consolidated customer service desk for reception, Sales Tax and Utility Billing and also 
includes five additional office spaces.  A rendering of a new central counter is shown in 
Attachment B.  Work in the Municipal Building is estimated at $270,000. 
 
This potential work would temporarily eliminate the possibility of an east entry into the 
Municipal Building and connections to the Sisters Cities Plaza.  As part of the Civic Area 
implementation, wayfinding and pedestrian connections to all parts of the downtown campus are 
being analyzed and planned.  These connections will enhance the visibility of existing entries to 
the Municipal Building, with particular attention to security concerns and connecting and 
activating segregated elements.  If the Municipal Building is repurposed in the future or an east 
entry is desired, the lobby can be reconfigured at that time.  
 
MATRIX OF OPTIONS 
Staff prepared four options for council consideration.  In general, the options include IT leases 
office space, Transportation Division (engineering and planning) lease office space, CAO lease 
office space and Transportation Division (general transportation and traffic engineering) lease 
office space.  A matrix of option including pros and cons of each can be found in Attachment C. 
 
Municipal Building Renovations 
For the five additional staff in the Municipal Building, offices were vacated with the 
consolidation of Communications staff into the Channel 8 offices in the north portion of the 
Main Library; however, that does not meet the need of an increase in staff positions, especially in 
Finance and Licensing.  Additional renovations are recommended in the first floor of the 
Municipal Building Lobby to consolidate the service desks for Reception, Sales Tax and Utility 
Billing into one consolidated central counter, which also includes the addition of five office 
spaces.  A rendering of a new central counter is shown on Attachment B.  Work in the 
Municipal Building is estimated at $270,000. 
 
This new central counter does temporarily eliminate the possibility of an east entry into the 
Municipal Building and connections to the Sisters Cities Plaza.  Wayfinding and pedestrian 
connections to all parts of the downtown campus is being planned for in the Civic Area Plan, 
which may help address the original concerns that were raised when the discussion of moving 
the Municipal Building entrance was raised.  These connections will enhance the visibility of 
existing entries to the Municipal Building with security concerns in mind and connect and 
activate segregated elements.  Should the Municipal Building be re-purposed in the future, the 
lobby can be reconfigured at that time. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends Option 1 - leasing space for the IT Department.  This is the lowest cost option 
and will have the smallest impact on workplace affinities.   
 
If the lease spaces available don’t align with the needs identified for the IT Department, other 
options in this memo will be explored.   

Agenda Item 6A     Page 4Packet Page     186



 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A. 2014 Downtown Office Space Additions 
B. Rendering of New Central Counter in Municipal Building Lobby  
C. Matrix of Options   

Agenda Item 6A     Page 5Packet Page     187



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 6Packet Page     188



Attachment A:  2014 Downtown Office Space Additions 
 
 

Main Library (North) [+2]*  Muni Bldg [+5]   Atrium [+4]* 
  Communications (+2)       Communications (-2)    Civic Area (+2) 
       CAO (+1)     P&DS (+2) 
          Budget (+1)    
       Licensing (+2)  
       Finance (+3)      
 

 
 New Britain [+5]   Park Central [+20] 

   NB1:  HR (+2)     CP&S and Flood (+5) 
   NB2:  HS (+1)     Trans (+6) 
   NB2/3:  IT (+2)     Utilities (+2) 
       P&DS (+4) 
       PW Admin and Flood (+3)  
 
Overall:  +36 

 
 The additional space needs in the Library and Atrium can be accommodated within existing areas in those 

buildings. 
  

Agenda Item 6A     Page 7Packet Page     189



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 8Packet Page     190



Attachment B:  Rendering of New Central Counter in Municipal Building Lobby 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 9Packet Page     191



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 10Packet Page     192



Attachment C: Matrix of Options 
 

Option 1:  IT Lease Space 
1. Move the entire IT Department (30 offices) out of the New Britain Building to a 7,000 sf 

leased space area. 
 Option 1a:  

• Move Park Central 2nd Floor staff to New Britain – Transportation engineering 
(16 offices) and GO Boulder Transportation planning (13 offices), total of 29. 

• Move the remaining Park Central workgroups and new staff into the 2nd floor 
vacated space. 

• Provides five extra spaces in Park Central and one in New Britain for 2015 and 
beyond. 

  Option 1b: 
• Move Transportation engineering (16 offices) and Utilities engineering (14 

offices) to New Britain. 
• Move the remaining Park Central workgroups and new staff into the 2nd and 4th 

floor vacated space. 
o Provides six extra spaces in Park Central; none in New Britain for 2015 and 

beyond. 
  Option 1c:  

• Move Community Planning and Sustainability (CP&S) and Public Works 
administration, which includes department directors, communications staff, 
administrative service manager, project manager, financial staff and flood staff 
(21 offices) to New Britain. 

• Move the remaining Park Central workgroups and new staff into the 2nd and 4th 
floor vacated space. 

• Provides no extra spaces in Park Central and nine in New Britain for 2015 and 
beyond. 

PROs:   
• Relocates the IT Department, which does not have close working affinities with other 

downtown staff offices or a need to interface with the public. 
• IT staff have the flexibility to lease space further away from high rent areas and also operate 

in flexible office arrangements, which results in an overall smaller footprint of required 
leased space and thus, lower costs. 

• Depending on which sub-option selected, provides for growth past 2014. 
Estimated Annual Cost:  $145,000-200,000/year + moving costs (7,000 sf) 
 
 
Option 2:  Transportation engineering and planning Lease Space 

1. Move Transportation engineering (16) and planning (10) = 26 total staff out of Park 
Central to leased offices in the downtown area. 

2. Move the remaining Park Central workgroups into the vacated spaces. 
3. Provides six extra spaces in Park Central for 2015+ 

 
PROs: 
• Potential to maintain working affinities if leased space is relatively close to downtown office 

areas. 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 11Packet Page     193



 
CONs: 
• Leased office space close to current city offices are twice the cost and have limited parking 

opportunities. 
• Limited future growth potential and overcrowding in New Britain will remain. 
Estimated Cost:  $305,000-563,000/year + moving costs (8,730 sf-12,874 sf) 
 
Option 3:  CAO Lease Space 

1. Move CAO (20) out of the Municipal Building into a leased facility in the downtown 
area. 

2. Move Human Resources (HR) out of 1st floor New Britain into the CAO vacated space in 
the Municipal Building. 

3. Move the Utilities engineering (17) and temporary CP&S and Water Resources staff (3) 
into the HR vacated space in New Britain. 

4. Move remaining Park Central workgroups into vacated spaces. 
5. Provides one extra space in New Britain; creates office deficiency (4) in Park Central. 

PROs: 
• Can maintain working affinities if leased space for CAO is relatively close to the downtown 

office areas. 
CONs: 
• Vacating 20 offices not provide space for 2014 needs. 
• Leased office space for CAO close to current city offices are twice the cost and have limited 

parking opportunities. 
Estimated Cost:  $600,000/year + moving costs (7,000 sf) 
 
Option 4:  Transportation and Traffic engineering Lease Space 

1. Move Transportation engineering (16 spaces) and Traffic engineering (3 spaces) to a 
leased, non-downtown property. 

2. Move the remaining Park Central workgroups into the vacated spaces. 
3. Creates office deficiency (3) in Park Central. 

PROs: 
• Maintains affinity between Transportation engineering and Traffic engineering. 
• Space located outside of the downtown area is less expensive and provides more parking 

opportunities. 
• Potential to find suitable space on the eastern edge of downtown in between the downtown 

and the Municipal Services Center (Yards) where there are additional work affinities. 
CONs: 
• Does not provide space for 2014 needs 
• Creates distance between these workgroups and other Park Central affinities (Utilities, 

Development Review, Comprehensive Planning and department leadership). 
• Limited future growth potential and overcrowding in New Britain will remain. 
Estimated Cost:  $400,000/year + moving costs (10,000 sf) 
 
 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 12Packet Page     194



 

                   
 
 
TO:  Members of Council 
FROM: Dianne Marshall, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE: June 3, 2014 
SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 
 
1. CALL UPS 

None. 
 

2. INFORMATION ITEMS 
A. 2013 Neighborhood Permit Parking Program Annual Update 

 
3. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

A. Human Relations Commission – May 19, 2014 
 B. Open Space Board of Trustees – May 14, 2014 
 C. Transportation Advisory Board – April 14, 2014 
 D. Water Resources Advisory Board – February 24, 2014 
 E. Water Resources Advisory Board – March 17, 2014 
 F. Water Resources Advisory Board – April 21, 2014 

 
4. DECLARATIONS 

A. Alice Healy Day – June 7, 2014 
 B. Peter Molnar Day – June 3, 2014 

 

Packet Page     195



 

Packet Page     196



 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To:     Members of Council 
 
From:       Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
                 Molly Winter, Director, Downtown and University Hill Management  

     Division and Parking Services 
                 Eric Guenther, Assistant Parking Manager 
 
Date:        June 3, 2014 
 
Subject:   Information Item:  2013 Neighborhood Permit Parking Program Annual Update 
  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this information packet is to provide the 2013 Annual Update of the 
Neighborhood Permit Parking (NPP).   
 
The NPP program goals include improving the balance between preserving neighborhood 
character and providing public access to community facilities. 
 
Expansions to the Mapleton Hill, Whittier and East Ridge NPP were initiated in early 2013. 
Specific to the Mapleton Hill NPP was the remodel of the Mapleton Early Childhood Center, 
which impacted the parking in the adjoining neighborhood. Acknowledging the needs of the 
community and the Boulder Valley School District, it was vital to get a true sense of the parking 
impact during construction and again, once the school was open. This created a significant delay 
in the process, which took the request for expansion into 2014.   
 
In the Fairview NPP, a request to remove three block faces caused the neighborhood members to 
re-evaluate the purpose and the need of the NPP. After several months, those who initiated the 
petition requested that the Fairview NPP remain as it was established in 2002. 
 
FINANCIAL 
Since 2006, the Resident Permits have remained at $17 annually. Each resident within a NPP 
may receive two free visitor permits with the purchase of a resident permit; along with guest 
permits, which are also free and available upon request. The cost of commuter permits has 
remained at $78 quarterly or $312 per year, while the cost of business permits remains $75 
annually. 

Information Item - NPP Annual Update 2A     Page 1Packet Page     197



Business permits make up three percent of the total permit sales for 2013, while commuter 
permits account for 58% and residential permits account for 39%. The sale of residential and 
commuter permits continue to maintain the financial support for the NPP program. 
 
Revenue from the sale of commuter and resident permits is expected to cover the program costs 
with the goal of being revenue neutral. There were no NPP expansions during 2013, which is 
reflective of revenues exceeding expenses. Expenses vary year to year based on whether there 
are citizen requests for new zones or expansions requiring surveys.  
 
2013 Revenue from Resident/Business/Visitor permits sales $ 41,289 
2013 Revenue from Commuter permit sales $ 86,128 
 $127,417 
 
2013 NPP Program Direct Expenses* $ 60,337 
2013 Administrative Program Expenses $ 12,261 
 $ 72,599 
*The NPP revenue and expenses do not include enforcement.  
 

2013 Annual Permit Sales by Zone 
Location Resident Business Commuter Total 

Columbine  $   3,451   $           -        $        676  $   4,127  
Fairview  $      442   $           -  $            -   $      442  

Goss/Grove  $   5,474   $      975   $     9,926   $ 16,375  
High/Sunset  $      884   $           -   $     1,418   $   2,302  

Mapleton Hill  $   5,899   $           -   $   23,511   $ 29,410  
University Hill  $ 11,815   $      225   $   13,290   $ 25,330  

Whittier  $   7,786   $      600   $   24,953   $ 33,339  
West Pearl  $   1,995   $      525   $   12,354   $ 14,834  
East Ridge  $      646   $           -   $            -     $      646  

University Heights  $      612   $           -   $            -   $      612  
Totals:  $ 38,964   $   2,325   $  86,128   $127,417  

 
Commuter permits sales have remained relatively consistent since 2002 with an average of 
$47,805 of generated revenue. Since 2002, permits sold average 630 per year or 157 per quarter. 
  

Information Item - NPP Annual Update 2A     Page 2Packet Page     198



Commuter Permit Sales by Year 
Year Fee Revenue Permits Sold Per Quarter 
2004  $    78   $ 47,637  611 152 
2005  $    78   $ 43,418  557 139 
2006  $    78   $ 44,053  565 141 
2007  $    78   $ 48,413  621 155 
2008  $    78   $ 49,186  631 158 
2009  $    78   $ 46,592  597 149 
2010  $    78  $ 47,174  605 151 
2011  $    78  $ 48,689 624 156 
2012  $    78  $ 60,427 775 194 
2013  $    78   $86,112 1,104 276 

 
EXPANSIONS 
There were three NPP expansions that began in 2013 and will be finalized in 2014, these include: 

• Mapleton Hill NPP 
East & West sides of the 2300 block of 7th St. 
North & South sides of the 600 block of Mapleton St. 
North & South sides of the 700 block of Mapleton St. 
North & South sides of the 600 block of Highland St. 

 
• Whittier NPP 

East side of the 2000 block of 18th St. 
 

• East Ridge NPP 
North side of the 2800 block of Pennsylvania Ave.  
 

• Fairview NPP 
A petition was submitted to remove the South side of 3600 to the 3700 block of 
Longwood Ave. but the residents of this NPP reconsidered and this proposed removal 
was withdrawn.  

Information Item - NPP Annual Update 2A     Page 3Packet Page     199



UTILIZATION 
In the ten NPP zones operated in 2013, there were approximately 775 commuter spaces 
available, of which 276 annual (1,104 quarterly) commuter permits were sold. 
 

Relationship between NPP Program & Adjacent Parking Supply/Demand 
Location Inventory Sold Cost Per Year Wait List 

CAGID Structures 2209 2102**  $               1,020  179 
CAGID Surface Lots 203 258  $                  620  85 
UHGID Surface Lot 49 59  $                  564  1 

Total NPP Commuter 1,104 276  $                  312  N/A 
Columbine 260 2     
Fairview 20 0     

Goss/Grove 38      32     
High/Sunset 43        5     

Mapleton Hill 75      75     
University Hill 128 43     

Whittier 173 72    
West Pearl 38 40     
East Ridge 0 0     

University Heights 0 0     
NPP Residential  N/A  2292  $                    17   N/A  

*   Data as of 1/04/2014 
** Balance maintained for short-term parking. 

 
THE STATUS OF ALTERNATIVE MODE STRATEGIES 
2013 total ridership was down -.2% compared to 2012 totals. According to RTD's fare box data, 
average weekday passengers served on the CTN for 2013 was as follows: 

2013 Average Daily Passengers Served CTN 
SKIP 5,102  1.5% decline from 2012 
JUMP  1,810                4% decline from 2012  

BOUND 1,437    5% decline from 2012  
DASH 2,334    6% decline from 2012  
HOP 2,874  .15% decline from 2012 

STAMPEDE         1,185  16% increase from 2012  
BOLT 1,690  5%  increase from 2012 

TOTAL 16,432   
(52% of Boulder’s total daily passengers served in 2013) 
 
 

Information Item - NPP Annual Update 2A     Page 4Packet Page     200



NPP ENFORCEMENT 
Revenues from NPP tickets make up approximately 14% of the City’s total ticket revenues, 
while accounting for 50%-60% of the total enforcement resources.  The remaining 86% of ticket 
revenues comes from all other types of enforcement using the remaining 40%-50% of the 
enforcement resources. 
 

Citations Issued in NPP Zones for Time Restriction 
Year Days of Enforcement Number of Citation Issued 
2004 620 10,462 
2005 635 11,629 
2006 587   9,819 
2007 588   8,613 
2008 599 11,529 
2009 485   9,125 
2010 477   11,913  
2011 688 12,810 
2012 740 15,296 
2013 793 12,723 

 

There was a 17% decrease in the number of citations issued from 2012 to 2013, which was the 
result of the License Plate Recognition system was not being operational for six months. The 
LPR system normally provides twice the coverage of a NPP zone, generally patrolling two NPP 
zones. When operational, the LPR has the capacity to read over 5,000 license plates and can 
detect overtime violations, scofflaw violations and identifies cars without NPP permits. In 2012 
we saw a 19% increase due to the use of the LPR system. 

2013 Enforcement by Zone 
Locations # of Days Citations Daily Average 

 University Hill 196 6,326 32 
Mapleton/West Pearl 115 1,334 12 
Whittier/High Sunset 109 2,187 20 

Columbine/Fairview/East Ridge * 135    481 4 
Whittier Nights  19    998 52 
Goss/Grove* 110         881 8 

Total  12,723              21 
* Enforcement varies depending on staffing levels 

 
 

 
  

Information Item - NPP Annual Update 2A     Page 5Packet Page     201



In 2013, Parking Services wrote 98,683 tickets of which 12,723 (13%) were issued for NPP 
violations. A total of $2,209,962 in parking violations was collected in 2013.  If all tickets for 
NPP violations were collected at the average rate of $20, the total revenue would be $254,460. In 
addition, 914 tickets were voided or warnings were issued in an attempt to educate customers 
about the rules of the NPP zones. All ticket revenue and enforcement costs are allocated to the 
General Fund and are not reflected in the NPP program revenue or expenses.  
 

Fine:  Violation: 
$15.00  Expired Meter, Parking where sign prohibits 
$20.00  Parking beyond the posted time restriction without a permit (NPP) 
$25.00  Parking in a Loading Zone or alley 
$112.00 Parking in a Handicap Space 

 
2014 WORK PLAN 
The NPP 2014 Work Plan includes: 

• Maintain the current NPP Program service levels in 2013. 
• Complete the expansions in Mapleton Hill, Whittier and East Ridge NPPs. 
• Review additional requests to expand Mapleton Hill NPP. 
• 2014 Annual Update 
• As part of the Access and Parking Management Strategy (AMPS), the cost of permits 

will be reviewed as well as the process for zone expansions. 
 
The 2014 NPP Program allocated $15,000 for implementation of the possible expansion of 
existing zones and for the establishment of new zones.  
 
Cc: Transportation Advisory Board 

Information Item - NPP Annual Update 2A     Page 6Packet Page     202



City of Boulder 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING SUMMARY FORM 

 
NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION: Human Relations Commission 
DATE OF MEETING:  May 19, 2014 
NAME/TELEPHONE OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY: Kim Pearson (303) 441-4197 
NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 
Commissioners–  
 Amy Zuckerman, Shirly White, Emilia Pollauf, Peter Osnes 
Staff –   
Karen Rahn, Carmen Atilano, Kim Pearson 
Commissioners absent -  José Beteta (attending Bd a& Commission orientation)        
WHAT TYPE OF MEETING (CIRCLE ONE)     [REGULAR]     [SPECIAL]     [QUASI-JUDICIAL] 

AGENDA ITEM 1 - CALL TO ORDER – The May 19, 2014 HRC meeting was called to order at 5:59 p.m. 
by A. Zuckerman.   

AGENDA ITEM 2 – AGENDA ADJUSTMENTS – None.  

AGENDA ITEM 3 – APPROVAL OF MINUTES – S. White moved to accept the Apr. 21, 2014 minutes.   
P. Osnes seconded the motion.  Motion carries 4-0.  
AGENDA ITEM 4 – COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION (non-agenda action items) – None. 

AGENDA ITEM 5 – ACTION ITEMS  
A. 2014 Community Impact Fund Applications  

1. Boulder History Museum – S. White moved to fund the Request for Proposal in the amount of 
$2,000. E. Pollauf seconded the motion. Motion carries 4-0.  

B. Letter of Support to BVSD– S. White moved to approve the letter of support. P. Osnes seconded the 
motion. Motion carries 4-0.  Upon input of City Attorney, submit letter of support for transgender 
bathroom accomodation either to the BVSD School Board or City Council for approval 

AGENDA ITEM 6 – DISCUSSION/INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
A. 2014 HRC Work Plan 

1. Living Wage Policy Update – Commissioners and staff discussed next step in researching living 
wage policy. Denver representatives will be invited to June HRC meeting. 

2. Update on MEI Review – Commissioners and staff discussed the follow up on the Municipal 
Equality Index review by HRC sub-committee. 

3. Legislative Update – C. Atilano explained that the current status of SB 14-005 and HB 14-1124, 
two bills that HRC recommended to City Council for support.  

4. Celebration of Immigrant Heritage RFP – C. Atilano explained that the Celebration of 
Immigrant Heritage Week has been moved to the first week of October and will not be connected 
to the first anniversary of the flood.   

5. July HRC Meeting – C. Atilano confirmed that the July HRC meeting will take place at Out 
Boulder.  

B. Homeless Update – K. Rahn provided information on the city’s work to address homelessness.  
C. Event Reports 
D. Bolder Boulder – Commissioners and staff discussed community feedback to the Bolder Boulder “Sea 

Level is for Sissies” shirt.  
E. Event Reports  

1. YOAB Outstanding Youth Volunteer Award Reception – E. Pollauf, A. Zuckerman, and J. 
Beteta attended and enjoyed the event, held at Ají Restaurant. 

F. Follow Up Tasks – 1) Enter into Community Impact Fund contract in the amount of $2,000 with Boulder 
History Museum; 2) Upon input of City Attorney, submit  Letter of Support either to the BVSD School 

Boards and Commissions - HRC  May 19, 2014 3A     Page 1Packet Page     203



Board or City Council for approval; 3) Prepare next steps for living wage issue by following up on 
Denver’s living wage ordinance and inviting CU Boulder sociology professor to attend June HRC 
meeting; 4) Follow up on the Municipal Equality Index review by HRC sub-committee; 5) Send 
commissioners the city website links on the homeless issue; 6) Speak with City Manager about the 
possibility of revisiting the issue of park closures; 7) Host an off-site HRC meeting in relation to the issue 
of homelessness, at a homeless advocacy organization; and 8) Provide updates on Bolder Boulder t-shirt 
issue.  

AGENDA ITEM 7 – IMMEDIATE ACTION ITEMS – None.  

AGENDA ITEM 8 – Adjournment – E. Pollauf moved to adjourn the May 19, 2014 meeting. P. Osnes 
seconded the motion. Motion carries 4-0.   The meeting was adjourned at 7:27 p.m. 

TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL 
HEARINGS: The next regular meeting of the HRC will be June 16, 2014 at 6:00 p.m. in City Council 
Chambers, 1777 Broadway St.  

Boards and Commissions - HRC  May 19, 2014 3A     Page 2Packet Page     204



    
 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

Boards and Commissions Minutes 

 
NAME OF COMMISSION:  Open Space Board of Trustees 

DATE OF MEETING: May 14, 2014 

NAME/EXTENSION OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY:   Leah Case x2025 

NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT:   

 

MEMBERS:  Tom Isaacson, Shelley Dunbar, Frances Hartogh, Molly Davis, Kevin Bracy Knight 

 

STAFF:   Mike Patton , Jim Reeder, Dave Kuntz, Lisa Dierauf, Steve Armstead, Mark Gershman,         

Alycia Knutson, Annie McFarland, Lynn Riedel, Leah Case, Michele Gonzales, Alyssa Frideres,     

Paula Marie Lewis, Jayne Basford 

  

 

TYPE OF MEETING:                     REGULAR        CONTINUATION          SPECIAL 

SUMMATION:  

 

AGENDA ITEM 1- Approval of the Minutes 
Shelley Dunbar moved to approve the minutes from May. 9, 2014 as amended.  Kevin Bracy Knight 

seconded. This motion passed unanimously.  

 

AGENDA ITEM 2- Public Participation 
Bill Briggs, Boulder, said Open Space staff needs to be commended highly for opening trails so quickly after 

the flood. He said there is a lot of work that still needs to be done on the system and suggested a program 

which would allow users to freely do basic trail maintenance.  

 

Jim Knopf, Boulder, asked the Board to discuss possible trail construction for Skunk Canyon. 

 

Eileen Monyok, Boulder, asked about the changes to the Voice and Sight Tag Program, and how those who 

are already a part of the program would register.  

 

Mike Barrow, Boulder Mountain Bike Alliance (BMA), gave an update on the Smart Trail application. He 

also voiced his support for Bill Briggs volunteer trail work program.  

 

AGENDA ITEM 3- Director’s Updates 
Lynn Riedel, Plant Ecologist, gave a presentation on the ecological best management practices for trails.  

 

 

Boards and Commissions - OSBT May 14, 2014 3B     Page 1Packet Page     205



Lisa Dierauf, Community Outreach Supervisor, and Steve Armstead, Environmental Planner, gave an update 

on the Voice and Sight Tag Program implementation changes. 

 

Dave Kuntz, Resource Systems Division Manager, Acting, gave a first quarter update on the 2014 Work 

Plan. 

 

Mark Gershman, Environmental Planning Supervisor, gave an update on Greenways.   

 

AGENDA ITEM 4- Matters from the Board 
Molly Davis gave an update on the resilience strategy workshop she attended.  

 

AGENDA ITEM 5 – Recommendation to enter into a revocable nonexclusive license pursuant to 
Boulder City Charter Section 171(a) and Section 175(h) between Open Space and Mountain Parks and 
Thomas and Beth Heinrich located at 3173 Third St., Boulder CO to perform mitigation work related 
to damage caused by a land slump as a result of the extreme rainfall event of Sept. 11-14, 2013.* 
Jim Reeder, Land and Visitor Services Division Manager, gave a presentation on a revocable nonexclusive 

license to perform mitigation work due to a land slump that flowed from Open Space into the Heinrich 

property. 

 

This item spurred one motion: 

Shelley Dunbar moved the Open Space Board of Trustees recommend that the department grant a 
revocable, nonexclusive license to Thomas and Beth Heinrich located at 3173 Third St., Boulder CO to 
perform mitigation work as described in Attachment B related to damage caused by a land slump as a 
result of the extreme rainfall event of Sept. 11-14, 2013. Kevin Bracy Knight seconded. This motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6 – Consideration of an approach to repairing flood damage to the Royal Arch Trail* 
Mike Patton, Director, OSMP, gave an update to the Board on the possible options for repair on Royal Arch 

Trail. 

 

ADJOURNMENT: The meeting adjourned at 9:37 p.m. 

 

ATTACH BRIEF DETAILS OF ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS:   

 

 

TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS:   

The next OSBT meeting will be at 1777 Broadway in the Council Chambers June 11, 2014 at 6:00 p.m. 

 

Boards and Commissions - OSBT May 14, 2014 3B     Page 2Packet Page     206



Boards and Commissions - TAB  April 14, 2014 3C     Page 1Packet Page     207



Boards and Commissions - TAB  April 14, 2014 3C     Page 2Packet Page     208



Boards and Commissions - TAB  April 14, 2014 3C     Page 3Packet Page     209



Boards and Commissions - TAB  April 14, 2014 3C     Page 4Packet Page     210



Boards and Commissions - TAB  April 14, 2014 3C     Page 5Packet Page     211



 

Packet Page     212



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  February 24, 2014

3D     Page 1Packet Page     213



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  February 24, 2014

3D     Page 2Packet Page     214



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  February 24, 2014

3D     Page 3Packet Page     215



 

Packet Page     216



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  March 17, 2014`

3E     Page 1Packet Page     217



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  March 17, 2014`

3E     Page 2Packet Page     218



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  March 17, 2014`

3E     Page 3Packet Page     219



 

Packet Page     220



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  April 21, 2014

3F     Page 1Packet Page     221



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  April 21, 2014

3F     Page 2Packet Page     222



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  April 21, 2014

3F     Page 3Packet Page     223



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB  April 21, 2014

3F     Page 4Packet Page     224



Packet Page     225



 

Packet Page     226



Peter Molnar Day
June 3,2014

WHEREAS, on January 16,2014, it was announced that Peter Molnar was the
winner of the 2074 Crafoord Prize in Geosciences by the Royal
Swedish Academy of Sciences; and

\ilHEREAS, Peter Molnar is Professor in the Department of Geological
Sciences and Fellow in the Cooperative Institute for Research in
Environmental Sciences at the University of Colorado Boulder; and

WHEREAS, he was honored for his groundbreaking contribution to the
understanding of global tectonics, in particular the deformation of
continents and the structure and evolution of mountain ranges, as well
as the impact of tectonic processes on ocean-atmosphere circulation
and climate; and

WHEREAS, his research is adding to our understanding of regional and
global climate change, as well as earthquake risks; and

WHEREAS, he serves as a scientific inspiration to students and young
scientists; and

WHEREAS, his research was performed at the University of Colorado
Boulder in Boulder, Colorado; and

WHEREAS, His Majesty Carl XVI Gustav, King of Sweden, awarded him his
prize at ceremonies held in the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences in
Stockholm, Sweden, on May 6,2014; and

WHEREAS, he was then the guest of the Crafoord family at the University of
Lund in Lund, Sweden

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT DECLARED by the City Council of the city of
Boulder, Colorado that Tuesday, June 3,20I4,is

Peter Molnar Day

7WJ^ Q/rlJ*"*
Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor

Packet Page     227



Packet Page     228



Packet Page     229



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council
Briefing - with other related 

efforts, workplan

SS - objectives, recommended 

early action items
Briefing

Direction on policy 

options

Adopt strategy and 

action plan

Staff Activities

Housing choice analysis; needs 

assessment; best practices; 

trends data; workplan

Opportunity site inventory; 

potential tools with "bang for 

buck" analysis

Develop policy options and 

recommendations; 

stakeholder engagement

Council
IP - update and preliminary 

policy choices
Briefing - options and feedback Update and direction

Staff Activities Public meeting with options
Preferred options and refined 

action plan
Action plan

Council
Briefing - issues, scope, and 

feedback

SS - preferred scenarios, draft 

plan, and action plan

Plan "Lite" - council 

action

Next Corridor - 30th 

St or Colorado

Staff Activities
Joint East Arapahoe workshop 

to "test" planning workshop

East Arapahoe scope of work, 

public workshop, scenario 

modeling, character definition

Scenario refinement ad 

recommendations

Develop East Arapahoe 

action plan

Council Briefing - scope agenda SS - scoping session SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Agenda setting workshop 4/28
Hire Asst. City Manager, begin 

strategy development
Scope strategy components Scoping Resilience work

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis 

and development

Council SS - scoping session SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities
Scoping analysis and 

partner outreach
Issues identification

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis 

and development

Annexation Strategy - 

Direction (options and 

feedback)

Usable open space - Code 

Change 

Economic Sustainability 

Strategy implementation - 

Code Change 

Density/ROW Dedication 

Calculations - Code Change

Parking generation and 

reduction - Code Change

County Assessor valuations for 

landscape and lighting 

upgrades - Code Change

Renewable energy sources - 

Code Change

Annexation Strategy - analyze 

costs and options

Planning Board for above code 

changes

Planning Board for above 

code changes

Planning Board for above code 

changes

2014 2015

North Boulder

East Arapahoe/Sustainable 

Streets and Centers

Boulder Valley Comprehensive 

Plan

Other

Council

Staff Activities

H
O

U
SI

N
G

/L
A

N
D

 U
SE

/P
LA

N
N

IN
G

Resilience

Comprehensive Housing 

Strategy

Packet Page     230



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council IP (includes scope for AMPs) SS (includes AMPS)
Acceptance - establish work 

program and coordination

Continue 

implementing pilots

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Staff Activities
Scenario and sensitivity 

analysis
Joint board workshop, TAB

Develop final update for 

board recommendation and 

council acceptance

Implement and 

coordination with 

BVCP and Resilience

Council
Feasibility Study - joint release 

with County
Rolls into TMP update

Staff Activities

Council Briefing Briefing Briefing Briefing Briefing

Staff Activities

Council Council agenda SS IP IP IP IP

Staff Activities

Council Scope

SS - Guiding principles, work 

program and process (includes 

TMP update)

Round 1 Code Changes - Auto 

and parking planning, zoning 

regs, EV charging stations

Update - Work plan 

and policy issues

Long Term Round 2 - 

Parking code 

changes and other 

policy issues

Council endorsement 

of ongoing work plan

Finalize work program
Short term parking code 

regulation changes

Long term parking code 

changes

Long term parking 

code changes

Additional 

workplan items and 

public process tbd

Finalize document

TDM tool kit development for 

TMP integration

Long term parking code 

regulation changes
Additional workplan items tbd

Additional workplan 

items and public 

process tbd
Short term parking code 

ordinance changes

Public outreach and joint board 

meeting

Research/best practices Additional workplan items tbd

Develop communications 

strategy

Council Direction SS SS - finalize ballot? Ballot?

Staff

Cap. Bond 1 Implement. Staff Construction 85% complete 100% Complete

Flood Recovery Staff
Repairs and FEMA 

Reimbursement
FHWA/FEMA work FHWA/FEMA work

Building Better 

Boulder

Building Better 

Boulder

Boulder Junction Phase 1 

Implementation
Staff South side of Pearl opens

Ongoing 

redevelopment 

coordination

Goose Creek Bridge 

opens

Depot Square 

opens

Boulder Junction Phase 2 - City 

owned site
Staff Coordination Coordination Coordination

Yards mobilized to move for 

Pollard option
Staff Grading, prairie dogs, moving Final prep Yards moves continue

Safe Routes to School Staff
Public process to prioritize 

projects
Application

Implement Transpo.Tax Staff Expand maintenance, hire

Comp. Financial 

Strategy/Capital Bond

A
D

D
'L

 H
O

U
S/

P
LA

N
/T

R
A

N
SP

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

2014 2015

Transportation Master Plan

Access Management and 

Parking Strategies

Community EcoPass

Staff Activities

Regional Transportation

Electric Vehicle Parking 

Ordinance/Energy Services

Packet Page     231



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Shelter/ Funding: Update on  

position and relationship 

with Boulder Shelter; Shelter 

funding and issues update 

and other funders.

SS - Human Services Strategy 

Update and Homeless Action 

Plan (including funding 

priorities and partnerships )

IP - Homelessness Issues

SS - Human Services 

Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action 

Plan (including 

funding and service 

priorities )

Regional Planning 

update/services and housing

2014 Point in Time Report

SS - Services and Regional 

coordination update

IP - Services and 

Regional coordination 

update

IP - Services and 

Regional 

coordination 

SS - Services and 

Regional coordination 

update

SS - Services and 

Regional 

coordination update

IP - Services and 

Regional 

coordination Facilitate monthly Boulder 

Homeless Planning Group re: 

Service Coordination

HS Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action Plan Update

HS Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action Plan - 

research and analysis, key 
Convene regional meeting 

with Denver/Boulder/MDHI

County Ten Year Plan meeting 

with focus on meeting housing 

goals for homelessness

County Ten Year Plan meeting 

with focus on meeting housing 

goals for homelessness
GOCO grant application GOCO grant acceptance

SS - Special Events with 

Street Closures and 

Block Party Permitting

Review current PR permits and 

developm pilot program

Conduct pilot neighborhood 

event (link with Hill and GOCO 

school yard grant)

Conduct pilot neighborhood 

event

Review neighborhood 

park planning and 

event pilot success and 

plan schedule for 2015

Finalize 

njeighborhood 

event schedule for 

2015

Conduct neighborhood 

events

Conduct 

neighborhood 

events

Review pilot 

program and 

propose permit 

changes required to 

make 

improvements
Link with park planning 

outreach

Summer recreation programs - 

arts, music, health, wellness

Continue summer art series 

and volunteer events

GOCO school yard grant Submit GOCO grant
GOCO grant award - start civic 

area community park 

planning design and outreachReview and analysis of existing 

special event permitting
Develop recommendations

Council Items
SS - Library & Arts, including 

Community Cultural Plan

Adoption of 

Community Cultural 

Plan

Staff Activities Work with new director

Arts

LI
V
A
B
IL
IT
Y

Homelessness/Human Services

Council Items

Staff Activities

Council Items

Neighborhood/Park Events and 

Other Events

Staff Activities

2014 2015

Packet Page     232



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items SS 
SS  (includes Social Issues 

Strategy information)

Staff Activities

IP - 14th St Public/Private 

Partnership

Update - 14th St Public/Private 

Partnership

Update - 14th St 

Public/Private Partnership

Bears/Trash 

SS - Hill Reinvestment Strategy 
Update - Hill Reinvestment 

Strategy

14th St - Hill Alt. Mode survey

 14th St - Finalize analysis and 

develop recommendation to 

proceed with the Global 

Agreement
14th St - Finalize LOI

14th St - Financial Analysis

14th St - Additional access 

analysis
14th St - Board outreach

Pilot Parklet Competition Parklet Implementation

Outreach to CU and 

stakeholders for support of 

Reinvestment Strategy

Fox Theatre mural by CU 

students

start pilot RSD program (to 

run through 2016)

Recommendation for staffing 

Strategy implementation and 

prelim. analysis of future org 

structure options

Hire a fixed term Hill 

Coordinator

Council Items
SS - Park Program 

and Improvements

Civic Activity Team established Coordinate music in park series

Review summer series 

success and revise for 

2015

Prepare first phase 

of park 

improvements for 

2015

Conduct adult fitness 

and health classes

Conduct visitor 

event at civic area 

around art 

installations

Hire Civic Area staff for P&R

Add seasonal park staff for 

outdoor education and 

orientation

Expand Ready to Work 

crew

Revise summer 

programs and plan 

for 2015

Install temporary adult 

fitness playground

Coordinate 

horticulture gardens 

with Farmers' 

Market event

Prepare GOCO grant for nature 

play and park planning

Conduct volunteer event 

around upgrades to Peace 

Garden and edible plant exhibit

Complete park 

planning outreach

Conduct art 

competition for 

summer installation

Install south side 

nature play area

Work with Park Foundation to 

develop plan for art and 

entertainment

Coodinate with CU for 

partnership with GUB and Civic 

Area park plan

Develop 1% for Arts 

demonstration project 

in partnership with 

foundations and non-

profits

Expand seasonal 

staffing and 

horticulture/edible 

garden displays

Council Items

Staff Activities

Staff Activities

LI
V
A
B
IL
IT
Y

2014 2015

Code Enforcement

University Hill

Civic Area

Packet Page     233



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items
IP - update on 

implementation
SS - catalyst projects

Staff Activities

Council Items IP Acceptance

Staff Activities

Council Items

CU/BVSD partnerhip for 

neighborhood garden
Form cross-dept team 

Develop work plan to 

achieve council vision

Burk Park/Horizon School 

playground

Housing links with YSI programs 

and local gardening pilot

Design guidelines for edible 

landscape in local parks

Council Items IP SS - options and feedback
Acceptance and 

action plan

Implementation - 

commercial focus

Staff Activities

Stakeholder input on options 

and rulemaking on curbside 

compost

Public feedback on 

strategies

Draft plan and 

action plan for 

public review

Implementation - 

program 

enhancements and 

ordinance 

development

SS - workplan

SS - energy services

Staff Activities
Xcel/city task force; refine 

recommendations

Council Items

Briefing - framework, 

preliminary goals/targets, 

strategy development

SS - goals/targets, feedback 

on strategy scenarios, draft 

document

Approval

Staff Activities Working groups meet
Scenario development; GHG 

inventory complete

Strategy formulation; city 

organization initiative 

launched

Launch action plan

Council Items SS

Staff Activities

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Valmont Butte

C
LI

M
A

TE
 A

N
D

 E
N

ER
G

Y

Municipalization

Climate Commitment

Council Items

Zero Waste Master Plan

Briefing - energy services
Briefing - energy 

services

2014 2015
LO

C
A

L 
FO

O
D

Civic Area

Ag Plan

Other or not categorized
Staff Activities

Packet Page     234



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items

Address disposition process 

and use of Realization 

Point for pro bike race

Staff Activities

Council Items

Staff Activities In process

Council Items

Staff Activities

City/County review of 

contractor proposals for 

potential mountain bike 

connection

Routes - weather dependent

Council Items

Staff Activities

City/County requirement 

complete and await railroad to 

replace bridge

Council Items

Staff Activities status update

Council Items

Staff Activities additional signage

O
P

EN
 S

P
A

C
E

2014 2015

Charter Issues

Highway 93 Underpass

Eldo to Walker Ranch

IBM Connector

Trailhead as part of 

transportation system

Other or not categorized

Packet Page     235



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

IP

Develop preliminary 

management plan
Implement pilot plan Monitoring

Evaluate long term 

forest management 

plan and EAB strategy

Management plan 

and response
Response EAB EAB

Civic Use Pad Council SS - Public/private partnership
Approval of MOU with St. Julien 

Partners

Update on negotiations with 

St. Julien Partners

Human Services Strategy Council SS SS Public hearing

IGA with CDOT/County for US 

36 bikeway maintenance

Pilot dog waste composting 

project - Valmont and OSMP 

possible site

Transportation code changes 

for AMPS

Smoking ban - public 

hearing

IGA for bikeway maintenance/ 

US 36 enhancements

CEAP call up for Baseline 

Underpass east of Broadway

Comprehensive Annual 

Finanical Report 

Old Pearl Street ROW vacation
DRCOG TIP Priorities for city 

applications

Appointment of independent 

auditor

Transportation code changes - 

bike parking, TDM, etc.

Mobile food vehicles - 

ordinance change to expand 

podding in downtown

Update on investment 

policies - action

NPP - zone expansions and 

removal

Modification of construction 

use tax filing - IP then action

Pearl Street Mall regulations - 

code changes

Emerald Ash Borer (EAB) Council

Council

O
TH

ER
2014 2015

Various

Packet Page     236



                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew 
Appelbaum 

 Mayor 

George Karakehian  Mayor Pro Tem 
Macon Cowles  Council Member 
Suzanne Jones  Council Member 

Lisa Morzel  Council Member 
Tim Plass  Council Member 

Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 
Sam Weaver  Council Member 
Mary Young  Council Member 

                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Bob Eichem  Chief Financial Officer 
Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 

Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 
David Driskell  Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability and 

Acting Director of Housing 
Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 

Director 
Heather Bailey  Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Executive Director 

Larry Donner  Fire Chief 
Joyce Lira  Human Resources Director 

Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 
Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 

Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 
David Farnan  Library and Arts Director 

Lynne C. Reynolds  Municipal Court Administrator 
Michael Patton  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Jeff Dillon  Acting Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa  Acting Police Chief 

Maureen Rait  Public Works - Executive Director  
Tracy Winfree  Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 
   

 

Packet Page     237



1/30/13     Approved   01-22-2013 

2013 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Morzel, Young 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Jones, Plass 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum, Cowles 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Morzel (at large seat), Plass 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU) / City Oversight Cowles, Shoemaker, Weaver 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum 
US36 Commuting Solutions Karakehian, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Karakehian 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Young 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Plass, Cowles (alternate) 
Dairy Center for the Arts Jones 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board Shoemaker, Weaver, Young 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Cowles, Morzel, Shoemaker 
Boards and Commissions Committee Plass, Shoemaker 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Karakehian 

Charter Committee Karakehian, Morzel, Weaver 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Karakehian, Morzel, Young 
Council Retreat Committee Jones, Morzel 
Evaluation Committee Morzel, Plass 
Legislative Committee Jones, Karakehian, Weaver, Young 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Weaver 
Yamagata, Japan Plass 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba Karakehian 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Cowles, Karakehian 
 

Packet Page     238


	00_Agenda
	3A_Minutes 05.06.14
	3B_SS Summary 04.22.14 Ballot and Financial Update
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Next Steps
	ATTACHMENT A - April 22, 2014 Study Session Summary
	Attachment B - Construction Use Tax

	3C_SS Summary 04.22.14 Hill Reinvestment Strategy
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Next Steps
	Attachment A - April 22, 2014 Study Session Summaryon a University Hill Reinvestment Strategy

	3D_SS Summary 04.29.14 Boulders Energy Future
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Next Steps
	Attachment A - Study Session Summary

	3E_Ord. No. 7968 (Campaign Financing Disclosure)
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation, Background and Impacts
	Attachment A- Campaign Financing Disclosure

	3F_Ord. No. 7970 (Marijuana)
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation
	Attachment A- Marijuana

	3G_Ord. 7977 (Landmark Lofts)
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback and Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Vicinity Map with Zoning
	Attachment B - Ordinance No. 7977
	Attachment C - Deed of Vacation: Emergency Access Easement
	Attachment D - Deed of Vacation: Sidewalk Easement

	3H_Ordinance Landmark Designation (2104 Bluff Street)
	Executive Summary
	Background and Property Description
	Recommendation, Impacts and Board Action
	Analysis, Historical Significance and Architectural Significance 
	Environmental Significance and Options
	Attachment A - Ordinance No. ____
	Attachment B - Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, "Purposes and Intent," B.R.C., 1981
	Attachment C - Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

	3I_Ord. 7972 (Supplemental Appropriation)
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation, Impacts and Analysis
	Flood Related Requests and Parks and Rec Requests
	Parking Land Code Update
	Feedback
	Attachment A - Ordinance

	3J_Res. 266 (CAGID Supplemental Appropriation)
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation, Impacts and Analysis
	Attachment A - Resolution
	Attachment B - Fund Activity Summary

	3K_Res. 191 (UHGID Supplemental Appropriation)
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Impacts and Analysis
	Attachment A - Resolution
	Attachment B - Fund Balance Summary

	3L_Res. 137 (BMPA Supplemental Appropriation)
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Attachment A - Resolution
	Attachment B - Fund Activity Summary

	3M_RFP for EET Funding
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Impacts and Feedback
	Background
	Next Steps
	ATTACHMENT A - EET RFP

	5A_Ord. No. 7973 (Solicitation Restricted)
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Background
	Impacts
	Attachment A - Solicitation Restricted

	5B_Ord. 7978 (Trinity Commons)
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation
	Impacts
	Feedback and Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinance No. 7978

	6A_Downtown Office Space
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Impacts and Background
	Analysis
	Matrix of Options and Staff Recommendation
	Attachment A - 2014 Downtown Office Space Additions
	Attachment B - Rendering of New Central Counter in Municipal Building Lobby
	Attachment C - Matrix of Options

	88_Information Packet
	00  Cover Sheet
	2A  NPP Annual Update
	In the ten NPP zones operated in 2013, there were approximately 775 commuter spaces available, of which 276 annual (1,104 quarterly) commuter permits were sold.

	3A  HRC  05192014
	3B  OSBT  05142014
	3C  TAB  04142014
	3D  WRAB  02242014
	3E  WRAB  03172014
	3F  WRAB  04212014
	4A  Alice Healy Day
	4B  Peter Molnar Day

	99_Reference Materials
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. 2014-2015 Work Plan
	3. Council and Key Staff
	4. Council Committee Assignments




